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COUNTRIES OF PRESENCECONTINENTS

  1 United States
  2 Peru
  3 France
  4 Algeria
  5 Principality of Monaco
  6 Switzerland
  7 Italy
  8 Poland
  9 Montenegro

10 Romania
11 Moldova
12 Middle East 
13 Russia
14 Saudi Arabia
15 Kuwait
16 Cameroun
17 Australia

1

2

Europe Asia

Africa

United States

Australia

4

Summary data 



4

8

9
10

3 6

12

16

17

5
7

15

13

11

5

14

Summary data 



PRODUCTION DIVEDED BY ITALY AND 
FOREIGN COUNTRIES

Italy

Foreign Countries

64,2%

35,8%

279.7Mln€ 

500.7Mln€ 

SECTORS

Summary data 

(Millions of euro)

Italy

Infrastructures 

Construction 

Real estate 

Operations

Prefabricated 
structures 

Other € 7.80

€ 45.00

€ 46.30 € 47.20

Foreign Countries

€ 127.10€ 194.00 € 321.10

€ 34.10€ 168.70 € 202.80

€ 19.50€ 137.20 € 156.70
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12.2%

ORDER BOOK TOTALLED 
AT DECEMBER 31

12,613 Mln€

ebitda %

Italy

Foreign Countries
56.3%

43.7%

2,537.9 Mln€ 

3,270.0 Mln€ 

BUILDING ACTIVITIES 
ORDER BOOK

5,808 Mln€

Summary data 
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Letter of the Chairman and 
the Deputy Chairman 
The year 2016, for Impresa Pizzarotti & C spa, has been an 

important year in terms of strategic positioning.

The presence of the company abroad has grown sensibly, thus 

compensating for the stagnation of the domestic market.

In parallel, in particular on the domestic market, work has been 

done to launch orders already in the portfolio, which, due to 

slips and bureaucratic-administrative impediments, delay the 

contribution to the Company’s income statement.

Everyone’s commitment, therefore, allowed the levels of 

production and marginality to remain substantially in line with 

last year but at the same time to achieve significant expansion 

in the foreign market.

To date, Pizzarotti operates in 17 countries around the world 

and, with the recent creation of a joint venture in Australia, we 

can proudly say that we are present on five continents.

To note, just to name a few examples of the results achieved 

abroad in 2016,

• the rapid development achieved in Peru;

• the acquisitions under the Grand Paris project in 

France;

• the acquisition of the New Maternity Hospital in 

Kuwait;

• the excellent results achieved in the Principality of 

Monaco in real estate.

Nevertheless, we would also like to highlight the engagement 

in the domestic market to allow the launch of Tirreno-Brenner, 

A4 Tagliamento Gonars works and the creation of the company 

Buildit which has already started the first project. (ENI buildings 

in Rome).

Our most grateful thanks go to all the people who have 

contributed in terms of commitment, involvement and 

identification in the values and history of our Company.

We are confident that the future will bring us many more 

satisfactions, and we will work all together to focus increasingly 

challenging goals to continue our tradition of Italian expertise 

in the world.
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A story 
begun in 191003





Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A., founded in 1910 as a sole proprietorship 

by Gino Pizzarotti, has always grown thanks to the 

entrepreneurial spirit that characterizes the Pizzarotti family 

for four generations. 

Ceaseless innovation and technological excellence are the 

key principles around which the family has set and continues 

to build the group’s success. Since the late ‘50s, the company 

has consolidated its presence in the construction industry 

and ranks among the most important and qualified domestic 

enterprises through the creation of large public works on 

behalf of both government and the most important private 

Italian companies. 

The commitment and capacity to implement different 

projects led the company to establish themselves in foreign 

markets as well, where it operates since the seventies, being 

a landmark for its know-how, design and build ability.

FROM DAY 1910 
TO PRESENT DAY
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LATTER AND 
ONGOING WORKS05





petite afrique

The project is a result of an international 

competition of ideas, and involves the 

construction of a luxury housing complex, 

designed by the Brazilian architect Isay Weinfeld 

and located in the prestigious “Golden Square” 

in Monte Carlo. Elegant interiors and fine details 

materials for facades, large planters on each floor 

and large sliding windows overlooking the sea 

and the Casino gardens.

20

Principality of Monaco



Portonovi Resort 
Montenegro

Overlooking the natural bay of Kotor, the project 

involves the construction of the first “One & Only” 

luxury resort in the Mediterranean Sea. The tourist 

complex accomodates a 121 Rooms hotel, 10 

villas, a conference center, SPA, restaurants and 

beach club. The work also includes residential 

buildings for a total of 239 apartments, a marina 

with its yacht club and retail spaces.

Montenegro: Kumbor

Latter and ongoing works
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Road 6 Cross 
Middle East Highway

Middle East

Design, Build and Management for 30 years, of 

two highway lots. 20 km long, including 3 tunnels 

with double carriageway and three tracks for 

each direction. The project includes even the 

rehabilitation of the existing interferences.
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Al Amiri hospital

Kuwait: Kuwait City

Design and construction of the Al Amiri hospital 

expansion project in Kuwait City for the Ministry 

of Health. 

The surface area, with a total capacity of 416 

bed accomodation, 10 operating rooms and 640 

parking spaces will be approximately 4.000mq. 

The project will include the supply of all medical 

equipment and interior furnishings

23

Latter and ongoing works



The underground 300x20 meters Garibaldi 

Station is covered by a light steel and glass 

roof, representing an ideal forest of metal trees, 

designed by the architect Dominique Perrault. 

Arco Mirelli station was approached in a “Top 

Down” system, including an underground plaza. 

The station’s well is 45 meters deep.
Naples

24

Naples Metro Stations



4 Tuscany Hospitals

Project Financing for the Design, Build and 

Operation of all non-medical and commercial 

activities for 4 hospitals in Tuscany. The full project 

accommodates 1,710 beds, 52 operating rooms, 

21 labour rooms and 14 delivery rooms. The 19 

Year Operating Agreement consists of taking 

care of all the laundry activities, providing all the 

catering for patients and employees, managing all 

special waste material from medical activities.

Massa - Lucca
Pistoia - Prato
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Latter and ongoing works



Concession for Design, Build and Management 

of the new Highway, which connects the cities 

of Brescia, Bergamo and Milan. It represents 

the first project in Italy completely financed by 

private companies. The main works consists in 

the realization of 48 km of embankment, 3 km 

of viaducts, 11 km of trenches and 50 km of 

rehabilitation of existing roads. The concession 

period is for 20 years.

Bre.Be.Mi. Highway

Milan/Brescia
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Gotthard and Ceneri 
Base Tunnels

In the wider Alp Transit railway project, which 

includes the realization of the Gotthard and 

Ceneri base tunnel for a total 73.4 km length, 

Pizzarotti was involved in the construction of 

several lots for about 20 km of tunnel, 2 km of 

viaducts and related works.
Switzerland: Sedrun/

Camorino/Vezia
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Latter and ongoing works



JARDIn exotique

The project, entrusted to the architect Rudy 

Ricciotti, involves the construction of a luxury 

residential complex including 50 apartments, 

15 floors of underground parking for 1,850 cars 

and the construction of offices and new areas of 

the Jardin Exotique. The project also includes the 

relocation of the public garden greenhouses of 

Jardin Exotique.
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Principality of Monaco



Bucharest - Brasov 
Highway

The link between Bucharest, the north area and 

the city of Brasov is part of a Main Program of 

rehabilitation of the road network of the whole 

country. It includes 7 viaducts and 5 flyovers 

realized with on situ built pre-stressed beams 

structure.
Romania: Bucarest
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Latter and ongoing works



Tramway of Constantine

Design and Build of the new Tramway system of 

Constantine, which connects the historical city 

center with a new modern area. The works also 

consist in the rehabilitation and expansion of 

the existing stadium for a total capacity of 8,000 

people. Algeria: Constantine
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Vintu de Jos Railway

Rehabilitation and modernization of the 

railway Vintu de Jos – Coslariu which has been 

funded by the European Community Union. 

The project consist in the upgrade of the 

platform and installation of electrical system and 

telecommunication line. The works were realized 

in conjunction with the existing operating railway. 

The project cover 34 km of line, with construction 

of 1km of viaduct, 14 underpasses and installation 

of 5.000 sqm of acoustic barriers.

Romania: Vintu de Jos
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Latter and ongoing works



Interspar 
Supermarket Parma

Realization of Interspar supermarket in Parma in 

the area of former Bormioli Rocco & Figli glassware.

The building develops on a covered area of 

approximately 4,690 square meters in a single-

story building.

Parma
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Constructions of a new factory building at Casette 

D’Ete, in the Province of Fermo.

Fermo

tod’s
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Latter and ongoing works



Cavagnari 
Executive Centre 

Enlargement of the Cavagnari Executive Centre in 

Parma, which is the property of Cassa di Risparmio 

di Parma e Piacenza.

34

Parma



This is an integrated contract for the preparation 

of the working drawings and specifications and 

the construction of the first lot of the Tyrrhenian-

Brenner multimodal corridor – a link connecting 

the Cisa Motorway at Fontevivo (Province of 

Parma) and the Brenner Motorway at Nogarole 

Rocca (Province of Verona). The motorway section 

develops for about 9.5 kilometres, 2.5 kilometres 

of which consisting of a new road section layout 

of the present A15 motorway. It is also expected 

to carry out all the related works: resolving 

interferences, connections to public services, 

environmental monitoring and expert assistance 

in expropriation.

Parma

Tyrrhenian-Brenner 
Motorway – 1° LOT
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Latter and ongoing works
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High Speed Railway 
Milan - Bologna

Design and Build of a High Speed Railway 

between Milan and Bologna. Pizzarotti was part of 

the Consortium Cepav 1. The main infrastructure 

directly executed on the line is represented by 

a 1,63 km Fontanellato Artificial Tunnel and 24 

km of precast in situ. The project includes the 

construction of 90 km of new roads, as well as the 

rehabilitation of 200 km of existing roads.

Milan/Bologna
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Milan New trade fair

The construction of the New Fair Complex is the 

first step towards the renovation of the Milan fair. 

The project, of the architect Massimiliano Fuksas, 

includes 80 conference rooms, 20 restaurants 

and 25 bars. The symbol of the project is the big 

canopy, made of glass and mirror stainless steel, 

named “Veil”. The flow of this veil refers to natural 

landscape such as “craters”, “waves”, “dunes” and 

“hills”.  The project won the “Uni Global Award” and 

the “International Architecture Award”.

Milan

Main projects realized
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Charles De Gaulle
airport

France: Paris

Construction of the station interconnection 

between networks of intercity TGV - RER Roissy 

airport.
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eurodisney

France: Paris

Part construction of new Eurodisney game-park.

41

Main projects realized



New Children’s
Hospital

Parma

42

The Children’s Hospital of Parma is the result of 

a unique agreement between private and public 

institutions. 

The architecture is characterized by modernity 

and brightness, with equipment and furniture 

designed not only to provide professionals 

with the best possible working spaces and 

technologies, but also to satisfy the needs of the 

children and their families, creating a welcoming 

environment, aiming to minimize the discomfort 

of hospitalization.



Catania Syracuse 
Highway

Catania/Syracuse

43

The 25 km Highway between Catania and 

Syracuse is one of the most important roads in 

Sicily. The complexity of the morphology required 

the construction of 6 km inside a natural tunnel, 

4 km of viaducts and 2.8 km of an artificial tunnel. 

A 13.2 Mw photovoltaic park was also realized on 

the path.

Main projects realized



FUTURE 
PROJECTS07





JARDIM

This second collaboration between Pizzarotti 

Group and the Brazilian Architect Isay Weinfeld, 

the first was “La Petite Afrique” in the Principality 

of Monaco, will take place near the High Line 

of New York, the former elevated freight rail line 

transformed into a public park on Manhattan’s 

West Side. The “JARDIM” will interpret the NYC 

concrete jungle inside two different buildings 

accommodating 36 high luxury apartments.

USA: New york
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1 seaport

The First All Glass Residential Tower on the 

Waterfront in the Historic Seaport District. Rising 

200 mt, the building will offer a spectacular 

360-degree view of the harbor, bridges and 

landmarks that define Manhattan. The helix-

shaped glass tower will accommodate 80 luxury 

apartments and amenities.

USA: New york

Future projects
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45 BROAD STREET

A Real Estate development of Pizzarotti Group in 

partnership with Madison Equities, 45 Broad is a 

premier site Manhattan’s Financial District, two 

steps away from the New York Stock Exchange 

NYSE. The 65 story residential tower, it will be the 

highest condo in Downtown rising over 300 mt.

48

USA: New york



metro paris
Line 11 - Lot GC01 / Line 15 - Lot T2C

Within the Grand Paris project, extension of Line 

11 of the Metro Paris station from Mairie des Lilas 

to Rosny Bois Perrier and construction of the lot 

of the new Line 15 South Paris metro stations 

within Noisy Champ (not included) and Bry Villiers 

Champigny (not included).France: Paris
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Highway S5 Poland

In the wider redevelopment of the Polish road 

network, funded by European Community 

Union, the works include the Design & Build 

of three road sections of the Expressway S5, 

which will link the cities of Western and Central 

Poland. The whole project will cover 130 km. 

The three lots, include the construction of dual 

carriageway road with three track each one, 48 

bridges and underpasses, and 5 interconnecting 

road.

Poland 

50



Hospital of Pucallpa 

Perù: Pucallpa

The project involves the construction, including 

all the medical equipment, of the new hospital 

in Pucallpa, in Calleria District, Region of Ucayali, 

in the Peruvian Amazon. The building, replacing 

the existent structure, developes for 43.000 sqm 

on 6 block with a variable height from 1 to 4 

levels, with a total of 178 beds and fitted with 4 

operating theatre. To complete also commercial 

activities and parking.
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Future projects



new maternity
hospital

Design and build of the New Maternity Hospital 

in Kuwait City.

The project includes the supply of all medical 

equipment and interior furnishing, as well as 

providing Operational Maintenance. The facilities 

will accommodate 780 beds, 27 operating rooms 

and 1300 car parks.

Kuwait: Kuwait City
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Iquitos Hospital

Design, build and installation of medical 

equipment to improve the health service Hospital 

II César Garayar García.

Perù: Iquitos
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Future projects



A4 Tagliamento-Gonars 
Highway 

Design and build of third lane freeway A4 

Venice/Trieste. Stretch new bridge over the river 

Tagliamento – Gonars.

Venice/Trieste
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ENI Buildings

Construction of two buildings (n°2 and n°4) 

intended for offices. The gross floor area of 

occupancy is 35.430mq.

Rome
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Future projects



parma santa teresa

A real estate investment of the Pizzarotti Group 

in his own City, in one of the historical areas of 

Parma, close to the river and the main park, will 

see 50-luxury apartments developed on 4 levels 

with a spectacular view, open air spaces and 

private parking.

56

Parma
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ENVIRONMENT, SAFETY 
AND QUALITY  

safety
Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A., according to the general measure 

of health and safety at work which considers the planning of 

prevention as the complex of activities that integrates in a 

consistent manner in prevention the technical productive 

conditions of the company, since 2003, anticipating social 

and regulatory addresses developed in later years particularly 

with the introduction of Decree. 81/2008, has set the above 

activities with a “systemic” approach by integrating the Quality 

Management System, with the requirements set by the 

guideline, rule BS OHSAS 18001:2007, and extending, at the 

same time, this approach also to environmental protection by 

applying the requirements of ISO 14001:2004. The accredited 

organization ICIC has subsequently given to this formulation 

the relevant certification system for activities that Impresa 

Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A. performs as contractor in the following 

areas: Foreign Operations, Italy and Corporate Services. In 2015, 

ICIC has renewed, for the 3rd consecutive three-year period, the 

aforementioned certification system. 

The next renewal certification foreseen in 2018, which provides 

the application of the new standard ISO 9001: 2015 and ISO 

14001: 2015  in relation to the Quality Management Systems and 

environmental sustainability, engages the Company, consistent 

with its approval by the international organization expected for 

the first quarter of 2018, also in the implementation of security 

standards provided for in the new standard ISO 45000. 

Furthermore, the certification given in November 2010 by the 

accredited organization ICMQ also to Precast Department, to 

recognize the Management System adopted in compliance with 

international standards and it has been renewed for the second 

three years period in 2013. In 2011, according with business 

goals, the certification given by ICIC for Foreign Operations, Italy 

and Corporate Services for activities performed as contractor, 

has been extended to activities Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A. performs as 
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General Contractor. 

Impresa Pizzarotti & C. considering that the evolution of a new 

approach to the “culture of safety on work” cannot be separated 

by an adequate training of its employees, carries on the necessary 

training to develop in the Company’s Management, Supervisors 

and all Employers, the awareness of the new perspective of 

the approach to safety arising from the role of Contractor, 

begun in 2010 in collaboration with the training organization 

CISITA of Industrial Union of Parma a necessary training 

schedule. Precisely for this purpose the training program was 

implemented with further professional academies on topic. In 

addition, the approval in the month of December 2011, during 

the Standing Conference between the State, Regions and self-

governing provinces of Trento and Bolzano, of the agreement 

on the adaptation and application guidelines on the minimum 

contents of basic training pursuant to art. 37 of Legislative 

Decree no.81/2008, has enabled the company, to extend to 

all business roles training activities, without considering the 

previous training. The activity managed by HR department of 

the parent company Mipien S.p.A. and endorsed by local joint 

committees interested in the country area, involved all the 

various corporate production units in Italy and abroad (shipyards 

and factories), began in late 2012 and continued in 2013, led 

to the performance by qualified internal staff of more than 800 

hours of classroom training, for different business functions: 

work at high and low risk, supervisors and managers. For the 

year 2014 has been scheduled and carried out a similar training 

activity for workers with the title of “operator mechanical means” 

in order to obtain specific authorization in conformity with the 

agreement reached during the Standing Conference between 

the State, Regions and self governing provinces of Trento and 

Bolzano on February 22, 2012. In the year 2017 it will continue 

the schedule and carrying out of training in accordance with the 

formalities required by the law on safety of workplace.

Environment, safety and quality 
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SECURITY

In the year 2016, a total of 148 NCS have been registered for 

the contracts subject to a review (27 for product and 121 for 

process).

Below the indices derived from the analysis of the accidents 

occurred in 2016 on Italian and foreign projects on site acquired 

directly as Impresa Pizzarotti (including joint ventures) including 

office services (excluding precast division)

Seriousness index SA’

The figure below shows the variation of injury indicators (FA’ and SA’) in the period 2001 - 2016; the trend, even with an 

increase in the last year, is that of a constant decrease of indices, which confirms a continuous improvement in performance.
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ENVIRONMENT

84%

12%

In the year 2016, a total of 83 environmental NC have been 

registered, instead of the 38 registered last year.

Among the 24 NC of product, 13 caused impacts (not crucial) 

essentially due to small concrete or gas spills and to Combination 

of earth and excavation rock with natural earth. 

4%

STATE OF ALL THE NCA  83  

NCA ONLY DETECTED  10 12%

NCA WITH PROPOSAL  3 4%

NCA DL APPROVED 0 0%

NCA AS APPROVED  0  0%

NCA CLOSED  70  84%
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QUALITY

51%

15%

The chart below shows the overall trend of non-compliance 

of quality for projects from 2010 to 2016. There is a downward 

trend in the trend line.
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STATE OF ALL THE NCA  114  

NCQ ONLY DETECTED  10 9%

NCQ  WITH PROPOSAL  29 25%

NCQ DL APPROVED 17 15%

NCQ AS APPROVED  0  0%

NCQ CLOSED  58  51%

25%

In the year 2016 a total of 114 NCQ have been registered for 

the contracts subject to a review (63% for product and 3% 

for process), confirming the trend of 2015, in which the NC of 

product registered are higher than the process ones. Please note 

that, compared to last year, NC decreased from 118 to 114.

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
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Development and improvement of the internal management and control system 

ISO9001 
Certification 

Updating the business 
management system 
according to ISO9001:2015 
and ISO14001:2015

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 20151996 1997 1998 1999 2000

Ministerial qualification  
as General Contractor

ISO14001 
OHSAS18001
Certification

Adoption of the 
Organizational Model 
for Crime Prevention 
(ex D.lgs 231/2001)

ISO9001 EA34 Certification  
as Design Company

Introduction on the Internal 
Control System of Risk 
Management Principles

Extension of ISO14001 
OHSAS18001 Certifications 
to the sectors of accreditation 
EA34 and EA35

65
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ORGANIZATION AND HUMAN 
RESOURCES
Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A. has always dedicated a great commitment 

to the development program of its employees, who have, over a 

hundred years of history, always represented a strategic asset for 

the realization of both civil and infrastructure engineering works.

The year 2016 has been characterized by major changes which 

resulted in organization, management and development of 

human resources, with a review of processes and procedures 

and tools for staff recruitment&selection, training, managerial 

and technical skills development.

The purpose of these interventions is to ensure the effective 

employment of about 3000 people working for Pizzarotti, active 

on about 60 sites around the world, of which 20 in Italy and 3 

precast plants.

Particular attention has been given to foreign market, promoting 

the internationalization of people, organizational development 

and change management.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
Particular attention has been always dedicated to the training 

process, with regard to technical skills and behavior and 

managerial competencies.

The training for the year 2016 focused on specific skills corporate 

requirements and cross-sectoral needs, with particular emphasis 

on specific highly specialized knowledge and innovation.

The company has always dedicated significant resources for staff 

training.

During 2016, 55 training courses that involved 250 employees 

were provided. Specifically, 40 technical courses involving 200 

employees. Moreover, 68 courses on mandatory topics were 

provided involving 165 employees with the support of internal 

tutors and lecturers and accredited training providers.

Special attention has been devoted to language training, 

through both individual and group courses, for the development 

of english, french and spanish languages, in order to support 

people to tackling change. 

Particular emphasis has been given to the theme of BIM involving 

employees in 176 training hours, divided into 4 modules.

Moreover, as part of the Group’s HR development policy, the 

Company annually propose internal academies about specific 

technical topics to promote and share Company know-how 

and managerial approach. “Mechanized excavation with TBM 

technology” and “Project Finance” are the academies which 

aroused more interest among employees during 2016. 

Finally, in the perspective of individual development, training 

programs dedicated to the Team Working have been introduced. 

In this regard, volunteering program has been experienced in 

collaboration with local associations operating in the no profit 

sector to involve staff in sharing and inclusion projects.

TALENT PROGRAM
The talent program started in 2015 continued in 2016 investing 

in young people and high potential people.

The first edition recruitment phase of the project about high 

potential young people project ended in 2015 with excellent 

results. The selected candidates followed a development 

program including job training and individual and group 

tutoring, before working on site abroad with the awareness that 

this training experience can strength the personal know-how 

and technical skills for the future career.

They have been moved to Peru, the United States, Poland, 

Kuwait, France, Saudi Arabia, Romania, Moldavia, Russia and 

Montecarlo.

Given the positive response, new business opportunities and 

the need to continue to invest in young talented people, is in 

the process of recruitment and selection of candidates for the 

second edition of the project, in the same way added the year 

before.

Performance management 
For a structured competencies development process, we carry 

out regular performance evaluation during the calendar year.

The process, involving all the company’s managers and clerical 

staff with evaluation processes involving about 150 evaluators, 

(both apical and intermediate) is managed through the HR 

performance management information system in order to give 

more structure and traceability to the processes of Talent and 

Development Management.

Through the performance management process, it is possible to 

proceed with the development of a merit-based approach with 

the aim of boosting both short-term results, with performance 

bonuses linked to performance evaluation that involves 

all employees, and medium term results, introducing MBO 

incentive for management.
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Organization and human resources
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EMPLOYEE WELLNESS PROJECT 

Consapevoli Aware of the advantages resulting from a healthy 

and balanced organizational environment, the Company has 

always paid great attention to the internal organizational climate 

and the theme of wellness topic.

The “Employee Wellness Project” -created to promote and 

support a policy of balanced work and family life for the issues 

that concern flexibility, the individual, couple, family and children 

care - has continued to evolve to introduce new projects that 

support the purpose.

The company supports the following dedicated projects:  the 

counseling desk, scholarships for deserving employees’ children, 

scholarships to promote study abroad, internships, stage 

program and medisal prevention.

The company’s effort is to spread this intervention to all staff, 

everysite and country to deal with the current geographical 

expansion.

For the future, the aim will be introducing a week dedicated to 

corporate volunteering for all employees enabling with targeted 

interventions, the possibility to donate some of your time, 

dedication and competence, to support social initiatives.
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RATING OF LEGALITY  
On 6/9/2016, the Competition and Market Authority (AGCM) has 

granted the Legality rating with the maximum expected score, 

three stars, to Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A.

Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A is the first major construction company to 

achieve this qualification.

The Rating of Legality was introduced by D.L. n. 1/2012 to promote 

the introduction of ethical principles in company behavior and is 

issued by the Competition and Market Authority after evaluating 

the necessary requirements, including suitability of the holders of 

corporate positions, the presence of internal control systems and 

adherence to collective ethical codes.

The rating attributed is taken into account in the granting of loans 

by public administrations, as well as access to bank credit and 

may be used by the Public Administrations to award additional 

marks in tenders.

Legality Rating will also compete, according to the new Public 

Contracts Code, to determine the rating of a company of the 

national anti-corruption authority undertaking.  

Legality rating lasts two years from its release and is renewable 

upon request.

Organization and human resources
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Report on operations

The financial statements at 31 December 2016 are accompanied 
by this report on operations prepared by the Board of Directors, 
which is composed of the following members:

Chairman

Paolo Pizzarotti 

Vice-Chairman

Michele Pizzarotti

Managing Director

Corrado Bianchi

Aldo Buttini 

Giorgio Cassina

Director 

Luca Sassi 

Maurizio Fratoni

Tarantino

Lidio Giordani

Bruno Melardi 

Mauro Pirondi

The Board of Directors will hold office until the date of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve these financial 
statements. The main events that involved your company in the 
past financial year are summarised below.
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EBITDA = is the acronym of Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, 
Depreciation, Amortisation and Write-downs, or Gross Operating 
Margin. Since EBITDA is not a measure of performance calculated 
in accordance with Italian GAAPs, nor with the international 
accounting standards (IASs/IFRSs), the calculation of this margin 
may not be unambiguous.

Consolidated income statement data at 31 December 2016  

EBIT = is the acronym of Earnings Before Interest and Taxes and 
corresponds to the Operating Result reported in the income 
statement.

Description 2016 2015

Revenues  780.4  821.6 

Gross operating profit - Ebitda  95.2  111.4 

Ebitda % 12.2% 13.6%

Operating profit - Ebit  64.3  75.7 

Ebit % 8.2% 9.2%

Profit before tax - continued operations  33.7  55.7

Net profit for the year  1.2 13.2

Millions of Euros
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Millions of Euros

Final production volumes reported by the Pizzarotti Group 

at 31 December 2016, equal to Euro 780 million, were not 

satisfactory and lower than expected, although in line with 

those recorded in the same period of the previous year.

The reason is that at present some major infrastructural works 

are still being completed, in particular in the domestic market, 

while at the same time many portfolio projects have not yet 

been started. The significant delays with respect to the expected 

date of start of works were essentially due to some bureaucratic 

issues that were beyond the control of the Company. Among the 

recently completed works are the BREBEMI (Brescia-Bergamo-

Milan) motorway, the TEEM (Tangenziale Est esterna di Milano, 

Milan Eastern Outer Bypass), the Pedemontana Lombarda State 

Road and the first functional lot “Milan-Brescia” of the railway line 

“Milan-Verona”. 

On the other hand, the projects whose volumes will impact 

profit or loss in future financial years are the following ones:

• TIBRE (Tirreno-Brennero Corridor) – this contract, which 

relates to the first lot of the Tyrrhenian-Brennero multimodal 

corridor, was signed with the customer in 2013. The Ministry gave 

its final authorisation in September 2016 only, thus enabling to 

set up the building site and to start works;

• A4 Tagliamento Gonars motorway – the tender concerning 

the design and construction of the third lot for the enlargement 

of the third lane of the A4 motorway was awarded in 2010; 

however, due to numerous bureaucratic issues, the relevant 

contract was signed at the end of July 2016 only, thus enabling 

to start the final design and to set up the site in 2017;

• Cepav2 project – Brescia-Verona high speed rail section 

– the start of works is being affected by negotiations with the 

customer RFI concerning the fairness of prices, which started in 

early 2015: only today it can be reasonably expected that they 

will be concluded by the end of 2017 – this is an unreasonable 

timescale, only considering, among other things, that the 

financial coverage of over Euro 2 billion existed as early as in 2015. 

Such project has not yet been included in the order backlog and 

has a value that can be estimated at Euro 700 million for the 

share pertaining to the Pizzarotti Group;

Considerable delays were also finally experienced for the two 

contracts being performed in Romania, Vinţu de Jos and Sebeş-

Turda, which were awarded in 2011 and 2014, respectively. In 

both cases issues raised with customers both as regards the 

availability of working areas and as regards the approval of 

major changes proposed by the Company in order to improve 

the building project.

The international market continued to grow, both in absolute 

terms and as a percentage of total production and it achieved a 

weight of 64% for the first time in 2016.

Below is the breakdown of revenues by sector and market

31/12/2016  31/12/2015

Description Italy          Foreign 
countries Total Italy          Foreign 

countries Total

Infrastructures  127.1  194.0 321.0  390.6 106.6 497.2

Construction  34.1 168.7 202.8 35.0 81.1 116.1

Real estate 19.5 137.2 156.7 5.7 99.3 104.9

Operations 46.3 0.9 47.1 44.5 0.9 45.4

Prefabricated structures 45.0 - 45.0 51.0 - 51.0

Other 7.8 - 7.8 7.0 - 7.0

Total  279.7  500.7  780.4  533.7  287.9  821.6 

percentage 35.8%  64.2% 100.0% 65.0%  35.0%  100.0%
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This trend was emphasised by the negative performance of the 

domestic market, as indicated above and was confirmed by the 

analysis of the order backlog composition, whose international 

component benefited from the major acquisitions carried out 

during the last two years.

Profit margins were substantially in line with the previous 

financial year and with forecasts, despite the inefficiencies 

concerning the BREBEMI contract and the substantial 

investments made in relation to the start of operations for 

international contracts, namely in the USA, Peru and Russia. 

Profits margins were also supported, compared to the previous 

financial year, by a substantially regular performance of the 

projects being implemented and by a positive contribution of 

the Petite Afrique contract in Monte Carlo.

The key factor that significantly affected the net result was the 

write-down that was required to be applied to listed securities 

held in its portfolio, due to a negative trend in financial markets, 

which was only partially offset by the capital gain derived from 

the sale of the interest held in Pizzarotti Energia.  

Description 2016 2015

Fixed assets 361.5 387.6

Net working capital 352.8 397.6

Provisions for risks, severance pay and net long-term liabilities  (125.8)  (148.8)

Net invested capital 588.5 636.4

Equity 489.5 458.3

Net financial position 99.0 178.1

Debt/Equity 0.20 0.39

Consolidated balance sheet data at 31 December 2016

Net working capital = total short-term assets, less short-term liabilities

Net invested capital amounted to Euro 588.5 million (Euro 

636.4 million at the end of 2015), showing a reduction of Euro 

47.9 million, mainly due to a decrease in equity investments – as 

a result of the sale of the investee Gespar S.p.A. and the entry 

of the Chinese Gemdale Fund into the Broad Street project in 

New York – and due to an even more considerable reduction 

in net working capital, whose performance reflects the cyclical 

nature of operations in this industry that is positively affected 

by the strategic action taken to monitor this balance sheet area. 

The accounts for the period showed a maximum absorption 

peak in June 2016 (Euro 460.6 million), followed by a marked 

improvement during the second half of the year (Euro 352.8 

million in 2016).

Millions of Euros
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Net financial position: Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Cash and cash equivalents  315.1  246.5  68.6 

Total cash and cash equivalents  315.1  246.5  68.6 

Short term Financial receivables  19.8  22.3  (2.5)

HFT securities  33.0  35.8  (2.8)

Short term Financial receivables for service concession arrangements  0.4  0.4  0.0 

Short term financial receivables  53.2  58.5  (5.3)

Current bank debt  (114.1)  (151.8)  37.7 

Current portion of financial debt - non-recourse  -  -  - 

Current portion of medium/long-term loans  (92.6)  (46.1)  (46.5)

Current portion of financial debt for finance leases  (1.2)  (1.4)  0.2 

Bank and finance leases debt - nominal value  (207.9)  (199.3)  (8.6)

Commissions on loans-current portion  -  -  - 

Accrued interest expense on bank loans and bond issue  (2.2)  (2.1)  (0.1)

Derivative Assets/(Liabilities)  (0.6)  (0.7)  0.1 

Total current bank and finance leases debt  (210.7)  (202.1)  (8.6)

Short-term net financial position  157.6  103.0  54.6 

Bond issue-nominal value  (100.0)  (100.0)  - 

Placement commissions  1.4  2.0  (0.6)

Bond  (98.6)  (98.0)  (0.6)

Non-current portion of financial debt  (231.6)  (261.1)  29.5 

Non-current portion of financial debt - non-recourse  -  -  - 

Non-current portion of financial debt for finance leases  (7.6)  (8.0)  0.4 

Bank and finance leases debt - nominal value  (239.2)  (269.1)  29.9 

Commissions on loans-non-current portion  3.2  4.1  (0.9)

Derivative Assets/(Liabilities)  -  -  - 

Long term financial position  (334.6)  (363.0)  28.4 

Net financial position - continued operations  (177.0)  (260.1)  83.1 

Net financial position-disposal asset  -  9.9  (9.9)

Net financial position  (177.0)  (250.2)  73.2 

Long term financial receivables  57.0  52.4  4.6 

AFS securities  2.0  0.2  1.8 

Long term financial receivables for service concession arrangements  19.0  19.4  (0.4)

Long term financial receivables  78.0  72.1  5.9 

Total financial position  (99.0)  (178.1)  79.1 

Millions of Euros
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Overall the Group’s net financial position showed a decrease in 

the exposure by about Euro 79 million. This result, which was 

higher than expected, was also due to the positive performance 

of working capital at the end of the year, as well as to the liquidity 

generated by subsidiary FPMC, whose real estate Petite Afrique 

project was substantially completed at the end of 2016.

The improvement recorded in 2016 was contributed to by 

the performance of working capital, as well as by the disposal 

of some concession assets, in line with the Group’s strategy 

policies that envisage a disengagement from the projects that 

have entered the operational phase, in order to finance new 

initiatives. In the framework of the asset disposal programme, in 

May 2016 the interest held in Pizzarotti Energia S.r.l., a company 

that operates PV plants in Sicily, was sold to a specialist operator: 

at the end of 2015 the net financial position of Pizzarotti Energia, 

which is recognised under assets held for sale, was positive for 

Euro 9.9 million, as a difference between a net bank debt of Euro 

31 million and financial receivables of about Euro 41 million.

It should be noted that the overall net financial position includes 

equity investments in project companies, in preparation for the 

business that is to be developed in the coming years, the overall 

amount of which was about Euro 184 million, broken down into 

share capital and subordinated loans.

The net financial position was also affected by real estate 

projects, whose value in terms of inventories at Group level was 

equal to Euro 196 million (Euro 231 million at 31 December 2015), 

including amounts of about Euro 17 million paid in advance on the 

value of purchases not yet completed; among these, the projects 

developed with other partners through investee companies 

amounted to about Euro 31.6 million and include the Petite Afrique 

project in Monte Carlo, as well as the new projects Jardin Exotique 

and 251 West 14th, Monte Carlo and New York, respectively. 

The consolidated shareholders’ equity came to Euro 489.5 

million; the company holds 1,444,800 own shares, with a par 

value of Euro 1.00 each, for a total acquisition value of Euro 

2,324,056. 

Order backlog
At 31 December 2016 the order backlog totalled Euro 12,613 

million and was made up as follows: Group construction work, equal 

to Euro 5,808 million (Euro 5,558 million at 31 December 2015) and 

concessions on the basis of agreements already executed, valued 

in terms of the future revenues that will be received by our special 

purpose subsidiaries, totalling Euro 6,805 million.

The considerable commercial investment, which was started some 

years ago and which is aimed at pursuing an increasingly greater 

internationalisation of the business, also continued.

In 2016 the order backlog recorded the acquisition of new 

construction works for a total amount of Euro 1,178 million, 

including an amount of Euro 1,011 million on the international 

market.

In Peru, in Iquitos, Pucallpa and Lima through Impresa Pizzarotti & 

C. S.p.A. :

• “Iquitos Hospital”:  this is a contract for the design, construction 

and provision of medical equipment of the César Garayar García 

hospital located in Iquitos – the amount of works is equal to Euro 43 

million, of which the Pizzarotti Group holds a share of 41%;

• “Pucallpa Hospital”: this is a contract for construction 

and installation of the regional Pucallpa Hospital in Peru. The 

project, which is to be implemented for the customer Regional 

Government of Ucayali, involves the Group as the leading 

company (30%), in partnership with other local partners. The 

project is worth an equivalent of approximately Euro 77 million, 

partly for civil works and partly for hospital equipment;

• “Ate Sports Centre, Lima”: this is a contract awarded for the 

construction of a sports centre, including a football stadium, 

an arena and a residential building in the district of Ate. The 

customer of this project is the Ate municipality, together with 

another partner with equal shares; the Group is the leading 

company of this initiative, which is worth an equivalent of about 

Euro 13 million;

In the USA, New York City, through subsidiary Pizzarotti IBC:

• “Amity Street”: the contract, which is worth Euro 13 million, 

provides for a first residential project within the context of a wider 

development programme focused on the new hospital of the NYU 

Langone Medical Center (New York University);

•  “75 1st Avenue Club”: the contract, which is worth about 

Euro 12 million, involves the construction of a residential-

commercial building on the 1st Avenue, between 4th and 5th 

Street; the building will have 8 floors and will host 27 units 

equipped with common services and a gym;

• Relevant contracts were signed with the major developer RXR 

Reality for the construction of the residential and infrastructural 

components in the framework of the real estate project Ritz 

Carlton concerning the construction of a residential complex, 

including apartments that will enjoy the management services 

provided by the renowned hotel chain Ritz Carlton and an 

exclusive club-house located on the prestigious North Shore of 
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Moreover in the other international markets:

• Kuwait - Maternity Hospital: 

design and construction of an important hospital facility to be 

constructed in Kuwait City, for an aggregate value of approximately 

Euro 650 million; this project develops over an area of approximately 

52 thousand square meters and provides for the construction of a 

facility with 780 beds;

• Monaco: 

Two new orders were gained through subsidiaries Engeco Sam 

and Monaco Façades Sam:

-  “Cap Fleuri”: 

this project involves the construction of a building to be 

used as a nursing home in Cap d’Ail, including ten floors of 

underground parking and four floors of superstructure, and is 

worth Euro 19 million;

-  “Sporting d’Hiver”: 

this project involves the restoration of curtain walls and non-

routine maintenance of eight prestigious residential and 

commercial buildings located in the gardens of Monte Carlo 

Casino. The project is worth approximately Euro 60 million, of 

which the Pizzarotti Group holds a share of 30%.

In Italy, the major contracts that were awarded during 2016 are 

shown below: 

• “ENI Towers”: 

this is a contract for the construction of two executive office 

buildings in Rome – for an amount of approximately Euro 92 

million, to be performed through subsidiary Buildit S.p.A., of 

which Impresa Pizzarotti acquired stakes of 80% in 2016;

• Purification plants in Cuma and in Napoli Nord (Naples): 

this projects involves working drawings and specifications for 

the redevelopment and upgrading of the purification plants in 

Cuma and Napoli Nord, which are currently in operation, as well 

as their maintenance and management. The awards amount to 

a total of Euro 125 million (of which Euro 87 million relating to 

operations for a period of 5 years) for the purification plant in 

Cuma and a total of Euro 79 million (of which Euro 53 million 

relating to operations for a period of 5 years) for the purification 

plant in Napoli Nord, respectively – the consortia that were 

awarded the contract are invested in Impresa Pizzarotti for a 

share of 58%.

• A35 - A4 Motorway Interchange: 

this projects involves the working drawings and specifications, 

as well as the construction, of the interchange of the motorway 

link between A35 – BREBEMI and A4 motorways; the contract 

was entered into on 18 November 2016. The project is worth 

Euro 44.9 million for construction works and Euro 10.7 million for 

available funds (expropriations and solution of interferences) - 

Impresa Pizzarotti holds a share of 50.1%.

Long Island, thirty minutes away from Manhattan. Pizzarotti IBC 

is responsible for the construction of three of six buildings and 

part of the infrastructures. The project is worth Euro 93 million.

In France, Paris, through Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A.:

• “Grand Paris”: 

the expansion continued in the framework of the largest 

European infrastructural project to be implemented during the 

period from 2015 to 2030, named “Grand Paris”, which provides 

for the extension of the existing underground network with 

six new lines; Impresa Pizzarotti was awarded, through the 

consortium Alliance, a total of five contracts, two of which were 

gained during 2016 – in detail:

- Lot GC01  – the contract relates to the extension of Line 11 

of the Paris underground system from the Mairie des Lilas 

terminus station and consists of the construction of a 3-km 

long TBM tunnel and four stations  - the amount of works is 

equal to Euro 230 million, of which the Pizzarotti Group holds 

a share of 25%;

- Line 15 South – the contract provides for the construction 

of a lot of the new line 15 South of the Paris underground 

system between the stations of Noisy Champ and Bry Villiers 

and consists of the construction of two TBM tunnels, which will 

be 4.7 km and 2.2 km long, respectively – the amount of works 

is equal to Euro 317 million, of which the Pizzarotti Group holds 

a share of 25%.
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31/12/2016  31/12/2015

Description Italy Foreign 
countries Total Italy Foreign 

countries Total

Infrastructures  1,809.8  965.2  2,775.0  1,853.3  1,099.8  2,953.1 

Construction  109.6  1,734.9  1,844.5  44.9  1,217.1  1,262.0 

Real estate  38.4  240.8  279.2  31.6  350.2  381.8 

Operations  547.5  329.1  876.6  591.7  329.3  921.0 

Prefabricated structures  32.6  -  32.6  40.1  -  40.1 

Total Order Backlog 2,537.9 3,270.0 5,807.9  2,561.6  2,996.4  5,558.0 

percentage 43.7% 56.3% 100.0%  46.1%  53.9%  100.0%

Breakdown of the construction backlog by sector and geographical area:  

The main events that occurred in the financial year are described 
below, under the different business sectors in which your 
Company operates.

Millions of Euros

INFRASTRUCTURE SECTOR - ITALY
Below are described our main current projects.

BRE.BE.MI motorway
Impresa Pizzarotti holds a 12.5% interest, both directly and 

through its parent company Autostrade Lombarde S.p.A., in 

concessionaire Brebemi S.p.A. which has been appointed 

to prepare the final design and working drawings and 

specifications, as well as to construct and operate the 

Brescia-Bergamo-Milan motorway. 

Impresa Pizzarotti also holds an interest of 50% interest in the BBM 

Consortium which has been appointed as General Contractor 

for the construction of the motorway – the total work progress 

was equal to 99.1% at 31 December 2016 - and of 50.1% in 

the Interconnessione Scarl consortium company appointed for 

the construction of the A35/A4 motorway interchange, which 

started construction operations in January 2017.

During the last quarter of 2016 the following measures – which 

are essential for the financial sustainability of the BREBEMI 

project – were recorded, thus becoming effective:

 

• Additional Agreement no. 3 CAL/BREBEMI, giving effective 

to the review of the EFP (PEF, Piano Economico Finanziario, 

Economic and Financial Plan) under CIPE Resolution no. 60 of 6 

August 2015;

• CIPE Resolution no. 18 of 1 May 2016 – extension of the Public 

Service up to 21 July 2018;

• CIPE Decision no. 19 of 1 May 2016 – Final Project of A35/A4 

Motorway Interchange.

The above measures, in fact, approved the rebalancing of 

the financial plan which provides, among other things, for 

the disbursement of government grants, the recognition of 

costs for additional expropriations under investments and of 

a project that is regarded as a solution, in industrial terms, to 

the current traffic congestion issues on the motorway, namely 

the construction of the interchange between A4 and BREBEMI 

motorways in the area of Brescia. 

It is expected that the new road, which should enter into service 

by the end of the year, will develop a traffic volume capable 

of allowing the achievement of the economic and financial 

balance of the project and a financial return for the Shareholders, 

as provided for in the new EFP.

In this framework, an agreement was signed with the lending 

banks of the BREBEMI project, which extended the period of 

availability of the facilities, as well as also partially rescheduled 

the debt cost and related payments..

At the same time, on 30 July 2016 the BBM Consortium signed 

minutes of agreement with BREBEMI, which were aimed at 

obtaining the payment, in the form of a financial advance, for any 
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higher costs incurred for the execution of changes to the project 

and unforeseen casual finds, whose administrative procedure 

has not yet been completed. Moreover, said agreement fixes a 

cap to the acknowledgment of claims that have not yet been 

settled and the renewal of significant commitments on the part 

of BBM for the completion of expropriation procedures, of which 

an amount of approximately Euro 40 million is immediately 

payable.

At the same time, the BBM consortium took steps, together 

with the pool of lending banks that assists it, in order to obtain 

such credit facilities as are required for the issue of guarantees in 

favour of BREBEMI and thus to obtain the payment of the advance 

agreed under the aforesaid agreement.

Furthermore, the BBM Consortium had been taking steps, 

for some time, to raise the funds required for the payment of 

additional expropriations – which in the meantime have reached 

approximately Euro 40 million -, asking the Shareholders to give 

their necessary financial contributions. Only the Shareholder 

Impresa Pizzarotti had met the requests, paying its share of Euro 

20 million, while the shareholder CCC did not comply with the 

requirement.

Within the framework of the overall agreements with the pool 

of banks assisting the BBM Consortium, the shareholder Impresa 

Pizzarotti has undertaken to advance the payment of its share 

of funds in an amount equal to approximately Euro 60 million 

against an equal release of guarantees provided to the pool itself.

This was to allow a due performance of the agreements signed 

with BREBEMI and an orderly management of the last formalities 

to be accomplished by the BBM consortium, while at the same 

time trying to facilitate the solution to additional expropriations 

and granting, among other things, an extended time limit to the 

shareholder CCC for procuring the financial resources required to 

meet their commitments.

TEEM road section
This is a project finance initiative regarding the design, 

construction and operation of the abovementioned Milan 

Eastern Outer Bypass Road, the concession for which has been 

awarded to the project company Tangenziale Esterna S.p.A. (TE) 

in which Impresa Pizzarotti holds a 10.2% stake. Impresa Pizzarotti 

also holds a 23% stake in the TEEM construction consortium 

(CCT, Consorzio Costruttori TEEM] that is carrying out this work, 

acting as General Contractor and a 68.15% stake in the Arcoteem 

Consortium, which has been awarded the contract for Lot B of 

the Bypass Road.

The road section was opened to traffic on 16 May 2015, while 

the remaining works for Lot B, which are minor compensatory 

works, were completed during the first months of 2017, in 

compliance with the new ultimate deadline for completion 

(30 April 2017) set out in the TE-CCT additional agreement that 

was signed on 31 March 2017. Activities also continued for 

the maintenance of green spaces already constructed, whose 

contractual commitment is defined for a period of 3 years from 

the installation thereof.

At 31 December 2016, the progress of Lot B works under 

the responsibility of the Arcoteem Consortium was equal 

to about 98.5%.

The formalities that are still to be completed are: the expropriation 

procedures, the collection of documents on the part of the 

Authorities that manage interfered sub-services and the working 

drawings and specifications for the redevelopment of Cascina 

Triulza and the bicycle lane Melzo-Gorgonzola. According to the 

pacts contained in the additional agreement of 31 March 2017, 

the related works will be carried out by the municipalities of Melzo 

and Gorgonzola, respectively.

MILAN-VERONA HIGH-SPEED RAILWAY LINE 
Impresa Pizzarotti holds a 24% share in the Cepav Due 

Consortium, which has been awarded the project for the 

working drawings and specifications and the construction 

of the Milan to Verona High-Speed railway line. 

The first functional lot of the Treviglio – Brescia section, worth a 

total of about Euro 1,445 million, was inaugurated and opened 

to traffic on 10 December 2016; some minor finishing operations 

are still to be carried out on external works and the green spaces 

previously used for the set-up of work sites.

As resolved by the consortium’s Executive Board, work began in 

September 2013 on the final design of the remaining functional 

lot of the line from Brescia to Verona.

As regards this functional lot, the negotiations, which started 

in 2015 following the Services Conference (Conferenza dei 

Servizi) promoted by the MIT  [Ministero delle Infrastrutture e dei 

Trasporti, Ministry for Infrastructure and Transport] and ended in 

November 2014, are still in progress between the consortium 

and the customer, aimed at reaching an agreement as regards 

the financial fairness. At the same time, the consortium verified, 

through appropriate analyses, the observations received from 

the area concerned. It is expected to fully approve the final 

design, by the related CIPE Resolution, in May 2017 and, at the 

same time, to reach the stage for signing the Supplementary 

Agreement (Atto Integrativo) relating to the Brescia-Verona 

section for the actual start of works in the second half of 2017.

IIntervening developments support the Board of Directors’ 

conviction that, even considering the normal uncertainty that is 

typical of this sector, there are reasonable grounds for believing 

that the total amounts reported as assets in connection with the 

Milan to Verona High-Speed railway line will be recovered.
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TIBRE (Tirreno-Brennero) corridor
This is an integrated contract worth Euro 255 million for the 

preparation of the working drawings and specifications and 

the construction of the first lot of the Tyrrhenian-Brenner 

multimodal corridor – a link connecting the Cisa Motorway 

at Fontevivo (Province of Parma) and the Brenner Motorway 

at Nogarole Rocca (Province of Verona). 

The motorway section develops for about 9.5 kilometres, 2.5 

kilometres of which consisting of a new road section layout of 

the present A15 motorway south of the motorway axis A1; the 

project also includes: the new interconnection link between A15 

and A1 motorways, the underpass tunnel of A15 motorway with 

respect to A1, the new 2-km long viaduct on the Taro river, the 

motorway embankment up to the new Terre Verdiane exit and 

the interconnection road network with the existing roadway. 

It is also expected to carry out all the related works: resolving 

interferences, connections to public services, environmental 

monitoring and expert assistance in expropriation.

The contract was finally awarded by the motorway operator, 

Autocamionale della Cisa, in May 2013 and was signed in 

November 2013, at the same time as the start of the activities 

preparatory to construction and of working drawings and 

specifications. In October 2014, the concessionaire Autocisa, 

following the approval on the part of its Board of Directors, 

submitted the Engineering Work to the granting authority 

MIT for final approval. In subsequent months, as a result of the 

delayed replies from the Authorities on the opinions, permits and 

agreement schemes submitted to them, the engineering work 

was fully updated and redelivered to the MIT by Autocisa. 

At the end of September 2015 the MIT notified the other 

competent Authorities (in particular, the MATTM, the MIBACT 

and the Emilia Romagna Regional Government) with its 

intention to directly approve the project, as it did not include 

any material or location changes with respect to the Final 

Design already approved by the CIPE. The MIT also summoned 

the Authorities that had proved to be defaulting for any reason, 

in order to require them to perform the duties within the sphere 

of their responsibility.

The procedure for the approval of the engineering work on the 

part of the competent authorities was completed in March 2016 

and it was necessary to wait until September 2016 to obtain the 

final and formal approval on the part of the MIT.

In September 2016 the construction works were started, 

which are continuing normally and in line with the time 

schedule set out as per contract. 

CAMPOGALLIANO-SASSUOLO Link road
The project involves the construction and operation of the 

new Campogalliano-Sassuolo motorway link between 

the A22 motorway and the SS467 Pedemontana state 

road. Impresa Pizzarotti holds a 31.29% interest in a group of 

companies which has been finally awarded the concession for 

the design, construction and operation of this link road on the 

part of the granting authority MIT. 

In December 2014 an Agreement was entered into with the 

MIT, which regulates the relationship between the Granting 

Authority and the Concessionaire for the design, construction 

and operation of the Campogalliano Sassuolo Motorway Link.

In 2015 the concession was not registered by the Court of 

Auditors and the Ministry of Treasury raised some objections 

on the Economic and Financial Plan. At the beginning of 2016 

an understanding was reached with the Granting Authority MIT 

concerning some amendments to the EFP, which led to the 

implementation of tax exemption measures that were approved 

by the CIPE on 1 May 2016, by resolution no. 13/2016, which 

was registered by the Court of Auditors on 23 November 2016 

and published in the Official Gazette on 22 December. To start 

the engineering work, two decrees are still to be issued by 

the MIT, which will define the criteria for the repayment of the 

public funding during the management and the approval of the 

additional act to the agreement. 

The motorway will be constructed by a group of companies 

in which Impresa Pizzarotti holds a share of 90% over a total 

amount of about Euro 430 million.

A4 TAGLIAMENTO GONARS SECTION
The project concerns the contract awarded to a General 

Contractor for the design and construction of the third lot 

for the enlargement of the third lane of the A4 motorway 

for the section included between the new Bridge on the 

Tagliamento river and the Municipality of Gonars. The works 

for the section being contracted out fall, in fact, within the 

scope of a wider project for the enlargement of the motorway 

envisaged in the CIPE resolution of 18 March 2005. Impresa 

Pizzarotti holds an interest of 50% in the special-purpose vehicle 

Tiliaventum Scarl, which was awarded the final project on 3 May 

2010.

The contracting authority, before signing the contract, sent the 

improvements submitted during the tender procedure for the 

Bridge on the Tagliamento river to the competent Authorities 

(Venice Water Authority and Civil Engineering Authority), which 

then submitted a series of observations and requirements. 

Following these observations, the Single Officer responsible 

for the Procedure [Responsabile Unico del Procedimento, RUP] 

took steps to require mode details on the project concerning 
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the offer submitted for the bridge and in June 2012 Tiliaventum 

Scarl signed the contract concerning the Final Design only.

In October 2013 the contracting authority agreed to the 

proposal submitted by Tiliaventum Scarl and in September 

2014 it received the Final Design of the entire section involved 

in the contract, which included the bridge on the Tagliamento 

river, as well as a series of requirements from Local Authorities.

Following the long design procedure and some different 

positions concerning the payment of higher costs resulting 

from the requirements from Local Authorities and from some 

amendments to regulations, in March 2015 the RUP submitted 

to the Contracting Authority a proposal to reach a settlement 

agreement with Tiliaventum Scarl. Following the RUP’s proposal, 

the Deputy Commissioner asked for an opinion from the Anti-

Corruption Authority [ANAC, Autorità Nazionale Anti Corruzione] 

and the Government Lawyers as to the settlement agreement. 

In June 2015, following the issue of the opinions rendered by 

ANAC and by the Government Lawyers, the RUP, after appointing 

a specific committee, established that the proposal submitted 

during the final design phase was valid and complied with the 

regulations in force.

On 23 June 2016, after the approval and validation of the Final 

Design on the part of the Contracting Authorities in January 

2016, the settlement agreement was signed between the 

parties, which was followed by the signature of the contract 

for the development of the Final Design and the execution 

of all the works quantified at Euro 294 million on 5 August 

2016.

On 4 November 2016 the Engineering Work was delivered to 

the Commissioner, who approved it by Decree No. 318 of 30 

December 2016; the works have been started following the 

issue of the related report on 8 February 2017.

A14 MOTORWAY/PORT OF ANCONA LINK (Passante Dorico)
Impresa Pizzarotti has an 18% interest in a group of companies 

which is the concessionaire for the construction, on a project 

finance basis, of the motorway link between the Port of 

Ancona and the surrounding road system. 

The work, which will be carried out on a project finance 

basis, provides for an investment of about Euro 480 million 

and a concession term of 36.5 years (6.5 years for the 

design and construction and 30 years for the operation); 

in December 2013 the project company “Passante Dorico” was 

established and then the agreement was signed with the MIT.

Following the issue of a memo on the part of the Granting 

Authority on 15 December 2016, whereby the Ministry stated 

that the final design and related proposal for the rebalancing 

of the EFP could not be approved, the Concessionaire Passante 

Dorico filed an appeal with the Marche Regional Administrative 

Court on 13 February 2017 seeking its annulment.

CISPADANA motorway
The project involves the construction and operation of the 

new Regional Cispadana Motorway (Autostrada Regionale 

Cispadana) – from the Reggiolo/Rolo section on the A22 

motorway;

to the Southern Ferrara exit on the A13 motorway; Impresa 

Pizzarotti holds a 19.3% stake in ARC S.p.A., the project company 

that shall manage the work and holds a 57.48% share in the 

Construction consortium.

The concession will have a term of 49 years; the amount 

of works is equal to Euro 993 million, while the estimated 

investment amounts to a total of Euro 1,308 million.

2012 saw the submission of the Final Design and the EIS 

(Environmental Impact Study; SIA, Studio di Impatto Ambientale), 

which were prepared and presented by the ARCCOS Consortium 

(the consortium of construction companies specially and 

exclusively set up to prepare the final design). The final design 

and the EIS report were drawn up in accordance with the 

preliminary design that had been approved on 19 December 

2011, referred to in the concluding minutes of the preliminary 

Services Conference.

On 3 October 2012 an application was made to the Ministry for 

Environment to start the EIA (Environmental Impact Assessment; 

VIA, Valutazione di Impatto Ambientale) procedure and on 10 

October 2012 a notice was accordingly published in the daily 

press in order to allow Observations to be submitted.

After various inspections and discussion meetings, on 17 June 

2013 the Ministry for Environment asked for supplements to 

the documents that had been presented; the supplementary 

documents were delivered on 1 August 2013, within the 

prescribed statutory time limits.

Following a request submitted by the Ministry for Environment, 

on 13 November 2013 the public were informed that the 

supplementary documents had been filed. The 60-day time limit 

set under Legislative Decree 152/2006 for the presentation of 

observations on the supplementary documents expired on 12 

January 2014.

 

On 8 April 2014 the CdM [Council of Ministers] passed a resolution 

on the 2014 Economy and Finance Document (Documento 

di Economia e Finanza) and submitted it to the Chamber of 

Deputies and the Senate for approval. This paper acknowledges 

the Cispadana motorway as a “Strategic Infrastructure”.  On 23 

June 2014 the Ministry of Cultural Heritage and Activities and 

Tourism (MIBACT, Ministero dei Beni e delle Attività Culturali e del 

Turismo) expressed itself against the request for a ruling on the 

compatibility of the Final Design with the environment. 
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the concessionaire ARC has sent the Emilia Romagna Regional 

Government a letter of follow-up/notice, assuming the recourse 

to legal action in order to protect the interests of the company if 

the approval procedure is not completed within the mandatory 

time limit of 31 May 2017.

FERRARA - PORTO GARIBALDI
This project relates to the design, construction and operation 

of the Ferrara – Porto Garibaldi Motorway Junction. This 

concession term is 43 years and the investment amounts to 

Euro 560 million. Impresa Pizzarotti holds an interest of 31.5% 

in the grouping of constructor partners.

During the 2012 financial year, the tender, which had been 

launched in January 2009, was provisionally awarded to 

the concessionaire ATI (Associazione Temporanea di Imprese, 

Temporary Business Combine) of which Impresa Pizzarotti is 

a partner with a share of 16.10%; this provisional award was 

confirmed in 2014 following the judgement issued by the 

Council of State. Currently the final award and the execution of 

the related Agreement are suspended pending the approval of 

the preliminary project and of the Environmental Impact Study 

on the part of the Granting Authority MIT.

In May 2016 the MIT asked the ATI to update the Economic 

and Financial Plan and the Regulatory Financial Plan, including 

the relevant updated transport studies in order to evaluate the 

financial sustainability of the project; by a subsequent memo 

issued at the beginning of September, it repeated that the start 

of the authorisation procedure necessary for the execution of 

the Agreement will be considered only after said documents are 

received.

The conversion of Legislative Decree no. 133/2014 (the so-

called “Sblocca Italia” or “Unlock Italy Decree”) into law, under 

Article 5-bis, allows the MIT to replace the Emilia Romagna 

Regional Government as the Granting Authority for the Regional 

“Cispadana” Motorway subject to prior approval of the CIPE. In 

May 2016 the MIT asked ARC S.p.A. to update the Economic 

and Financial Plan and the Regulatory Financial Plan, including 

the relevant updated transport studies in order to evaluate the 

financial sustainability of the project.

On 19 January 2015 the CTVIA [Commissione Tecnica di Verifica 

di Impatto Ambientale, Technical Committee for Environmental 

Impact Assessment] expressed its favourable opinion, subject 

to instructions, as regards the environmental compatibility 

of the project; however, in light of the different assessments 

expressed by the CTVIA and the MIBACT, the jurisdiction over 

the procedure concerning the environmental compatibility of 

the Work has been transferred to the Prime Minister’s Office.

 

In 2015, some joint meetings were held with the ministerial 

functions in order to discuss whether it was technically 

feasible to resolve each critical issue. Following such meetings, 

the technical office of ARC, with the support of the Arccos 

Consortium as the designer of the Work, provided the MATTM 

[Ministero dell’Ambiente e della Tutela del Territorio e del Mare, 

Ministry for Environment and Land and Sea Protection] officers 

with any and all necessary in-depth technical analysis. Again in 

2015, talks continued with the Granting Authority, which were 

aimed at clarifying the state of progress and sharing various 

technical and procedural aspects related to the procedure for 

the approval of the project and to the procedure providing for 

the MIT to be the successor Granting Authority.

The CdM’ meeting held on 10 February 2016 accepted the 

proposal submitted by the MATTM as regards the route near the 

town of S. Agostino and the hamlet of San Carlo, thus accepting 

the shift of such route north of the hamlet of San Carlo.

 

In addition to confirming the instructions given by the CTVIA, 

and adding some more, the Prime Minister’s Office also asked 

that two local variants of the route be studied in order to avoid 

any interference with the archaeological site of Castrum di Novi 

in Modena, and improve the crossing of the river Panaro, to be 

submitted to the environmental assessment in progress.

As regards the crossing of partecipanze common properties, 

the Council of Ministers agreed on a solution involving a route 

passing through Alberone, the one preferred by the MIBACT, 

while the CTVIA had opted, in its opinion, for the solution of the 

Final Design with the aesthetic improvement to the viaduct for 

the crossing of Via Maestra Grande road. On 18 March 2016, ARC 

S.p.A. submitted the supplementary documentation required 

and, at the same time, gave notice thereof to the public in the 

newspapers to start the procedures set out under Legislative 

Decree no. 152/2006.

Following the publication of the new route, some divergences 

arose at a local level, which led to considering another different 

route near the town of Alberone. Once again, the Emilia 

Romagna Regional Government asked the Council of Ministers 

to take a decision about the conflict between the two ministries 

(Environment and Cultural Heritage) on 24 November 2016, as 

well as to make additions to the documents required by the 

EIA procedure, which were promptly submitted and published 

again on 28 January 2017. At present the observations received 

are under scrutiny.

Because of the problems that are still causing delays in the issue 

of the statutory stipulations and therefore the start of operations, 
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SI.TA.VE (Sistema Tangenziali Venete) Bypass Road 
Network 
This is the concession for the construction and operation 

of the new Veneto Region’s Bypass Road Network: Verona 

– Vicenza – Padua; a group of companies represented by 

Impresa Pizzarotti with a 51% interest has been approved as 

the promoter, with a pre-emption right in the subsequent 

negotiated procedure. The procedure for the approval of 

the preliminary design within the scope of the preliminary EIA 

investigation has come to a successful conclusion.

This project is awaiting consideration by the CIPE, which is to 

take the observations made in the environmental clearance 

process into account before arrangements can be made for the 

tender for the award of the concession. 

In fact, the start of the works on the land occupied by the existing 

sections of bypass road, which is currently being operated by 

the concessionaire of the Brescia-Padua motorway has been 

held up for years. 

Because of the very long duration of the EIA procedure, as well 

as of the delays in the preliminary investigations conducted 

by the Ministry of Infrastructures and the inaction by the 

Contracting Authority, i.e. the Veneto Regional Government, 

since 2009 CIPE has not yet approved the preliminary project 

of road infrastructure.

The numerous letters of follow-up and notice sent by the 

Promoter have had no effect and at present the project shall be 

submitted to the evaluation of economic and financial feasibility 

required by the recently issued Article 216, paragraph 23, of 

Legislative Decree no. 50/2016. 

As a result of the above events, the Promoter has appointed 

a major law firm to carry out a study and an evaluation of any 

possible action to take against the Veneto Regional Government.

SUPERSTRADA VALSUGANA-VALBRENTA TOLL ROAD
In December 2011 the Veneto Regional Government appointed 

a group of companies as the promoter, with a pre-emption right 

in the subsequent tender for the award of the concession, for 

the construction of the Valsugana-Valbrenta-Bassano Ovest 

toll road on a project finance basis. The group is represented 

by Impresa Pizzarotti, which holds a 33.5% interest (with a 55% 

share of works).

The value of the project in terms of works, design and 

expropriation is equal to a total of Euro 758 million 

(including civil works amounting to Euro 560 million), while 

the total investment, including financial costs and available 

funds, amounts to Euro 911 million.

In July 2014 the project was revised in accordance with the EIS 

requirements and the overall expenditure and economic and 

financial plans were also updated and delivered to the Regional 

Government; the project was sent to the MIT in December 2014. 

The group is waiting for the Veneto Regional Government to call 

the Services Conference, prerequisite for the continuation of the 

procedure. 

Because of the delay in the preliminary investigations conducted by 

the Ministry of Infrastructures and the inaction by the Contracting 

Authority, i.e. the Veneto Regional Government, since 2014 CIPE has not 

yet approved the preliminary project of road infrastructure.

The numerous letters of follow-up and notice sent by the Promoter 

have had no effect and at present the project shall be submitted to the 

evaluation of economic and financial feasibility required by the recently 

issued Article 216, paragraph 23, of Legislative Decree no. 50/2016.  

As a result of the above events, the Promoter has appointed a major 

law firm to carry out a study and an evaluation of any possible 

action to take against the Veneto Regional Government.

CUMA AND NAPOLI NORD PLANTS
In 2014 Impresa Pizzarotti participated in three tenders envisaged 

within the framework of the project named “Major Project - 

Environmental remediation and redevelopment of Regi Lagni 

areas”, aimed at restoring and upgrading the treatment sections 

of purification plants in Cuma, Napoli Nord and Marcianise, in 

partnership with Degremont, now Suez. 

The ATI has been finally awarded the contract for the plants in 

Cuma and Napoli Nord; Impresa Pizzarotti holds a 58% interest 

in the respective consortia.

Both projects concern the working drawings and 

specifications and the restoration and upgrading of the 

purification plant, as well as the operation of the plant itself 

and of the network of district collectors for a period of 5 

years from the hand-over of the plants.

The final award to the ATI composed of Pizzarotti – agent - and 

Suez took place on 21 March 2016 for the Cuma project and on 

12 May 2016 for the Napoli Nord project. Following the appeals 

filed by other bidders, the award was confirmed for both the 

Cuma and Napoli Nord plants on 24 November 2016.

The works for the Cuma project amount to Euro 125 million 

(of which an amount of Euro 87 million relates to operations, 

while the remaining amount concerns construction and 

upgrading works); as to the Napoli Nord project, the works 

amount to Euro 79 million (of which an amount of Euro 53 

million relate to operations, while the remaining amount 

concerns construction and upgrading works).

For both project the Final Design has been approved and the 

construction surveys have been drawn. 

It is expected that the two agreements will be signed and 

operations will be started during the first half of 2017. 
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Projects in the Naples area

The appointment of a new Governor of the Campania Region led 

to a rescheduling of the expected investments in infrastructures. 

Specifically, within the context of the concessions under 

its responsibility, the Regional Government decided not to 

proceed with certain works previously identified as strategic 

projects, namely putting Pompei Station underground and the 

Feudo-Nola section. The new three-year plan provides, instead, 

the execution of some works along the Circumvesuviana line 

(now EAV), Torre Annunziata – Castellammare, and, specifically, 

the doubling of the rail track between the station located at 

Via Nocera - currently under construction - and the station of 

Castellammare city centre, for a value of approximately Euro 

80 million, in addition to the regeneration of the station of 

Castellammare city centre with an underground parking space 

for approximately Euro 55 million. The new works were approved 

by a Resolution issued by the Campania Regional Council in May 

2016, as was a different financing schedule by a CIPE resolution.

As regards the Metro Line 1 of Naples, works were started for 

the last section between Centro Direzionale and Capodichino, 

and Pizzarotti was awarded by Metropolitana di Napoli S.p.A. a 

service contract for the management of public tenders. Works 

continued on Line 6, although slowly, due to the lack of any 

financial cover. 

Garibaldi Station: 

at the end of 2016 work progress had achieved 97.5%. The 

station was opened to metropolitan services on 31 December 

2013, following the opening of all boutiques for business at the 

same time as the inauguration of the station pit.

The layout of the Garibaldi Square and the floor for commercial 

use next to the underground station were completed and 

handed over to customer Grandi Stazioni at the end of April 

2015. The last work on the surface of the Square is still to be 

carried out, through intervention in subsequent phases and is 

expected to be completed by the end of 2017.

Arco Mirelli Station: 

the project involves the construction of a station on the 

Naples underground line 6 and works progress has 

achieved about 93%.

After the problems that had arisen with reference to the collapses 

detected in some buildings next to the station pit, works were 

resumed without any constraints or conditions. The entire 

station structure has been completed, as have some internal 

finishes of the station pit, in order to allow the construction 

of technology rooms for the installation of systems. The works 

have been stopped, pending the approval of the financing of 

finishing works for an amount of approximately Euro 10 million.

Torre Annunziata – Castellammare line: 

the works have been resumed as a result of the issue of the 

resolutions approving the financing on the part of the Regional 

Government. The works awarded by a public tender have been 

started and are now being carried out, while the Additional 

Agreement is still to be signed for civil and technology works 

at the Via Nocera station. The works will be carried out by 

launching a public tender, while the adjacent parking area will 

be constructed directly.

It is expected that the service order for the start of designs of 

the new works envisaged in resolution no. 180 issued by the 

Regional Council will be received during the first half of 2017.

REAL ESTATE SECTOR 
The 2016 results remained in line with the growth trend 

recorded in 2015. Specifically, the increase in the purchases 

of residential real estate units by private individuals was 

confirmed, mainly due to new credit facilities made available 

by the Banks and the positive market response to the projects.

It is confirmed that the Group’s real estate business is 

mainly focused on urban regeneration in areas within 

built-up centres previously occupied by decommissioned 

industrial plants. 

The Procedure continued for the administrative formalities 

necessary to develop the owned areas.

The progress made with the main real estate projects is 

summarised below.

PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT

• “Parma Urban District”:

 a multi-functional centre mainly for commercial use next to 

the Parma Fair opposite the motorway with a Gross Usable 

Area [SLU, Superficie Lorda Utile) of 120,000 sq. m.

Promoter: Parma Sviluppo S.r.l. (Pizzarotti’s share: 100%)

The urban planning and authorisation processes have been 

substantially completed and the final design phase has also 

been completed; the sales activities, entrusted to one of 

the major operators in the sector, with the aim of collecting 

a considerable number of commitments and pre-lease 

agreements, are producing satisfactory results, which will entail 

binding agreements during 2017. Specifically, it is worth noting 

the interest expressed by some major international brands.

At the same time, a search was carried out in order to find a 

partner that is specialist in promoting and developing shopping 

mall projects, which led to selecting an international operator 

with which agreements will be signed in order to establish a 

special-purpose vehicle, to be invested in equally, during the 
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second half of 2017, at the same time as the start of construction 

works.

• “Crocetta” area:

 a new district for handicraft industry and executive offices 

in Parma for a total Gross Usable Area of about 70,000 sq. m.

Promoter: Parco Farnese S.r.l. (Pizzarotti’s share: 50%).

Urban planning process: the Implementing Urban Planning 

Scheme (PUA, Piano Urbanistico Attuativo) has been submitted 

and is being considered. 

Parco Farnese is the company responsible for implementing the 

above project and is equally owned by Impresa Pizzarotti and 

Coopsette; the agreements that were signed at the time with 

the Partner for the division of the area have not been successful 

due to the winding-up of Coopsette. 

Impresa Pizzarotti has put forward a proposal for the acquisition 

of the Coopsette share, but the Liquidator has not yet given its 

opinion, pending the authorisation on the part of the Ministry of 

Economic Development.

• The former Bormioli area: 

regeneration of an industrial area in Parma for residential, 

commercial use and executive offices, for a total Gross 

Usable Area of about 49,000 sq. m.

Promoter: BRF Property S.p.A. (Pizzarotti’s share: 34.5%).

Urban planning process: it was completed with the signature of 

the Urban Planning Agreement (Convenzione Urbanistica) on 12 

February 2016.

Sales: an important contract was signed as early as in 2014 for 

the sale of a commercial lot to the Despar Group, accompanied 

by the related contract for the construction of the supermarket 

awarded to Impresa Pizzarotti. The notarial deed related to 

the land was signed on 8 March 2016 and the constructions 

works, which were completed in November 2016, allowed the 

inauguration of the supermarket before the Christmas Season.

• Porta della Città (“Gateway to the City”) Area:

a new district for executive offices and commercial use at the 

northern entrance to Parma, for a total Gross Usable Area of about 

35,000 sq. m.

Promoter: Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A.

Urban planning process: a public/private agreement has been 

signed for the project to be included in the Municipal Operational 

Plan (POC, Piano Operativo Comunale); an appeal has been filed, 

and is still pending, with the Regional Administrative Court (TAR, 

Tribunale Amministrativo Regionale), against the Municipality of 

Parma, requesting the prompt conclusion of the unjustifiably 

suspended urban planning procedure.

• “Maddalena Punta Villa”:

new residential settlement for villas, including 15 lots 

for a total Gross Usable Area of about 2,500 sq. m. in the 

municipality of La Maddalena (Province of Olbia-Tempio).

Promoter: Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A.

Urban planning process: the Municipal Urban Planning 

Scheme (PUC, Piano Urbanistico Comunale) has been recently 

adopted, thus finally confirming the use and the size of this 

section. Pending the conclusion of the approval procedure, the 

objectives of the plan adopted have been confirmed.

• The former “Officine Adige Verona” area : 

regeneration of an industrial area for residential, 

commercial use, executive offices and hotel facilities for a 

total Gross Floor Area (SLP, Superficie Lorda di Pavimento) of 

about 128,000 sq. m.

Promoter: Aida S.p.A. (Pizzarotti’s share: 10%).

Urban planning process: a public/private agreement has been 

signed which allows the project to be implemented in lots on 

the basis of agreed Building Permits; Building Permits for urban 

infrastructure works and a Shopping Centre have been issued.

Sales: the shopping centre and executive offices have been sold 

for a total Gross Floor Area of about 50,000 sq. m.; the notarial 

deed related to the land was signed in May 2015.

Negotiations are still continuing in order to also consider the 

sale of the remaining portions of land owned by Aida S.p.A. to 

the promoter of the shopping mall.

• “Parco del Sole”: 

 a residential complex in the south of Parma containing 22 

flats with highly advanced ecological and technological 

facilities.

Promoter: Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A.

PROJECTS IN PROGRESS

• Parma Santa Teresa” Residential Complex:

redevelopment of the “Former Gondrand/Anagrafe area” 

in the centre of Parma, which is expected to include 50 

luxury residential units, as well as the related underground 

parking lots.

Promoter: Parma S. Teresa S.r.l. (100% Pizzarotti).

Following a period of limited operations due to archaeological 

interferences, during 2016 the works were carried out as 

planned and all the structural works and works for the insulation 

of the eastern building, as well as of the underground floors of 

the western building, were completed. In 2017 the promotional 

campaign will be relaunched after having been slowed 

down during the preceding months, due to uncertainties in 

construction schedule, presently solved.
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• The former “Rossi e Catelli –Parmavera project” area: 

requalification of an industrial area for residential use in Parma 

for a total Gross Usable Area of 29,000 sq. m., of which an area of 

about 16,000 sq. m. has already been developed and/or sold.

Urban planning process: an Urban Planning Agreement 

has been signed and another 4 residential lots remain to be 

developed under a Building Permit, in addition to the 3 lots 

already developed and sold. Of these, Lot No. 2, which includes 

41 apartments, was completed during 2016 and approximately 

50% of the units has already been sold.

•  “S. Eurosia” Residential Complex: 

the construction works for the project developed in Parma were 

completed according to schedule and 90% of the flats constructed 

have been sold.

• “Martinella” Shopping Centre:

the project, which is being developed in Parma is being 

implemented by Martinella S.r.l., which is 42.3%-owned by 

Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A.. At present, Lot F has been sold, and 

about 25% of Lot G units have been leased; sales are still being 

carried out for the remaining spaces of Lot G, and it is expected 

that four lease agreement will be executed during 2017, for the 

remaining 75% of the surface.

• Fontanellato (PR): 

the suspension of the urban infrastructure works in the area to 

be used for manufacturing has been extended in view of the 

performance of the handicraft industry and manufacturing 

sector, while this type of work has been completed in the 

residential area, in which three out of the total five lots have 

already been sold for the erection of villas.

CIVIL BUILDING SECTOR
Below are described the main works in progress:

NORTH BRIDGE (PONTE NORD)
This is a project finance initiative for the design, construction and 

exclusive management of public and private works in Parma. The 

public work is a new vehicle and pedestrian bridge over the 

Parma river, including public spaces and covered paths with 

linking road systems.

The construction of the bridge and its road infrastructure was 

completed within the contract time limits in 2012; the additional 

works, which were ordered by the customer at a later time, were 

completed during 2014 and in June 2016 the pedestrian part 

was handed over. 

The construction of the additional works included in the original 

agreement – executive offices and accommodation/hotel 

facilities – is still suspended, following the stalemate in the 

completion of the PUA, even though in the past the Coordination 

Committee meeting was held (unsuccessfully), as provided for 

in the agreement, for the purpose of achieving a technical and 

financial solution capable of restoring the sustainability of the 

project. Therefore, arbitration proceedings were brought against 

the Customer and the Municipality of Parma, including a formal 

request for the reinstatement of the economic and financial 

balance: the Arbitration Board was established in October 2016 

and the Court-appointed expert’s report is being prepared, as 

required by the President of the board.

TUSCANY HOSPITALS (OSPEDALI TOSCANI)
This is a project finance order for the construction and 

subsequent operation of four hospitals located in Lucca, 

Massa (Apuane), Prato and Pistoia; Impresa Pizzarotti holds a 

30% stake in the (concessionaire) project company SAT S.p.A., 

a 50% interest in CoSAT Scarl which is responsible for working 

drawings and specifications and construction and a 30% interest 

in GeSAT Scarl which is responsible for managing non-health 

services during the concession period.

In November 2015 the hospital facility in Massa was also 

completed and entered into operation (426 beds) which was 

then added to the Lucca facility (492 beds) – which had been 

operating since 2014, and the facilities located in Pistoia (466 

beds) and Prato (635 beds) which started being operated during 

2013.

The granting authority delivered the areas on which the hospital 

at Massa is to stand in several phases and later than originally 

planned. This caused slippages of 15 months in construction 

times, which were reviewed with the customer, by signing the 

third supplementary agreement. 

Hospital facilities are all in operation and their operations proceed 

normally, as forecasted in the economic and financial plan. 

ENLARGEMENT OF THE CAVAGNARI CENTRE IN PARMA
This is a contract awarded by Cassa di Risparmio di Parma e 

Piacenza S.p.A. to ATI Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A. (agent 

with a 60% interest) and Unieco società cooperativa 

(principal with a 40% interest) for the refurbishment and 

expansion of the Cavagnari Executive Centre in Parma.

At the end of 2016 all the structural works had been completed 

for the new buildings to be used as office space and forum, 

with a progress of 33% on the aggregate amount of works, and 

the laying of external façades and plant engineering had been 

started.

Report on operations

93



ENI TOWERS (“TORRI ENI”)
This is a contract awarded by the Uturn Fund, managed by 

BNP REIM SGR, a Buildit S.p.A - company in which the Parent 

Company holds an 80% interest – for the working drawings 

and specifications and turn-key construction of two office 

buildings, intended to be leased to ENI, at the Europarco 

area in Rome.

The contract involves the construction of two independent 

buildings, mainly intended for offices and related facilities 

(company day nursery, cafeteria, training centre), for a total area 

of over 100,000 square meters and a Gross Usable Area of about 

45,000 square meters.

 

The contract is worth approximately Euro 92 million and the 

expected duration of the works is 600 calendar days for the first 

building and about 730 calendar days for the second building; 

works were started in August 2016. By the end of 2016, the 

progress of works was about 5.8%, in line with the time schedule.

PREFABRICATION SECTOR
During 2016 this sector achieved a final production to about 

Euro 45 million with margins in line with forecasts; this result 

is to be considered positive, especially when compared with the 

performance of the general industrial sector, which continued to 

experience considerable difficulties both on the side of demand 

development and in terms of price trends.

Among the various market segments, prefabricated industrial 

buildings and services market segment are the ones that were 

mostly affected by the market crisis. The poor demand also 

characterized the segment of prefabricated buildings intended 

for infrastructural projects in which the Group had achieved a 

leading position in the last few years.

The production in the railway sector was approximately 

Euro 28 million, down from the previous year as a result of the 

completion of the contract for the supply of railway sleepers for 

the Treviglio-Brescia High Speed line.

In 2016 the major contracts in the railway sector concerned the 

production of sleepers within the context of the “RFI Framework 

Agreement” for the implementation of a maintenance program 

to be carried out on the RFI lines in the three-year period from 

2015 to 2017.

The Group is involved in this important long-term agreement as 

the principal for the ATIs with the installation enterprises, both 

in the Northern Italy area, directly through the Parent Company, 

and in the Southern Italy area, with subsidiary Traversud S.r.l.

As regards the segment of industrial prefabricated buildings and 

services market segments, the projects included the construction 

of a building in Rome intended for large scale retail trade on 

behalf of the cooperative company L’Avvenire 1921 CLA, two 

logistics buildings in Prato on behalf of Nigro Costruzioni S.r.l. , 

an industrial building in Cartoceto (PU) on behalf of MVM S.r.l., 

a logistics building for the expansion of the production district 

of Fontanellato (PR) on behalf of Eiffel S.p.A., a new sales outlet 

in Reggio Emilia on behalf of Decathlon, a warehouse in Borgo 

Panigale (BO) on behalf of Mondo Convenienza and finally a 

prefabricated building in Parma, to be used for the large-scale 

retail food trade sector, on behalf of Despar. 

The subsidiary Traversud S.r.l. generated a final production of 

approximately Euro 11 million in the current year, with a net 

profit of about Euro 2 million.

For the year 2017 no substantial changes are expected in the 

target market and the forecasts account for a confirmation of 

the volumes and of the final margins achieved.

As at the date of this report, two major orders had been gained 

in the railway sector, relating to the RFI DACF 2016/72 tender, 

worth approximately Euro 7.2 million for the production of 

exchange bearers awarded to subsidiary Traversud S.r.l., and to 

the RFI DACF 2016 / 0101T tender, worth about Euro 7.1 million 

for the production of special sleepers awarded to the Parent 

Company Impresa Pizzarotti.

INTERNATIONAL SECTOR 
Geographical diversification is one of the main drivers that 

the Group has identified in order to pursue the objective 

of consolidating growth in size and creating value for its 

shareholders and stakeholders in general, at the same time 

reducing the risk of concentrating on one market.

In conformity to the guidelines that have been laid down, the 

Group will stabilise its position in the markets in which it is 

already present and enter emerging markets, working on 

wide-ranging infrastructural development programmes or with 

a strong potential in the domestic market.

We continued with the policy we have been following 

recently by investing substantially in commercial 

activities and thus obtained contracts for

 Euro 1.5 billion as at the reporting date.

We have supported our increased business activities by 

expanding our head office services in order to meet the complex 

needs of a Group sector in which there are many different 
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operational scenarios. The developments in the works backlog 

in the main countries of operation are commented on below.

FRANCE
2016 saw the completion of the works for the Saint Beat tunnel 

and the Axe Rouge site inside La Timone Hospital in Marseille. 

Works continued for lots 2 and 3 of Metro Line 4 in Paris; three 

additional projects in the framework of the “Grand Paris” 

initiative, the outer circular line for the Paris Underground, 

which is the biggest European infrastructural project to be 

executed between the period from 2015 to 2030, are now being 

started: the construction site of the “Arrière gare of Haussmann 

Saint Lazare” and the two orders gained in 2016 concerning the 

extension of Line 11 and Line 15 Sud. 

These five contracts, worth over Euro 180 million for the 

Pizzarotti’s share, together with the establishment of a substantial 

unit dedicated to the preparation of the bids, represent the basis 

for the planned development of the company within this huge 

infrastructural programme.

In 2016, Impresa Pizzarotti France was awarded the contract for 

the design, construction and maintenance of the Sainte Marie 

psychiatric hospital in Nice for a value of about 86 million Euro 

and a total duration of about 7 years. Pending the signature of 

the relevant contract whose execution is expected in the short 

term, such project is not included in the order backlog. 

PRINCIPALITY OF MONACO 
The Group is present through the investments held in the 

following companies:

• Engeco Sam, a historic Monegasque company that in turn 

holds investments in some companies operating in the sector of 

construction and project management;

• Fine Properties Monte Carlo Sam and Plein Sud Sam, 

which mainly carry out real estate development activities;

• Marex Sam, which holds a minority interest in “Anse du 

Portier”, the promoter of the “Estensione a Mare” initiative.

The major initiatives in the area involve the two prestigious 

real estate projects of La Petite Afrique and Jardin Exotique 

for a total amount of approximately Euro 450 million each; 

the first project was completed in December 2016 with excellent 

results in terms of operations, quality and image, whereas the 

second one is still in the initial phase.

In 2016 the preliminary and design activities were started 

for the implementation of the project named “Estensione 

a Mare “, which provides for the creation of a new portion of 

land going forward into the sea for approximately 6 hectares, 

where residential and commercial buildings will be erected over 

an area of about 100,000 square meters; the aggregate value for 

Engeco in this project is equal to approximately Euro 434 million, 

of which an amount of approximately 330 million is not recorded 

in the order backlog as works were carried out in association 

with other partners through a newco whose governance, to 

date, constitutes a joint control situation.

RUSSIA
In 2016, the main activity concerned the design and preliminary 

activities related to the financial closing of the project company 

Neva Medical Infrastructure, of which the Group is the majority 

shareholder, in the framework of a project finance contract 

of a new hospital in St. Petersburg; the aggregate value, 

including design, construction and operation, will be 

approximately Euro 327 million.

Furthermore, the Group executed an agreement with the 

Moscow regional government and with the Russian Sovereign 

Fund RDIF for the construction of a number of overpasses on a 

project finance basis on the external road network of Moscow 

necessary to relieve the traffic congestion.

At the beginning of 2017, a contract was signed for the design 

and construction of a theme park worth a total of Euro 175 million.

SWITZERLAND
The Group has been historically present in the country 

through its subsidiary Pizzarotti S.A., based in Bellinzona (Ticino 

Canton). At present orders are being executed in Cantons 

Ticino, Graubunden, Geneva and San Gallo on behalf of public 

authorities. Because of the market downturn recorded during 

the last few years, the volumes achieved by Pizzarotti SA in 2016 

showed a slight decline compared to the final values posted in 

previous financial years; although the recent contracts relate to 

contracts concerning not very significant amounts, they allow 

an increase to be expected in volumes in 2017.

ROMANIA
Activities in this country were conducted both through a 

permanent establishment and in a joint venture with regard to 

the following infrastructure projects:

• The construction of the 19.2 km long Bucharest-Braşov 

motorway;  the first 13 km have been completed and delivered 

to the customer. Obstacles arising from the availability of areas 

with respect to the remainder led to a reduction and the early 

termination of the contract. Some legal proceedings are pending 
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from the contract, in February 2016, an additional action was 

consequently taken to claim compensation for damages. The first 

instance of these proceedings was concluded with a judgment 

of inadmissibility due to an allegedly late submission of the 

claim, promptly challenged in second instance proceedings, 

which are still ongoing.

The legal counsels to the constructor believe that, based on the 

outcome of the aforementioned proceedings, there is a concrete 

possibility that an amount in line with the values recognised 

under balance sheet assets will be acknowledged for about Euro 

7 million. In the light of the above considerations and despite 

the uncertainties that are associated with the ongoing legal 

action, it is believed that no significant liabilities will arise from 

the final settlement of the dispute.

• The construction of the 34 Km long railway system in 

the “Vinţu de Jos - Coslariu” section, for a value of Euro 176 

million. The start of works suffered some delays attributable to 

the Romanian railway authority CFR (Căile Ferate Romane), both 

in terms of the availability of work sites and because substantial 

changes had to be made to the construction project.  

The constructor brought proceedings in order to seek for 

compensation of additional costs worth an equivalent of 

approximately Euro 28 million. The Court-appointed expert’s 

report acknowledged an equivalent to approximately Euro 18 

million, an amount that was challenged by the constructor, 

which claimed a discounted amount of about Euro 38.5 million. 

The report currently being updated according to the Court’s 

instructions.

No significant unexpected circumstances should arise, however, 

because the project is financed by the EU Regional Cohesion Fund.

in order to seek payment for higher fees linked to contract 

changes ordered by the customer and to the compensation for 

damages suffered as a result of the instances of non-compliance 

on the part of the customer itself in the performance of the 

contract, mainly due to the extension of the completion date of 

the works because of the unavailability of the related site areas.

The trial judgment handed down in May 2015 was not 

favourable to the constructor, as it granted an amount – for 

the abovementioned reasons – of the equivalent of about Euro 

7.5 million (VAT included), plus interest, against an amount of 

the equivalent of about Euro 62 million as certified by a special 

report prepared by a Court-appointed expert [CTU, Consulenza 

Tecnica d’Ufficio]; the findings of said report were unexpectedly 

neglected, as were the legal arguments on which Impresa 

Pizzarotti had based its claim.

The appellate proceedings were started in June 2015 and ended 

in May 2016 with the partial reversal of the trial judgment and 

the overall payment of the equivalent of about Euro 15.9 million, 

plus VAT, on account of compensation for costs for delay due 

to the late delivery of the areas and fees for additional works. 

The collection of the payment due according to the judgement 

took place in July 2016 for over Euro 10.5 million, including legal 

accessories, plus VAT.

Given the possibility of raising objections against certain 

items of the judgement and the presence of some manifest 

material errors committed by the Court with reference to the 

quantification of the compensation paid, Impresa Pizzarotti has 

brought proceedings in last instance, which were completed in 

November 2016 with a further rejection of the claim. 

Finally, following the customer’s unlawful unilateral withdrawal 

• The construction of the Sebeş-Turda motorway for a total 

amount of about Euro 110 million, which was awarded in 2014 

and whose works have been started.

With regard to this contract, delays in starting the works were 

mainly due to the delayed approval of the project by the 

Customer. At present, the design of two of the three motorway 

sections has been approved, and the works have started 

simultaneously, while the C-sector approval procedures are 

still in progress, for which Impresa Pizzarotti has initiated the 

procedure to settle disputes involving the DAB judgment.

Our commercial activities continued by focusing on some rail 

and motorway infrastructure tenders that are financed by the 

European Union. 

MOROCCO
The activity in the country merely follows the litigation related 

to the execution of a road tunnel in Rabat in order to be paid 

the amounts that have accrued for the works that have been 

completed, in addition to higher compensation for the damage 

caused by the customer. 

The dispute is still in progress: pending the decision of the 

Supreme Court in last instance, concerning the challenge of 

the Appellate judgment that acknowledged an amount of 

approximately Euro 6.2 million against expectations for higher 

financial awards and the disapplication of the penalties unduly 

applied by the customer.

As a result of the current phase of settlement of certain 

transactions at a local level (tax obligations, suppliers), there is the 

intention to establish whether the customer AAVB (Agence pour 

l’Aménagement de la Vallée du Bouregreg) intends to negotiate 
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an amicable settlement of the dispute; this could result in the 

discontinuance of action, against the acknowledgment of some 

credit items that were not granted in the trial proceedings (i.e. 

setting unduly applied penalties to zero) and obtaining an 

indemnity for the release of security deposits still outstanding 

without a reason, in line with the stated availability by the 

Customer and with the support by the on-site diplomatic 

representation. 

LIBYA
In September 2013, the customer REEMP (Ras Ejdyer-Emssad 

Expressway Monitoring Project Management Committee) was 

appointed by the Libyan Government to construct the country’s 

east to west motorway, financed by Italy under the bilateral 

treaty, and signed a contract with the LEC (Libyan Expressway 

Contractors) Consortium, in which Impresa Pizzarotti holds a 

15.5% interest, for the construction of the 401 km long East section 

between Ras Ejdyer and Emssad, for a value of Euro 944.5 million.

In 2013 the customer REEMP asked our consortium to prepare 

the working drawings and specifications adding a third lane 

and the subsequent execution of an additional agreement 

to the main contract. It was expected that the administrative 

formalities and the execution of the additional agreement would 

be completed during the second half of 2014 so that preliminary 

work could start and the site could be set up but at present we 

cannot realistically forecast how long it will take for work actually 

to start on this project owing to very unstable situation in Libya.

ALGERIA
The Group has an established presence in this country and 

operates both through a permanent establishment and 

through a local company, Pizzarotti Algerie Sarl, either 

directly or in association with other European or local partners.

The contract has been recently completed for the construction 

of the Constantine tramway. The contract value amounted to 

a share of about Euro 200 million, as modified by a contract 

addendum signed with the Customer at the end of 2013.

As to the Kef Eddir project, it should be noted that a dispute is 

pending, which has been brought against the customer ANBT 

(Agence Nationale des Barrages et Transferts, National Agency 

for Dams and Transfers) before a civil court, in the specific 

review proceedings to be started shortly; the trial and appellate 

judgments were handed down in favour of the constructor, 

having granted the right to an indemnity of the equivalent of 

about Euro 23 million (excluding VAT) against a portion of the 

receivables accrued for works, as certified by an appropriate 

report prepared by a Court-appointed Expert (Consulente 

Tecnico d’Ufficio) in first instance; to date the amount receivable 

has been collected. 

The proceeding initiated by the customer before the Supreme 

Court ended in March 2015, with the decision to refer the case to 

the Trial Court, which - in case of reinstatement - shall merely use 

the local currency to express the amount in Euro acknowledged 

by the previous trial judgement, thus determining a purely 

formal revision, with no liabilities against the Company.

In March, ANBT filed an appeal with the Court of Algiers, asking 

the trial court not only to express all the values in local currency, 

as well as to annul first-instance and appellate judgments. 

The Consortium appeared before court and raised objections 

concerning the inadmissibility and unreasonableness of the 

Customer’s claims; the legal counsels to the constructor are 

optimistic about the outcome of the trial.

As regards the Ain Turk Project, in March 2015 the G.M.T.P. 

[Groupement Mixte Algero-Italien de Travaux Publics, Algerian-

Italian Grouping for Public Works], of which Impresa Pizzarotti 

is a member and the Customer A.N.A. (Agence Nationale des 

Autoroutes, National Motorway Agency) signed a Memorandum 

of Understanding (Protocole d’Accord), which provides for the 

GMTP to be paid an amount of the equivalent of about Euro 24.3 

million, excluding VAT, collected as of the date hereof, on account 

of acknowledgment of technical claims, discounting and price 

review; this amount does not include additional items due by 

ANA on account of discounting and price review for the works 

to be included in the final accounts, which have been approved 

by the competent bodies (Ministry of Public Works) in July 2016.

KUWAIT
Works are being carried out for the construction of the Al-

Amiri Hospital in Kuwait City, for an overall value of Euro 

290 million, to be completed within a term of 36 months 

through a consortium in which Impresa Pizzarotti participates 

together with other two local partners that hold equal shares.

Furthermore, Impresa Pizzarotti has recently signed the contract 

for the design and construction of the new Maternity 

Hospital, a grand health facility worth Euro 650 million, 

whose design activity and site set-up are under way, while the 

start of the works is expected in the second half of 2017.

SAUDI ARABIA

The Group operates through a 50%-owned local company 

named Pride Saudi Ltd., based in Riyadh.

A sewage tunnel is currently being executed with TBM in 

Riyadh, with a length of 13.8 km and worth about Euro 57 

million, on behalf of the National Water Company and Saudi 
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Tumpane. The works are in progress, despite difficulties mainly 

associated with late payments by the public customer for the 

well-known events of lack of resources attributable to the fall in 

oil prices. Letters of credit have recently been obtained by the 

Customer and the works are now being duly performed. 

 

USA 
December 2014 saw the incorporation of Pizzarotti IBC LLC, 

whose objective is to operate in New York and nearby areas, 

mainly in the civil building field.

Since the establishment of the company, a number of contracts 

were acquired, including the construction of a 65-storey 

tower in Manhattan, which led to a significant portfolio of 

construction contracts, which at the end of 2016 amounted to 

a total of Euro 470 million.

Construction activity is therefore very intense, in the same way 

as the activity of organization and structuring of the company, 

needed to address the significant growth rates recorded in the 

last few months and expected in the future.

The Group also took part in real estate development 

activities for the construction of:

• a real estate complex on W14th Street, which has a 

revenue value of more than USD 90 million; and in which 

the Group holds an interest of 61%, at 31 December 2016;

• a tower of about 65 floors on Broad Street in the Financial 

District, in partnership with the New York Developer Madison 

Equities and other historic Monegasque partners, as well as the 

Chinese Fund Gemdale, within a project that has an estimated 

revenue value of about USD 500 million.  The Group’s interest 

in the General Partner is equal to 20% of the entity which 

holds 50% of the General Partner itself and is in charge of the 

operational management of the project; the remaining shares 

are held by the Chinese Gemdale fund.

POLAND
During the last two years, a sales department was established, 

which will be responsible for monitoring the Polish market 

of tenders in the light of the enormous investments that are 

expected to be made in the infrastructure sector in the next 

years. The first significant results of these investments were 

felt at the time of the execution of three contracts in 2015 

for the design and construction of three motorway lots of 

Highway S5, for a total amount of Euro 195 million. Design 

activities continue according to the plans and the start of the 

construction activity is scheduled for 2017. 

On 13 April 2017, the contract was awarded to the Consortium 

established together with Pizzarotti SA, for the design and 

construction of a lot of the S-61 expressway for a total amount 

of about Euro 142 million.

MOLDAVIA
Commercial investments were also made in Moldavia; in August 

2015 a contract was signed for the upgrade of Road R16 

for an amount of Euro 48 million. Design activities continue 

according to the plans and the start of the construction activity 

is expected shortly. 

MONTENEGRO
At the end of 2015, the Group entered into an agreement 

for the construction of an important tourist Resort in 

Portonovi. This project, over an area of approximately 140 

thousand square meters, provides for the construction of a 

luxury hotel, apartments, villas and a marina. The contract 

amount is Euro 256 million and the construction activities 

began during the first half of 2016.

PERU
In 2014, a sales office was established in Peru; in 2015 a grouping 

of companies, in which the Group holds a share of 48%, signed 

the first contract for the design and construction of a hospital 

for anti-cancer treatments in Lima. 

Additionally, at the beginning of 2016, other two contracts 

were signed for the construction of the hospital in Iquitos, 

worth about Euro 43 million and the hospital of Pucallpa, 

worth about Euro 77 million; in both initiative Impresa Pizzarotti 

is leader with respective interests of 41% and 30%. Design and 

preparation activity is ongoing, as are sales activities related to 

new initiatives in the country. Again in 2016, Impresa Pizzarotti 

Peru, together with other partners, was awarded the works 

concerning the construction of a stadium in Lima for a total 

value of approximately Euro 13 million.

CAMEROON
At the beginning of 2016, the technical and financial proposal 

submitted for the construction of 10,000 social housing 

flats in the capital city Yaoundé, led to the execution of a 

framework agreement with the Government of Cameroon. 

In March 2017, the construction contract was finally signed 

for an amount of approximately Euro 150 million (out of the 

total of Euro 550 million estimated as of today) relating to the 

design, the creation of an industrial base and the construction 

of the first 1000 apartments.
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AUSTRALIA
At the end of 2016, Impresa Pizzarotti signed an agreement 

with the Australian Group Roberts for the establishment of a 

jointly-controlled Newco with the initial goal of entering the 

construction market and, subsequently, the infrastructure 

market.

The local partner is the former owner of Multiplex (one of the 

two major Australian companies) which, after having sold 

the group to the Brookfield Fund in 2007, decided to return 

to the construction market owing to the continued growth 

of the industry and to a gradual reduction in the number of 

competitors. Impresa Pizzarotti has been selected as a partner 

from among various European groups. The Roberts Pizzarotti 

newco started its operations in 2017.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The transactions with related parties carried out in 2016 fall within 

the scope of the Group’s normal course of business and were 

regulated at arms’ length. During the year no transactions were 

carried out, which were considered to be important under the 

applicable regulations.

Among these were the financial investment carried out by the 

Group in the related party FPMC, which developed the Petite 

Afrique real estate project in Monte Carlo, as above illustrated. 

During 2016 Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A. also maintained business 

relations with the Pizzarotti family with regard to contracts for the 

renovation of residential buildings or not significant amounts. 

For any additional information, reference should be made to the 

explanatory notes.

QUALITY, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
In 2016, the certifications of the corporate quality, safety and 

environmental management system were renewed by RINA 

SERVICES, as was the international recognition IQNet. The 

quality, safety and environmental certifications, which have 

been renewed for the seventh (ISO 9001) and fourth time, 

respectively, evidence the renewed efforts of the Company 

towards the satisfaction of internal and external stakeholders 

and, together with the 3 sectors for which we are qualified, 

namely: EA 28 (building company), EA 34 (engineering firms) 

and EA 35 (general contractor), they allow us to operate with no 

limitations on national and international markets.

In fact, Impresa Pizzarotti significantly extended its presence 

in foreign markets and, as a consequence, reorganised the 

International Sector, which, in addition to specific local areas, is 

also comprised of a service area dedicated to the monitoring of 

environmental and safety issues.

In this regard, the “Risk Management Committee”, facilitating 

the implementation of the instructions received from the 

Board of Directors, continued with the activities for the search 

and planning of audit methods, based on risk management 

principles and aimed at streamlining the control process.

In 2016 the activities of the Supervisory Body continued focusing on 

the prevention of the offences laid down under Legislative Decree 

no. 231/2001, through direct checks, as well as, in the process of audit of 

its operations, with the support of the “Risk Management Committee”, 

which fostered an increasingly widespread supervision activity.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES 
No R&D activities were undertaken during the financial year of a 

kind that could be capitalised in these financial statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
No significant events must be reported, which occurred after 

the reporting date, as the normal business operations continued 

in line with forecasts.

30 May 2017 

For the Board of Directors 

The Chairman 

Cav. Lav. Paolo Pizzarotti
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Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
at 31 December 201612





Assets Notes 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Fixed Assets

Property, plant and equipment 1  84,276  83,128 

Intangible assets 2  96,832  100,975 

Equity investments 3  180,387  203,276 

Financial assets 4 **  77,965  72,061 

Other non-current assets 10  21,095  18,281 

Deferred tax assets 5  15,637  12,867 

Total fixed assets  476,192  490,588 

Current assets 

 Inventories 6  238,453  272,485 

Contract work in progress 6  317,754  290,330 

Trade receivables 7  277,479  268,581 

Trade receivables from Group companies 8  67,767  79,980 

 Tax receivables 9  18,537  14,583 

Other current assets 10  54,437  44,839 

Financial assets 4 **  53,241  58,529 

Cash and cash equivalents 11 **  315,091  246,512 

Total current assets  1,342,759  1,275,839 

Assets Held for Sale 26 -  49,441 

Total Assets  1,818,951  1,815,868 

Statement of Financial Position 
 in thousands of Euros

** Items included in the net financial position

Consolidated Financial 
Statements at 31 December 2016 
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Shareholders’ equity and liabilities Notes 31/12/2016          31/12/2015

Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital  248,555  248,555 

Legal reserve  7,876  7,821 

Reserve prescribed by by-laws  43,549  42,516 

Other reserves  136,299  124,649 

 Profit (losses) for the year  1,195  13,225 

 Capital and reserves attributable to minority interests  15,798  3,274 

Profit (loss) attributable to minority interests  36,254  18,232 

Total shareholders’ equity 12  489,526  458,272 

Non-current liabilities 

Bank and other loans 13 **  326,973  354,996 

Long-term portion on finance leases 14 **  7,569  8,042 

Staff severance pay 16  6,027  6,336 

Deferred tax liabilities 17  41,011  47,079 

Provisions for risks and charges 17  51,198  37,984 

Other non-current liabilities 19  64,289  87,281 

Total non-current liabilities  497,067  541,718 

Current liabilities 

 Bank overdraft and short-term portion on loans 13 **  208,976  199,997 

Short-term portion on finance leases 14 **  1,187  1,373 

Financial payables for derivatives 15 **  600  697 

Trade payables to suppliers 20  317,114  255,039 

Payables to Group companies 18  60,140  76,947 

Taxes payable 9  20,457  28,602 

Other current liabilities 19  223,884  214,715 

Total current liabilities  832,358  777,370 

Liabilities Held for Sale 26 -  38,508  

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities  1,818,951  1,815,868 

Consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2016 
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Notes 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Revenues  728,159  771,254 

Other proceeds  52,229  48,519 

Total revenues 21  780,388  819,773

Raw materials and consumables  99,906  91,988 

Costs for services 22  471,157  518,549 

Personnel costs 23  88,647  76,931 

Other operating expenses 22  25,482  21,998 

Amortisation, depreciation and write-downs  30,938  35,618 

Total costs  716,130  745,084

Operating profit  64,258  74,689

Financial income 24  14,524  14,314 

Financial costs 24  (35,280)  (34,889)

Financial assets at fair value 24  (12,936)  (500)

Value adjustments to equity investments  (4,076)  (1,412)

Profit before tax  26,490 52,202

Taxes 25  3,740  2,855 

Net profit - Continued operations  30,230  55,057 

Net profit - Held for Sale Assets 26  7,219  2,500

Minority interests  (36,254)  (44,332)

Net profit  1,195  13,225 

INCOME STATEMENT 
 in thousands of Euros
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31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Consolidated profits (losses) for the year (A)  30,230  55,057 

Accounting for interest rate risk hedging derivatives recognised 
according to the cash flow hedge method  (388)  647 

Related taxes  92  (178)

Accounting for interest rate risk hedging derivatives recognised according to the cash flow hedge method 
and valued at equity

 (571)  186 

Related taxes  37  (51)

Profits (losses) from restatement of financial assets available for sale  (204)  53 

Profits (losses) form translation of financial statements of foreign companies  140  (347)

Total Other comprehensive income (losses) that will be subsequently reclassified to profit for the period, net of 
tax effect (B)  (894)  310 

Profits (losses) from remeasurement of defined-benefit plans (Severance pay)  (54)  125 

Related Taxes  13  (34)

Total Other comprehensive income (losses) that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit for the period, net 
of tax effect (C)  (41)  91 

Consolidated comprehensive income for the year - continued operations (A) + (B) + (C)  29,295  55,458 

Consolidated comprehensive income for the year from discontinued operations (D)  7,219  3,213

Consolidated comprehensive income for the year (A+B+C+D)  36,514  58,671

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent Company  494  14,339 

Minority shareholders of subsidiaries  36,020  44,332 

Consolidated comprehensive income for the year  36,514  58,671 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
 in thousands of Euros

Consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2016 
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31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Net profit - Continued operations  30,230  55,057 

Amortisation and depreciation  13,611  18,535 

Net change in provisions  6,837  240 

Cash flow from current operations  50,678  73,832 

Change in assets and liabilities for the period 

Receivables from customers  3,315  78,548 

Sundry receivables and accrued income and prepaid expenses  (13,552)  (9,971)

Inventories  32,040  60,847 

Payables to suppliers  and Group companies  45,268  (102,132)

Other payables and accrued expenses and deferred income  1,024  28,016 

Change in net working capital  68,095  55,308 

Cash flow from operating activities  118,773   129,140 

Net increases in intangible assets  (1,861)  (291)

Net increases in property, plant and equipment  (8,755)  (12,344)

Increases in non-current financial assets  22,889  (23,015)

Cash flow from investing activities  12,273  (35,650)

Net increases for the "Plein Sud" area acquisition  (2,216)  (17,100)

Net increases for "Fine Properties New York" initiative  (23,216)  (2,112)

Cash flow from Real Estate investing activities  (25,432)  (19,212)

Other changes in shareholders' equity  (6,195)  (56,729)

Other mid- and long-term changes  (28,576)  (40,916)

Cash flow from financing activities  (34,771)  (97,645)

Net cash flow for the period  - continued operations   70,843   (23,367)

Cash flow from operating activities - Held for Sale operations  -  1,623 

Cash flow from investing activities - Held for Sale operations  8,294  (39)

Cash flow from financing activities - Held for Sale operations   -  (2,229)

Net financial position at the beginning of the period  (178,145)  (154,133)

Net cash flow for the period  79,137  (24,012)

Net financial position at the end of the period  (99,008)  (178,145)

Cash flow statement (indirect method) 
 in thousands of Euros
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Notes 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Cash and cash equivalents 11  315,091  246,512 

Financial assets 4  53,241  58,529 

Derivative assets/(liabilities) 15  (600)  (697)

Short-term financial debt 13  (208,976)  (199,997)

Financial debt for finance leases 14  (1,187)  (1,373)

Short-term net financial position  157,569  102,974 

Medium/long-term financial debt 13  (326,973)  (354,996)

Financial debt for finance leases 14  (7,569)  (8,042)

Financial assets 4  77,965  72,061 

Medium/long-term net financial position  (256,577)  (290,977)

Net financial position - continued operations   (99,008)   (188,003)

Held for sale assets - net financial position 26  -    9,858 

Total net financial position  (99,008)  (178,145)

Net financial position 
 in thousands of Euros

Consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2016 
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 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED EQUITY 
 in thousands of Euros

Description
Share 

Capital 
Legal 

Reserve

Reserve 
required by 

Articles of 
Association

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve

Reserve 
for AFS 

Securities 

Reserve for 
Severance 
Pay IAS 19

Translation 
Reserve

FTA 
Reserve

Other 
Reserves

Profit (loss) 
for the year 

Total Equity 
attributable 

to the Group

Equity 
attributable 
to Minority 

Interests Total Equity

Balance as at 31 
December 2014  248,555  7,610  38,508  (7,612)  (7)  (281)  (5)  2,324  108,950  24,385  422,427  37,517  459,944 

Last year result  211  4,008  20,166  (24,385)  -  - 

Increase / Decrease  1,318  54  90  (347)  (1)  1,114  533  1,647 

Dividends  -  (34,800)  (34,800)

Translation of financial state-
ments in foreign currency

 -  (17)  (17)

Other changes  -  41  41 

Current year result  13,225  13,225  18,232  31,457 

Balance as at 31 
December 2015  248,555  7,821  42,516  (6,294)  47  (191)  (352)  2,324  129,115  13,225  436,766  21,506  458,272 

Last year result  55  1,033  12,136  (13,225)  (1)  (1)

Increase / Decrease  (830)  (204)  (41)  377  328  (370)  10,247  9,877 

Dividends  -  (15,660)  (15,660)

Translation of financial state-
ments in foreign currency

 -  (234)  (234)

Other changes  3,881  352  (4,349)  (116)  (61)  (177)

Current year result  1,195  1,195  36,254  37,449 

Balance as at 31 
December 2016  248,555  7,876  43,549  (3,243)  (157)  (232)  377  2,324  137,230  1,195  437,474  52,052  489,526 
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Explanatory notes to the 
consolidated financial 
statements 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A. is the holding company of a 

group which operates on behalf of third parties in the sector 

of public works and major projects through the acquisition 

and performance of contracts. The Group also constructs 

prefabricated buildings for housing and industry and conducts 

real estate business on its own account.

Impresa Pizzarotti forms part of the Mipien Group and is subject 

to the Direction and Coordination activity of Mipien S.p.A., the 

parent company, with registered office in Parma, at Via Anna 

Maria Adorni no. 1 and with a share capital of Euro 300,000,000. 

The essential data from the Parent Company’s last financial 

statements are provided, together with other information, at the 

foot of these notes.

Basis of preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements
The  consolidated annual financial statements have been 

prepared in compliance with the International Accounting 

Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (“IASB”) and endorsed by the European Union. 

The term “IFRS” also includes the International Accounting 

Standards (“IAS”), which are still in force, as well as all the 

interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretation Committee, 

previously called the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) and before that the Standing 

Interpretations Committee (“SIC”).

The consolidated annual financial statements are made up of 

the statement of financial position, the income statement, the 

statement of comprehensive income, the cash flow statement, 

the statement of changes in equity and the explanatory notes.

As regards the method of presentation:

• the statement of financial position shows current and non-

current assets and liabilities separately. Current assets, which 

include cash and cash equivalents, are those intended to be 

realized, transferred or used during the company’s normal 

operating cycle. Non-current assets include credit balances 

with a realization cycle of over twelve months, including 

property, plant and equipment, intangible and financial assets 

and deferred tax assets. Current liabilities include payables 

due within twelve months, including the current portion of 

non-current loans. Non-current liabilities include payables due 

beyond twelve months, including financial payables, provisions 

for personnel and deferred tax liabilities;

• the income statement shows a classification of costs by 

nature;

• the cash flow statement shows cash flows from operating, 

investing and financing activities separately and according to 

the indirect method.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 

the basis of the general principle of historical cost, except for the 

line items which are measured at fair value in compliance with 

IFRS, as stated below in the accounting policies. 

The consolidated statement of financial position, income 

statement, cash flow statement and statement of changes in 

equity are presented in Euros and the amounts are stated in 

thousands of Euros, except as otherwise stated.

The Pizzarotti Group consolidated annual financial statements 

consist of the statement of financial position, the income 

statement and the cash flow statement of the Parent Company, 

Impresa Pizzarotti & C S.p.A., and of the Italian and foreign 

operating companies directly or indirectly controlled by the 

Parent Company.

The consolidated financial statements are those prepared for the 

year ended 31 December 2016, as approved by the corporate 

bodies of the entities included in the consolidation area.

The financial statements included in the consolidated accounts 

have been prepared adopting the same accounting standards 

for each entity as those adopted by the Parent Company, 

carrying out any adjustments to the consolidated accounts 

necessary to make the items homogeneous that are affected by 

the application of different accounting standards.
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PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The financial statements used for consolidation have been 

suitably adapted (standardised) and reclassified in order to 

conform them to the Group’s accounting standards and policies 

in line with the provisions laid down under the current IAS/IFRS.

The financial statements used for translation are those expressed 

in the functional currency, which is the local or any other 

currency in which most of the entity’s financial transactions and 

assets and liabilities are denominated.

The financial statements expressed in foreign currency are 

converted into Euros by applying the year-end exchange rates 

for the items in the statement of financial position and average 

exchange rates for the Income Statement items.

Any differences arising between the exchange rates of opening 

equity and the rates at the end of the year are recognised in the 

reserve from currency translation.

The main exchange rates used for the translation into Euro of the 

economic and equity values of the companies with a functional 

currency other than the Euro were the following:

Currency  Final 2016  Average 2016  Final 2015  Average 2015

CHF Swiss Franc  1.073900  1.090155  1.083500  1.067857 

DZD Dinar Algeria  116.379000  121.097180  116.702000  111.361305 

MDL Leu Moldavie  21.062400  22.052489  21.402200  20.873730 

RON New Leu  4.539000  4.490426  4.524000  4.445414 

RUB Rouble Russia  64.300000  74.144565  80.673600  68.072032 

USD Dollar USA  1.054100  1.106903  1.088700  1.109512 

The consolidation principles may be summarised as follows:

• as the subsidiaries’ accounting standards are the same as the 

Group’s, they are consolidated on a line-by-line basis; according 

to this method:

(i) the full amounts of the assets, liabilities, costs and revenues in 

the subsidiaries’ financial statements are recognised regardless 

of the amount of interest held;

(ii) the carrying amount of the equity investments is written off 

against their shares of equity;

(iii) any transactions concerning receivables/payables and costs/

revenues among the companies consolidated on a line-by-line 

basis, including dividends distributed within the Group, are 

written off;

(iv) minority interests are reported under the appropriate equity 

item and the share of profit or loss attributable to minority 

interests is similarly reported separately in the Income Statement.

• investments in associates are valued at equity, whereby their 

carrying amounts are adjusted in order to account for:

(i) the investor’s share of the investee’s results after the acquisition 

date;

(ii) the variations deriving from changes in the investee’s equity 

that have not been recognised in the Income Statement in 

accordance with the relevant standards;

(iii) the dividends distributed by the investee;

(iv) any capital gain paid on acquisition (measured according to 

the same policies as specified in the paragraph on “Accounting 

policies” with reference to goodwill);

(v) the share of results obtained from applying the equity 

method are reported in the Income Statement;

(vi) the Group’s accounting standards are homogenised if 

necessary.

Dividends, revaluations, write-downs, losses on equity 

investments in entities included in the consolidation area, as 

well as capital gains and capital losses on intragroup sales of 

equity investments in entities included in the consolidation area 

are written off.

Any profits and losses arising from transactions between 

companies included in the consolidation area that are not 

obtained directly or indirectly through transactions with third 

parties are written off on the basis of the ownership percentage.

The financial statements of some subsidiaries which are not very 

significant have not been consolidated: these investments are 

measured as set out in the note on “equity investments”.

Explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Business combinations 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for according to 

the method set out under IFRS 3. Acquisition cost is the sum 

of the fair values on the date on which control is obtained of 

the assets sold and the liabilities incurred or assumed, of the 

equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for the 

control over the acquiree and the costs directly attributable to 

the combination.

The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 

acquiree that meet the conditions for recognition according to 

IFRS 3 are recognised at fair value on the acquisition date, except 

for non-current assets (or disposal groups), which are classified as 

held for sale according to IFRS 5 and are entered and measured 

at the lower of purchase value and fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill from acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially 

measured at cost. It is the excess of acquisition costs (calculated 

as set out above) over the Group’s share of the current amounts 

of the recognised identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities. If, after the restatement of these values, the Group’s 

share of the current amounts of the identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities exceeds the acquisition cost, the 

excess is recognised through profit or loss.

Minority shareholders’ interests held in the acquiree are initially 

measured at the same value as that of their share of the current 

amounts of the recognised assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities.

If a business combination is carried out in more than one phase, 

with successive acquisitions of shares or quotas, each transaction 

is treated separately, using cost and information regarding 

the fair value of each transaction to determine any additional 

portion of goodwill. When a subsequent acquisition allows the 

entity to obtain control over an entity, the portion previously 

held is revalued on the basis of the fair value of the identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, determined on the 

date of the said subsequent acquisition. A contra-entry for this 

revaluation is recognised under the Group’s equity. 

Acquisitions after control has been obtained no longer give rise 

to revaluations of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities at fair value; any positive or negative difference 

between acquisition cost and the additional portion acquired 

in the entity’s net assets is recognised under equity. If quotas are 

sold that do not give rise to the loss of control, any difference 

between the sale price and the carrying amounts of the assets 

sold is recognised through profit or loss.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

on a going-concern basis, which the directors consider 

appropriate given the Group’s performance. The accounting 

standards adopted in these Financial Statements are the same 

as those adopted in the previous financial year, except as stated 

in the paragraph on “Accounting standards, amendments and 

interpretations applicable from 1 January 2016” below. The 

most important accounting standards and policies adopted are 

described below.

Interests in joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more 

parties contractually share the control over an arrangement, that 

is to say when the decisions on the relevant activities related to 

such arrangement require the unanimous approval of all parties.

As regards the procedures for the measurement and recognition in the 

financial statements, the IFRS 11 provides for different methods for:

JOINT OPERATION (JO): a joint arrangement whereby the 

parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and 

obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement

JOINT VENTURE (JV): a joint arrangement whereby the parties 

that have joint control have rights to the net assets of the 

arrangement.

The wording of the IFRS11 as regards the distinction between 

JOs and JVs is, therefore, based on the rights and obligations 

arising from the co-venturers in relation to the jointly controlled 

investment, that is to say on the substance of the relationship 

and not on its legal form.

As regards the recognition in the consolidated financial 

statements of the JVs, IFRS 11 requires, as the only consolidation 

criterion, the Equity method.

As regards the JOs, given that the parties to the arrangement share 

the rights to the assets and assume the obligations for the liabilities 

linked to the arrangement, IFRS11 requires that each joint operator 

must recognise in its financial statements the proportional value of 

assets, liabilities, costs and revenues related to the JO.

Some entities (defined as Special Purpose Vehicles or SPVs), which 

had been consolidated on a proportional basis in the Consolidated 

Financial Statements at 31 December 2013, could not be defined 

unequivocally as a “joint operation” and were therefore described as 

“joint ventures”, consequently recognised according to the equity 

method as from the 2014 financial year. This also became necessary 

because, as required by IAS 11 and its related interpretations, they 

are structured as separate vehicles and their legal status as a vehicle 
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prevails over other contractual arrangements or specific facts or 

circumstances.

However, it should be noted that:

• these SPVs cannot take part in tenders since, as they do not exist 

before the tender itself, they do not have the technical references 

that the calls for tender require entrants to satisfy. These references 

and the necessary financial position, performance and cash flow 

requirements are satisfied by the partners which afterwards set up 

an SPV together;

• SPVs cannot perform any types of activity other than that strictly 

intended by their shareholders, which is to fulfil the obligations 

under their contract with the customer, which they must do in the 

sole interest of these shareholders;

• the shareholders are the only entities with joint and several and 

unlimited liability to the customer for the performance of the 

contract either directly or by the SPV; the shareholders and not the 

SPV provide the customer with all the guarantees required under 

the contract;

• shares in an SPV can only be transferred to other shareholders with 

the customer’s permission, irrespective of the legal form in which 

the vehicle has been formed;

• on the termination of the contract it is to the shareholders, and 

not to the SPV, that the customer issues the contractually agreed 

technical references as confirmation of the completion of the works.

Title to the revenues from the execution of the contract works is 

held by the shareholders as their direct entitlement, on the basis of 

the shares in the SPV that they have stated in the tender procedure. 

Accordingly, the Group also assumes the direct obligations to pay 

the costs attributable to the contract in the same proportion as its 

share in the vehicle.

The Group considers that the above, up to now, is the best 

interpretation of the application of the IFRS 11, without this ruling 

out different interpretations in the future, which may impact on 

some Group ratios. Nevertheless such potential impacts are not 

expected to affect either the Group’s net profit or its assets.

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recognised according to the 

cost method and are entered at purchase price or production 

cost, including any additional costs directly attributable to 

making the assets ready for use. Purchase price or production 

cost is recognised net of government capital grants, which are 

recognised when the conditions for their being granted have 

been satisfied.  

Property, plant and equipment are systematically depreciated 

on a straight-line basis over their useful life, which is an estimate 

of the time the asset is expected to be used by the entity. Should 

a tangible asset consist of more than one important part with 

different useful lives, depreciation is calculated separately for 

each part. The depreciable amount is the entry value, less its 

presumable net realisable value at the end of its useful life, if 

this is significant or can be calculated reasonably. Land is not 

depreciated, even if it is acquired together with a building.

The costs of improvement, modernisation and transformation 

which increase the useful life of property, plant and equipment 

are recognised under the appropriate item and depreciated 

over the asset’s residual useful life.

The costs of the replacement of identifiable components of 

complex assets are recognised under balance sheet assets and 

depreciated over their useful life; the residual entry value of 

the component that has been replaced is recognised through 

profit or loss. Maintenance and repair costs are recognised in 

the income statement for the period in which they have been 

incurred.

When events occur that lead it to presume that there is 

an impairment of property, plant and equipment, their 

recoverability is verified by comparing its entry value with its 

recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value, net of 

disposal costs, and value in use.

In the absence of a binding sale agreement, fair value is 

estimated on the amounts observed in an active market, in 

recent transactions or on the basis of the best information to 

hand for an estimate of how much the entity could obtain from 

selling the asset.

Value in use is calculated discounting the expected cash flows 

arising from the use of the asset or, if they are significant and can 

be calculated reasonably, from its sale at the end of its useful 

life. Cash flows are determined on the basis of reasonable and 

supportable assumptions that represent the best estimate of 

the future economic conditions that will exist over the asset’s 

remaining useful life. The discounting rate takes the risk inherent 

in the entity’s business sector into account.

When the reasons for write-downs no longer exist, assets are 

revalued and the adjustment is recognised in profit and loss as 

a revaluation (reinstatement of value) up to the amount of the 

write-down previously recognised (or at the lower of recoverable 

value and entry value, gross of previous write-downs) less the 

depreciation rates that would have been applied if no write-

down had been recognised.

Depreciation begins when the asset is ready for use and is 

calculated on the basis of the remaining possibility of its use 

Explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements
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over its useful life. The useful life estimated by the Group for the 

various classes of assets is as follows:

Years

Buildings 20 - 33

Plant and machinery 4 - 10

Sundry and small equipment 3 - 5

Other assets 5 - 8

on a straight-line basis through profit or loss over the term of 

the agreement.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable assets without physical 

substance, controlled by an entity and able to produce future 

economic benefits. They also include goodwill acquired for a 

consideration. 

These assets are recognised at cost, calculated according to the criteria 

for property, plant and equipment. Development costs are capitalised 

provided that the cost can be reliably determined and that the asset 

can be shown to be able to produce future economic benefits; at 

the end of the period, however, costs of this type which have been 

incurred do not meet the requirements for capitalisation.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are systematically 

amortised from the time that they are ready for use over their 

useful life, taken as an estimate of the period during which the 

entity expects to utilise them. The recoverability of their entry 

value is verified adopting the criteria set out in the paragraph on 

“Impairment of assets” below.

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation: the recoverability 

of its entry value is checked at least once a year (through an 

impairment test) and in any case when events occur that 

indicate a possible impairment loss.

Other intangible assets also include contract acquisition costs, 

which are amortised on the basis of the progress of the work 

involved.

Service concession arrangements 

Service concession arrangements are the subject of IFRIC 12, 

which regulates the method for recognising and measuring 

concession agreements between a public sector entity and 

a private enterprise. The Pizzarotti Group has applied IFRIC 12 

since the 2010 financial year.

IFRIC 12 applies to service concession arrangements if the 

following conditions are satisfied:

(i) the grantor controls or regulates what services the operator 

must provide with the infrastructure, to whom it must provide 

them and at what price; and

(ii) the grantor controls – through ownership or in another way 

– any residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the term 

of the arrangement.

Measurement of revenues from concession agreements: the 

operator acts as a service provider (constructing and managing 

the work) and must recognise revenues from construction 

services and upgrading in accordance with IAS 11, Construction 

Contracts, and revenues from the operation of the infrastructure 

as required by IAS 18, Revenue”.

The grantor pays the operator a consideration for the 

construction/upgrading services that it provides. The 

consideration must be recognised at fair value and may consist 

in rights to:

(a) a financial asset (financial asset model);

(b) an intangible asset (intangible asset model).

The main innovation in IFRIC 12 is that the operator must not 

report the transferable infrastructure under property, plant and 

equipment in that it does not have “control” over it, as described 

in paragraph 5 of IFRIC 12.   

Leasehold improvements are classified under property, plant and 

equipment on the basis of the cost incurred. The depreciation 

period is the lower of the tangible asset’s residual useful life and 

the residual lease term.

Leased property, plant and equipment

Assets held under finance leases, through which all the risks and 

rewards attached to the ownership are substantially transferred 

to the company, are recognised as company assets and classified 

under property, plant and equipment, while the corresponding 

liability to the lessor is reported under financial payables; the 

lease payments are apportioned between the financial costs, 

recognised through profit or loss, and the repayment of capital, 

entered as a reduction in the financial payable. The value of the 

leased asset is determined as its fair value or, if lower, the present 

amount of lease payments.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over a period of time 

defined as the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the 

lease term.

Lease agreements under which the lessor retains all the risks and 

rewards attached to the ownership of an asset are considered to 

be operating leases, the payments under which are recognised 
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The right to use the infrastructure in order to provide the service, 

which is the asset to recognise according to IFRIC 12, is classified 

as a financial asset when there is an unconditional right to receive 

payment regardless of the actual use of the infrastructure and as 

an intangible asset when there is a right to charge users for the 

utilisation of the public service.

If the operator is paid for the construction services partly with a financial 

asset and partly with an intangible asset, the accounting model is a 

mixed one: in these cases the financial asset component of the agreed 

consideration must be separated from the intangible asset component.

Specifically, IFRIC 12 requires the operator to calculate the 

amount of the financial asset first and after this (with reference 

to the value of the construction and/or upgrading services 

provided) the amount of the intangible asset.

The concessions that the Group holds regard the design, 

construction and management of students’ residences. The 

findings of the analysis of these concessions showed that the 

latter are accounted for either according to the financial asset 

model or to the intangible asset model. 

The right to payments under Concession agreements that 

fall under the financial asset model have been determined 

discounting the cash flows arising from the unconditional 

right to receive payment, regardless of the extent to which the 

infrastructure is actually used, at a rate of interest including time 

value and counterparty risk. 

The amount calculated in this way was compared with the 

fair value of the construction service and the amount of the 

difference up to the said fair value is recognised under financial 

assets; the tangible asset (represented by freely transferable 

assets) previously reported was written off when the financial 

asset was recognised.

Equity investments

Equity investments in associates are valued at equity.

Payables to subsidiaries, associates and other companies 

for capital contributions that have been subscribed but not 

yet called in by their respective Corporate Bodies have been 

reclassified, as in previous financial years, as a direct reduction 

in their respective carrying amounts of the equity investments 

concerned.

Equity investments in entities other than subsidiaries, associates, 

joint operations or joint ventures have been classified at the 

time of acquisition under “Equity investments” and fall within 

the category of financial assets “available for sale” according 

to IAS 39. As these investments are mainly in consortia and 

consortium companies in which the Company holds a lower 

than 20% interest, these financial assets, according to IAS 39, are 

recognised under non-current assets and are measured at cost, 

adjusted for impairment losses in that their fair value cannot be 

determined.

Impairment of assets

IAS 36 requires entities to conduct impairment tests on property, 

plant and equipment and intangible assets if there is evidence 

of any possible impairment.

Impairment tests are conducted on goodwill, any other 

intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and assets not 

available for use at least once a year. The recoverability of the 

amounts recognised is verified by comparing the carrying 

amount with the higher of net sale price, if there is an active 

market, and value in use of the asset.

Value in use is determined by discounting the expected cash 

flows from the utilisation of the asset or cash generating unit, 

as well as from the amount expected to be received when it is 

disposed of at the end of its useful life.

Cash generating units have been identified in accordance with 

organisational and business structure as homogeneous units 

that generate independent cash inflows deriving from the 

continuing use of the assets that belong to them.

Inventories

Inventories of goods are recognised at the lower of average 

purchase cost and market value. Costs include additional 

costs; market value is calculated taking account of the cost 

of replacement of the assets. Any write-downs are written off 

in subsequent financial years if the reasons that made them 

necessary no longer exist.

Investment property 

Investment property is measured at the lower of cost, plus any 

additional costs incurred, and presumed realisable value. The 

costs incurred are the cost of acquiring the area and additional 

costs, construction costs and the financial costs of the project 

until completion. They are classified under final inventories in 

the financial statements.

Work in progress

Work in progress is the work carried out net of invoices issued to 

the customer as advance payments during execution. 

Work in progress is measured on the basis of the consideration 

agreed with the customers by reference to the percentage of 

completion of the contract. Revenues from contract work in
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progress are recognised using the percentage-of-completion 

method.

Percentage of completion is calculated using the “cost to cost” 

method, which, in its turn, is calculated applying the percentage 

of completion to expected total revenue as the ratio between 

costs incurred and total expected costs.

If there is more than one contract under which work is 

apportioned among more than one order which are closely 

interrelated from the point of view of design inasmuch as they 

belong to a single design with an overall profit margin and, 

as regards their timing, are to be executed simultaneously or 

in a continuous sequence, the contract must be treated and 

measured as a single order (this is the combining construction 

contracts procedure).

A provision for risks is set aside to reduce the costs of work in 

progress in order to meet possible charges or losses on contracts 

for projects both conducted by the Group alone or with other 

entities.

Should the analysis of one or more orders conducted on the basis 

of the percentage-of-completion, invoices issued for advance 

payments, including any losses that have been recognised, give 

a negative difference, the result is recognised as a liability.

Work in progress is measured adopting the best estimate of the 

amount of work executed on the reporting date; the assumptions 

at the basis of the valuations are revised periodically and any 

economic effects are accounted for in the financial year in which 

the revisions are made.

If events occur after the financial statements have been closed 

but before they have been approved which provide further 

evidence regarding possible profits or losses on the contract, 

these further evidence is considered in calculating final contract 

revenues or costs in order to take profits or losses into account.

Should the expected cost of completing the work be higher 

than the expected revenue, the final loss is accounted for in full 

in the financial year in which the circumstance becomes known.

All the costs directly attributable to the contract are taken into 

account in valuing the work in progress, in addition to contract 

risks and revision clauses when they can be determined 

objectively. Contract costs, which fall within the scope of cost-

to-cost calculation, also include:

• pre-operating costs, which are all the costs incurred in the initial 

phase of the contract before construction starts. This category 

comprises the costs of design and studies specifically related to 

the contract concerned, costs of organisation and start-up and 

site installation costs. These pre-operating costs are included in 

the calculation of progress payments and are taken into account 

in the calculation of cost-to-cost at the time they are incurred; 

during the initial phase of the contract they are recognised as 

items in the value of work in progress, if recoverable, without 

recognising the profit margin if it cannot be estimated reliably.

• post-completion costs, which are the site dismantling costs 

generally incurred after completion in order to remove the 

installations (or the entire site) and to take the equipment and 

plants back to their places or transfer them to another site. This 

item also includes losses on abandoned materials and the cost 

of transporting unused materials. They must be included in cost 

estimates and are thus also taken into account in work progress 

reports if they are incurred during the term of the contract. No 

specific provisions, therefore, are set aside through profit or loss.

Finally, contract costs also include the financial costs of loans 

specifically related to the work executed on a project finance 

basis, as well as of the General Contractor; in fact, as early as 

during the tender phase, specific clauses in the individual 

contracts lay down special payment terms which entail recourse 

to financing of invested capital.

When the outcome of a long-term contract cannot be estimated 

reliably, the value of work in progress is calculated on the basis of 

the costs incurred when it is reasonable to expect that these will 

be recovered, without recognising any profit margin.

Claims submitted to the customers are taken into account in 

valuing the work in progress when there is a reasonable basis for 

expecting them to be met (e.g. arbitration awards, enforceable 

judgments, etc.). The amounts of claims that refer to closed 

contracts are recognised under receivables from customers.

Financial assets

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value, determined at 

the transaction date, and are reported, upon initial recognition, 

under one of the following categories and measured as stated:

• available-for-sale financial assets: 

these are non-derivative financial instruments explicitly classified 

in this category, included in non-current assets unless the 

management intends to sell them within 12 months after the 

reporting date. These financial assets are measured at fair value 

and profits or losses from valuation are charged to an equity 

reserve; they are only recognised through profit or loss when 

they are actually sold or, when there are cumulative negative 

changes, when the impairment loss already recognised under 

equity is considered to be permanent or significant (market price 

on the reporting date at least 30% lower than purchase cost or a 

below cost market price lasting for more than 24 months).

These financial assets are derecognised from the statement 

of financial position when the right to receive cash flows from 

the instrument has ceased and the company has substantially 

transferred all the risks and rewards relating to the instrument 

itself and related control. If fair value cannot be determined 
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reliably, such instruments are retained in the financial statements 

at cost, adjusted for impairment losses. Such impairment losses 

cannot be reversed; 

• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 

this category includes financial assets acquired mainly to be sold 

in the short term. Price quotations on the closing date of the 

period observed are used to determine the fair value of financial 

instruments listed in an active market. 

If there is no active market, fair value is determined referring to 

prices quoted by external operators using valuation techniques 

mainly based on objective financial variables and taking into 

account prices observed in recent transactions and the price 

quotations of similar financial instruments. If fair value cannot be 

determined reliably, the instruments are retained in the financial 

statements at cost, adjusted for impairment losses. Financial 

instruments in this category are classified under current assets 

or liabilities if they are “held for trading” or if they are expected to 

be sold within twelve months after the reporting date;

• loans and receivables: 

these are non-derivative financial instruments not listed in an 

active market with expected fixed or determinable payments. 

They are included among current items (when they are due 

within normal credit terms), except those due beyond twelve 

months after the reporting date, which are classified under non-

current items. These assets are measured at amortised cost. If 

there is objective evidence of impairment losses, the asset is 

written down correspondingly and the impairment losses are 

recognised through profit or loss. If the reasons for previous 

write-downs cease to exist in subsequent periods, the value 

of the assets is reversed up to the amount resulting from the 

application of amortised cost if the asset had not been written 

down.

Financial assets are derecognised from the statement of 

financial position when the right to receive the cash flows from 

the instrument has ceased and the company has substantially 

transferred all the risks and rewards relating to the instrument 

itself and related control.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities arising from loans, trade payables and other 

payment obligations, are initially recognised at fair value, net 

of directly-attributable additional costs and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost applying the effective interest rate 

method. Should there be a change in expected cash flows and 

should it be possible to estimate them reliably, the amounts of 

loans are recalculated to reflect the change on the basis of the 

present value of the expected new cash flows and the internal 

rate of return initially calculated. Financial liabilities are classified 

under current liabilities, unless the entity has an unconditional 

right to defer their settlement for at least 12 months after the 

reporting date. Financial liabilities are derecognised from 

the financial statements when they are paid off or when the 

company has transferred all the risks and charges relating to the 

instrument itself.

Own shares

Own shares are classified as a direct reduction in equity. 

Derivatives

Derivatives are used as hedges in order to reduce interest 

rate risk. Under IAS 39, a derivative may only qualify for hedge 

accounting if it is formally designated as a hedge at inception, 

if there is documentation of the hedging relationship, if it is 

presumed that the hedge is highly effective, if its effectiveness 

can be measured reliably and if the hedge is highly effective 

during the different accounting periods in which it is intended 

to be used.

All derivatives are measured at fair value as required by IAS 39. 

When a financial instrument qualifies for hedge accounting, the 

following methods of accounting for it are applied:

• Fair value hedge - If a derivative is designated as a hedge 

against exposure to changes in the current value of an asset 

or liability in the financial statements arising from a particular 

risk that could affect the income statement, any profit or loss 

arising from subsequent changes in the fair value of the hedging 

instrument is recognised through profit or loss. 

The hedged item is adjusted at its fair value in relation to the 

hedged risk against an entry in the income statement. 

• Cash flow hedge - If a derivative is designated as a hedge 

against exposure to changes in the cash flows from an asset 

or a liability recognised in the financial statements or from 

a transaction that is forecast to be highly probable and such 

changes could affect profit and loss, the effective portion of the 

change in the fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised 

under equity in the Cash Flow Hedge reserve. Accumulated 

profits or losses are reclassified from equity to profit or loss 

when the underlying has effects on the income statement. The 

ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised through profit or 

loss immediately. If the hedged transaction is no longer deemed 

probable, any profits and losses not yet realised and retained in 

equity are recognised through profit or loss immediately. 

If a derivative does not qualify for hedge accounting because it 

does not meet the formal and substantive requirements of IAS 39, 

it is measured at fair value against an entry through profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

These include cash on hand and short-term at sight bank deposits.
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Assets / Liabilities associated with disposal groups

Assets and liabilities associated with disposal groups, the book 

value of which will be recovered mainly through the sale rather 

than through their continuous use, are recognised separately from 

the other assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Prior to being classified under disposal groups, they are 

recognised based on the specific relevant IFRS applicable to 

each asset and liability, and then entered at the lower of book 

value and presumed fair value, net of related costs to sell. Any 

losses are immediately recognised through profit or loss.

The overall financial effects of these transactions, net of any 

related tax effect, are recognised separately under a single item 

of the income statement.

Employee benefits 

The provision for staff severance pay (Trattamento di Fine 

Rapporto, TFR) is recognised at the actuarial value of the 

liability determined according to current law, collective labour 

agreements and supplementary company agreements. 

Professional actuaries calculate actuarial value based on 

demographic, financial and turnover variables.

Any profits and losses arising from actuarial calculations are 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as 

required by IAS 19. 

Provisions  for  risks  and  charges
Provisions for risks and charges are made to cover liabilities whose 

existence is certain or likely but whose amount or timing are 

uncertain on the reporting date. Provisions are recognised when:

• there is a present obligation, either legal or implicit, arising from 

past events;

• the settlement of the obligation is likely to result in an outflow of 

cash;

• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are recognised at the value representing the best 

estimate of the amount that the company would pay to settle the 

obligation or to transfer it to a third party at the closing date of the 

period. When the time value of money is material and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the dates on which the obligations will 

be settled, the provision is discounted at the entity’s average debt 

rate; the increase in the provision as a result of the lapse of time is 

recognised through profit or loss under “Financial income/costs”.

Provisions are reviewed periodically to reflect changes in estimates 

of cost, settlement times and the discount rate; the results of 

revised estimates are recognised under the income statement 

item to which the provisions were previously charged.

Recognition of revenues and costs other than contract 
work in progress

Revenues from sales and services are recognised when the risks 

and rewards attached to the ownership have been actually 

transferred or when the service has been rendered in full. 

The allocations of revenues relating to services that have been 

partially rendered are recognised to the amount of accrued 

consideration, provided the stage of completion of the 

service can be reliably determined and there are no material 

uncertainties regarding the amount or existence of the revenue 

or the costs attributable to it; otherwise, they are recognised 

within the limits of the recoverable costs incurred.

Costs are recognised on an accruals basis.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised when the Shareholders’ right to 

receive the payment arises - this usually corresponds to the 

date on which the Shareholders ‘meeting approves the related 

resolution.

Current taxes and deferred tax liabilities

Income taxes accrued in the period are calculated on the basis of 

an estimate of taxable income and current rules, and are measured 

in accordance with the prescribed tax rate on the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the basis of 

the temporary differences between the amounts of the assets 

and liabilities recognised in the financial statements and the 

corresponding amounts recognised for tax purposes. Deferred 

tax assets are recognised when their recoverability is likely.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified under non-current 

assets and liabilities.

As regards the recognition of transactions directly under equity, 

the deferred tax effect is also recognised under equity.

Translation of foreign currency items

The following is a summary of the policies for the translation of 

foreign currency items:

• monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency, excluding 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and equity 

investments valued at cost, are measured at the spot rate on the 

reporting date, recognising changes through profit or loss;

• property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and equity 

investments (non-monetary assets) are recognised at historical 

costs expressed in foreign currency and are converted at the 

historical rate;
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• revenues and costs from currency transactions are recognised 

through profit or loss at the rate on the day on which the 

transaction is carried out;

• any significant effects of changes in rates occurring after 

the reporting date are presented in the notes to the financial 

statements.

Use of estimated values

The application of international accounting standards (IAS/

IFRS) in the preparation of the financial statements means that 

the Company’s Management must make accounting estimates 

based on complex and/or subjective judgments based on past 

experience and assumptions that are considered reasonable 

and realistic on the basis of the information to hand at the time 

of the estimate. The utilisation of these accounting estimates 

affects the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures 

regarding contingent assets and liabilities on the reporting date, 

as well as the amount of revenues and costs during the relevant 

period. The actual results may differ from those estimated owing 

to the uncertainty surrounding the assumptions and conditions 

on which the estimates are based. 

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and 

the effects of each change are recognized immediately in the 

Income Statement.

Segment information
During the year 2014 Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A. placed a 

non-convertible bond issue of € 100 million with European 

institutional investors (Euro Private Placement), admitted to 

trading on the multi-lateral trading facility managed by the Irish 

Stock Exchange. 

At present these securities are not traded neither the Irish Stock 

Exchange gives any quotation with reference to the market 

value of the same. 

In addition, in order to obtain information about the market 

prices on 31 December 2016 and the following months of the 

aforementioned bond, some leading international agencies 

made researches which did not provide guidance on this point. 

Considering the above, IFRS 8 principles are deemed no longer 

applicable and accordingly in these financial statements sectoral 

information are not provided.

Accounting standards, amendments 
and interpretations applicable 
from 1 January 2016 
a) New accounting standards and amendments effective 
from 1 January 2016 and adopted by the Group:

The Group has been applying the following new accounting 

standards, amendments and interpretations as revised by the 

IASB since 2016:

• Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits. On 21 

November 2013 the IASB published an amendment to IAS 19 

regarding defined-benefit plans for employees. The aim of the 

amendments made is to simplify the method of accounting for 

contributions that are independent of the number of years of 

service, such as contributions calculated according to a fixed 

percentage of salary. 

• Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets. On 12 May the IASB published 

an amendment to the standards, specifying that the method of 

depreciation and amortisation based on the revenues generated 

by the asset is not deemed appropriate, in that it only reflects the 

revenue flows generated by the asset and not the way that the 

future economic benefits embodied in the asset are consumed.

• Amendment to IAS 27 - Separate Financial Statements. 

On 12 August 2014 the IASB published this amendment, which 

will allow an entity to use the equity method to account for 

investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their 

separate financial statements. 

• Amendment to IAS 1: Disclosure initiative - On 18 December 

2014 the IASB published the amendment in question, which is 

aimed at introducing clarifications in IAS 1 to address some of 

the elements that are perceived as limitations on the use of 

judgment by the parties that prepare the financial statements.

• On 12 December 2012 the IASB issued a set of amendments 
to IAS/IFRS “Annual improvements to 2010-2012 cycle”, 
including amendments to: (i) IFRS 2, clarifying the definition of 

“vesting condition” and introducing the definitions of “service 

and performance conditions”; (ii) IFRS 3, clarifying that the 

obligations to pay a contingent consideration, other than those 

that meet the definition of equity instrument, are measured 

at fair value through profit or loss on each reporting date; (iii) 

IFRS 8, requiring disclosures of the valuations carried out by 

the company’s management in aggregating the operating 

segments by describing the aggregated segments and the 

economic indicators that have been measured to determine that 

aggregated segments have similar economic characteristics: (iv) 

IAS 16 and IAS 38, clarifying the method to determine the gross 

carrying amount of assets in the event of a revaluation following 

the application of the revaluation model; (V) IAS 24, providing 

the information that is required when there is a third party that 

delivers key personnel management services of the entity that 

prepares the financial statements.
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• Amendment to IFRS 11 – Joint arrangements. On 6 May 

2014 the IASB issued an amendment to the standard, which adds 

new guidance on the method to account for the acquisition of 

an investment in joint ventures that constitute a business.

b)  New accounting standards and amendments effective 
from 1 January 2016, but not relevant to the Group:

• Amendment to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 - Investment 

Entities: Applying the consolidation exception. On 18 December 

2014, the IASB issued the amendments in question, addressing 

the issues arising from the application of the consolidation 

exception required for investment entities.

• Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sales or contributions 

of assets between an investor and its associate or joint 

venture. On 11 September 2014 the IASB published the 

amendments in question, which are aimed at eliminating the 

conflict between the requirements under IAS 28 and IFRS 10 and 

at clarifying that, in a transaction involving an associate or joint 

venture, the extent to which it is possible to recognise a profit or 

loss depends on whether the asset being sold or transferred is a 

business.

c) New accounting standards and amendments not yet 
applicable and not early adopted by the Group

• IFRS 2 – Share-based payments. On 21 June 2016, the IASB 

published the amendments to the standard, which intend to 

clarify the method of accounting for some types of share-based 

payment transactions. The amendments will be applicable from 

1 January 2018; early application is permitted.

• IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments.  On 12 November 2009 the 

IASB published this standard, which was first amended on 28 

October 2010 and again in the middle of December 2011. The 

standard, which is applicable from 1 January 2018, is the first 

part of a process in various phases whose aim is to replace 

IAS 39 and which introduces new policies for the classification 

and measurement of financial assets and liabilities and for 

the derecognition of financial assets. In particular, as regards 

financial assets, the new standard uses a single approach based 

on the methods for managing financial instruments and on the 

features of the contractual cash flows from financial assets in 

order to determine the accounting policy, replacing the various 

rules laid down in IAS 39. As regards financial liabilities, however, 

the major amendment related to the accounting treatment 

of the changes in fair value of a financial liability designated 

as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss when 

these are due to a change in the credit rating of these liabilities. 

According to the new standard, these changes have to be 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and no 

longer be taken to profit or loss. 

• On 30 January 2014 the IASB published IFRS 14, Regulatory 
Deferral Accounts, the interim standard in the Rate-
regulated activities project. IFRS 14 only allows first-time 

adopters of IFRS to continue to recognise rate-regulated activities 

amounts according to the previous accounting principles. In 

order to improve comparability with the entities which already 

apply IFRS and do not recognise these amounts, the standard 

requires the effect of rate regulation to be presented separately 

from other items.

• IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers. On 28 

May 2014 the IASB and the FASB jointly issued IFRS 15 to improve 

the presentation of revenues and the global comparability of 

financial statements by standardising the method of accounting 

for economically similar transactions. The standard applies to 

IFRS users from the financial years commencing after 1 January 

2017 (with early application permitted).

• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle - On 25 

September 2014 the IASB issued a set of amendments to IAS 

/ IFRS. The aim of annual improvements is to deal with the 

issues related to inconsistencies reported in IFRSs or to clarify 

the wording, which are not of an urgent nature but which 

were discussed by the IASB during the project cycle. Among 

the standards involved in amendments: IFRS 5, for which a 

clarification was introduced in the cases where the method to 

dispose of an asset is modified by reclassifying it from held for 

sale to held for distribution; IFRS 7, where a clarification was 

introduced in order to determine if and when there is a residual 

involvement in a transferred financial asset, in the case that a 

service contract is in place, so as to determine the level of 

disclosure required; IAS 19 where it has been clarified that the 

currency of the securities used as a reference for estimating the 

discount rate must be the same as that used to pay benefits; 

IAS 34, where the meaning of “elsewhere” in cross referencing 

was clarified. These amendments will be applied from years 

commencing after 1 January 2016. Early application is permitted.

• IFRS 16 – Leases. On 13 January 2016 the IASB published the 

new standard that replaces IAS 17. The new standard will make 

the financial statements of companies more comparable, thus 

in practice eliminating the distinction between “finance leases” 

and “operating leases” and requiring companies to state, in their 

financial statements, any assets and liabilities related to any and 

all lease agreements. IFRS 17 shall apply from 1 January 2019. 

Early application is permitted for entities that also apply the IFRS 

15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”.
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• Amendments to IAS 12 –Income taxes. The IASB has 

published some amendments to the standard. The document 

“Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses” 

(Amendment to IAS 12) aims to clarify how to account for 

deferred tax assets relating to debt instruments measured at fair 

value. The amendments will be applicable from 1 January 2017. 

Early application is permitted.

• Amendments to IAS 7 - Statement of Cash Flows. On 29 

January 2016, the IASB issued an amendment to this standard, 

concerning the “Disclosure Initiative”, in order to provide 

better information on the changes in financial liabilities. The 

amendments will be applicable from 1 January 2017.

• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 cycle - On 8 

December 2016, the IASB issued some minor amendments 

to IFRS 1 (First-Time Adoption of IFRS), IFRS 12 (Disclosure of 

Interests in Other Entities) and IAS 28 (Investments In Associates 

and Joint Ventures) and an IFRIC interpretation (Interpretation 

22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration). 

The aim of the annual improvement was to deal with the issues 

related to inconsistencies found in IFRSs or to clarify the wording 

that are not of an urgent nature but which were discussed by the 

IASB during the project cycle. Among the main amendments, 

we refer to those relating to IFRIC 22, which addresses the use 

of exchange rates in transactions in which currency payments 

are paid or received in advance. These amendments shall apply 

from the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 

with the exception of amendments to IFRS 12 that will enter into 

force on 1 January 2017.

At present the competent bodies of the European Union 

have completed the endorsement process relating to the 

new standards and amendments applicable to the financial 

statements for the financial years commencing on 1 January 

2017, while, as regards the others, the endorsement process 

required for their adoption is still in progress. On the basis of 

the ongoing analysis, no significant effects are expected to 

arise from the adoption of the new applicable standards and 

amendments in 2017.
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 Company’s name  Country Currency  Share capital  Ownership %  Method

Italy

Impresa Pizzarotti & C Spa  Parma - Italy  Euro  250,000,000  on a line-by-line basis

Parmaresidenziale 1 Srl  Parma - Italy  Euro  100,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Parma S. Teresa Srl  Parma - Italy  Euro  80,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio Pizzarotti Todini Kef Eddir  Parma - Italy  Euro  100,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Parma Sviluppo Srl  Parma - Italy  Euro  10,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Sviluppi Immobiliari Parmensi Spa  Parma - Italy  Euro  260,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio Campogalliano Sassuolo  Parma - Italy  Euro  10,000 90  on a line-by-line basis

Buildit Spa  Rome - Italy  Euro  50,000 80  on a line-by-line basis

Confer Scrl  Parma - Italy  Euro  45,900 85.99  on a line-by-line basis

Linea per Sorrento Scarl  Parma - Italy  Euro  20,000 82  on a line-by-line basis

Arco Mirelli Scarl  Parma - Italy  Euro  20,000 69.875  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio Arcoteem  Parma - Italy  Euro  10,000 68.15  on a line-by-line basis

Taurano Scrl  Parma - Italy  Euro  10,200 60  on a line-by-line basis

Ampliamento Centro Cavagnari Scarl  Parma - Italy  Euro  10,000 60  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio Cuma  Parma - Italy  Euro  10,000 58  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio Napoli Nord  Parma - Italy  Euro  10,000 58  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio Arccos  Parma - Italy  Euro  10,000 57.48  on a line-by-line basis

Traversud Srl  Melfi - Italy  Euro  1,550,000 51  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio Stabile Traversud  Parma - Italy  Euro  120,000 50.057  on a line-by-line basis

Interconnessione Scarl  Alessandria - Italy  Euro  10,000 50.1  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio BBM (*)  Parma - Italy  Euro  50,000 50  on a line-by-line basis

Co.Sat scrl (*)  Rome - Italy  Euro  10,000 50  on a line-by-line basis

SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
At 31 December 2016, the scope of consolidation of the Pizzarotti Group was as follows: 

 List of consolidated companies

(*) The investee companies Consorzio BBM, Co.Sat scrl,  Engeco Sam, FPMC Sam, Monaco Facade Sam and Plein Sud Sam have been consolidated on a line-by-line basis as the Group exercises control over them.
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 Company’s name  Country Currency  Share capital  Ownership %  Method

Foreign countries

Pizzarotti SA  Switzerland  CHF  5,000,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti Algerie Sarl  Algeria  DZD  2,000,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti Cote d'Azur Sas  France  Euro  300,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Origami Sarl  France  Euro  7,500 100  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti Monaco Sarl  Montecarlo  Euro  15,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti USA Corp.  USA  USD  280,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti SA Corp.  USA  USD  3,193,220 100  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti 45 Broad Corp.  USA  USD  3,000,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti NY LLC  USA  USD  620,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti Construction SM Srl  Moldavia  MDL  21,723 100  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti Montenegro doo  Montenegro  Euro  1,000 100  on a line-by-line basis

Impresa Pizzarotti & Pomponio Constructii GEIE  Romania  RON  - 90  on a line-by-line basis

Neva Medical Infrastructure ooo  Russia  RUB  10,000 71  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti IBC LLC  USA  USD  1,000,000 60  on a line-by-line basis

Prisco Russia BV  Holland  Euro  200,000 51  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti IE ooo  Russia  RUB  5,000,000 51  on a line-by-line basis

Fine Properties New York LLC  USA  USD  18,005,000 54.335  on a line-by-line basis

Engeco Sam (*)  Montecarlo  Euro  300,300 49.74  on a line-by-line basis

SAM Fine Properties Monte Carlo (*)  Montecarlo  Euro  150,000 42  on a line-by-line basis

Monaco Facades Sam (*)  Montecarlo  Euro  150,000 34.818  on a line-by-line basis

SAM Plein Sud (*)  Montecarlo  Euro  150,000 22.05  on a line-by-line basis

(*) The investee companies Consorzio BBM, Co.Sat scrl,  Engeco Sam, FPMC Sam, Monaco Facade Sam and Plein Sud Sam have been consolidated on a line-by-line basis as the Group exercises control over them.
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The table below reports the changes in the consolidation area compared to the previous year:

 Consolidation area as at 31/12/2015 

 Consolidated entities (nr.) 41

 Entities included in consolidation area in 2016 

 Company’s name  Event Method

Engeco Sam  Control over the investee  on a line-by-line basis

Buildit Spa  Share acquisition  on a line-by-line basis

Interconnessione Scarl  Setting up  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio Cuma  Setting up  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio Napoli Nord  Setting up  on a line-by-line basis

Monaco Facades Sam  Control over the investee  on a line-by-line basis

In 2016 the consolidation area saw the entry of 6 companies, in 

particular: 

• Interconnessione Scarl: the company was established 

on 21 July 2016 to carry out the unitary performance of the 

contract awarded by the Project Company Brebemi S.p.A. for the 

execution of the design working drawings and specifications 

and the construction of the interconnection between A35 and 

A4 motorways in the Brescia area;

• Cuma and Napoli Nord Consortia: they were established on 

29 July 2016 to develop the working drawings and specifications, 

the execution of the necessary works and the operation of the 

plants and district collectors in connection with the “Major 

Project –Environmental remediation and redevelopment of Regi 

Lagni areas”, aimed at restoring and upgrading the treatment 

sections of purification plants in Cuma and Napoli Nord; these 

activities were awarded to the Consortia by the Campania 

Regional Government;

Deconsolidated entities in 2016 

Company’s name  Event Method

Immobiliare Quadrivio Secondigliano Srl  Closeout  on a line-by-line basis

Immobiliare Marquet Sarl  Closeout  on a line-by-line basis

Consorzio Pi.co  Closeout  on a line-by-line basis

Pizzarotti Energia Srl  Disposal  on a line-by-line basis

 Consolidation area as at 31/12/2016 

 Consolidated entities (nr.) 43

• Buildit S.p.A.: at the beginning of 2016, Impresa Pizzarotti 

acquired an 80% stake of the company established on 30 

October 2015. Its purpose relates to the construction of the 

building located at “Castellaccio” in Rome, consisting of two 

complexes of buildings (“Building 2” and “Building 4”), already 

leased to ENI following the acquisition of a work contract 

between Parsitalia General Contractor S.r.l. and BNP Reim S.G.R. 

on behalf of the Upside Fund;

• Engeco Sam e Monaco Façade Sam: Engeco Sam is a historic 

Monegasque company operating in the field of construction 

and project management, in relation to which, since 2016, 

the Group has been actually controlling it despite interests of 

49.74% - Monaco Façade Sam is 70% owned by Engeco directly.

During 2016 there was the disposal of Pizzarotti Energia S.r.l. and 

the winding-up of the three companies Immobiliare Quadrivio 

Secondigliano S.r.l., Consorzio Pi.co and Immobiliere Marquet 

Sarl.

126



Below is the breakdown of property, plant and equipment, at 

the beginning and at the end of the year, showing the related 

changes:

31/12/2016  31/12/2015

Description Historical cost Accumulated
 depreciation Net value Historical cost Accumulated 

depreciation Net value

Land and buildings  99,801  34,007  65,794  102,786  34,404  68,382 

Plant and machinery  73,748  61,730  12,018  76,723  64,278  12,445 

Industrial and business equipment  9,281  6,652  2,629  7,320  7,030  290 

Other assets  13,402  10,267  3,135  11,755  9,744  2,011 

Property, plant and equipment under construction  700  -  700  -  -  - 

Total  196,932  112,656  84,276  198,584  115,456  83,128 

Description 31/12/2015  Increases  Depreciation  Decreases  Other changes 31/12/2016

Land and buildings  68,382  229  (2,434)  (416)  33  65,794 

Plant and machinery  12,445  4,257  (3,772)  (1,098)  186  12,018 

Industrial and business equipment  290  2,858  (510)  3  (12)  2,629 

Other assets  2,011  1,652  (892)  (71)  435  3,135 

Property, plant and equipment under construction  -  700  -  -  -  700 

Total  83,128  9,696  (7,608)  (1,582)  642  84,276 

COMMENTS ON THE BALANCE SHEET 
ITEMS 
FIXED ASSETS

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Below is the breakdown of property, plant and equipment, net 

of the related depreciation fund:

Explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements
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The increases in property, plant and equipment were mainly due 

to investments made by the Group in foreign markets (€ 7,435 

thousand). Increases recorded in Italy, amounting to € 2,261 

thousand, related in particular to plant and machinery required 

to maintain the production capacity in the prefabrication sector.

 

The value of property, plant and equipment includes a finance 

lease assets component with a value of € 2,854 thousand, as 

shown below:

Description Land and buildings Plant and machinery Industrial and business 
equipment Other assets Total 31/12/2016

Historical cost  819  34,178  2,435  3,483  40,915 

Accumulated depreciation  (814)  (31,663)  (2,313)  (3,273)  (38,062)

Net value  5  2,515  123  211  2,854 

Below is the breakdown of changes in property, plant and equipment in the 2015 financial year:

Description 31/12/2014  Increases  Depreciation  Decreases  Other changes 31/12/2015

Land and buildings  66,337  6,067  (2,701)  (1,069)  (252)  68,382 

Plant and machinery  12,130  8,197  (6,271)  (2,472)  861  12,445 

Industrial and business equipment  435  238  (335)  (45)  (3)  290 

Other assets  2,446  688  (956)  (301)  134  2,011 

Property, plant and equipment under construction  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  81,348  15,190  (10,263)  (3,887)  740  83,128 
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2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The table below shows the changes in intangible assets, the net 

value of which at year-end amounted to € 96,832 thousand: 

Description 31/12/2015 Increases Decreases Amortisation Other changes 31/12/2016

Intellectual property rights  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Concessions - Licences - Trademarks  311  353  -  (164)  -  500 

Other intangible assets  100,664  1,155  -  (5,839)  352  96,332 

Total  100,975  1,508  -  (6,003)  352  96,832 

“Other intangible assets” mainly include the item “contract 

acquisition costs”, which are the charges, yielding long-term 

economic benefits, which the Company incurred in acquiring 

a 24% share of works in the contract for the construction of the 

“Milan-Verona High-Speed Railway Line”, awarded to the Cepav 

Due Consortium.

This is the non-profit making special purpose vehicle which 

the members of the consortium have formed, in the manner 

which has become very widespread in this sector, to support 

and coordinate the activities to be carried out by the members 

of the consortium in order to perform the contract: in fact the 

return on the contract goes to the individual members.

These are charges whose economic benefits will not be 

consumed within a single financial year and have all the 

characteristics necessary to qualify as intangible assets according 

to IAS 38, since they are assets with a finite useful life amortised 

on the basis of the progress of the contract in accordance with 

the “cost-to-cost” method.  

The amortisation of these long-term charges started in 2011 

after the commencement of works.

The balance sheet assets recognised in the financial statements 

at period-end are considered recoverable through executing 

the works. For information regarding progress with these 

works, reference should be made to the Report on Operations. 

Moreover, the extent to which the works concerned are 

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Todini SpA business unit  24,134  24,134  24,134 

Fioroni Ingegneria in AS business unit  16,712  16,712  16,712 

Surplus value paid for the acquisition of Garboli  92,702  92,702  92,702 

Subtotal of Long-term charges - Cepav due  133,548  133,548  133,548 

Accumulated amortisation  (40,060)  (34,646)  (27,277)

Total Long-term charges - Cepav due  93,488  98,902  106,271 

Other minor items  2,844  1,762  2,373 

Total other intangible assets  96,332  100,664  108,644 

considered recoverable is borne out by the impairment test 

conducted at the end of the financial year, from which no 

permanent impairment losses arose. 

The values subject to the impairment test are discounted based 

on a conservative estimate of the amounts of the functional 

lot between Brescia and Verona which will be defined with the 

customer and on their related temporal development.

The table below reports the breakdown of this item:
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The statement below shows the changes in intangible assets in 2015:

Description 31/12/2014 Increases Decreases Amortisation Other 
changes 31/12/2015

Intellectual property rights  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Concessions - Licences - Trademarks  312  151  -  (154)  2  311 

Other intangible assets  108,644  135  -  (8,118)  3  100,664 

Total  108,956  286  -  (8,272)  5  100,975 

In 2004 Impresa Pizzarotti already held a 12% share of works 

involved in the “Cepav Due” project as a result of the acquisition of 

the specific business unit from Todini S.p.A.; with the acquisition 

of Garboli, which was afterwards merged by incorporation into 

Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A., this share of works increased up to 

24% since the investee also had a similar share again as a result 

of the acquisition of a business unit from Fioroni Ingegneria 

S.p.A. in AS under extraordinary management, in 2001.

The increases in “Other intangible assets” included an amount of 

€ 1,125 thousand relating to the acquisition by Buildit S.p.A. of 

the work contract signed on 1 August 2016 between Parsitalia 

General Contractor S.r.l. and BNP Reim S.G.R. on behalf of the 

Upside Fund, for the construction of the building located at 

“Castellaccio” in Rome, which consists of two complexes of 

buildings (“Building 2” and “Building 4”), to be already intended 

for lease to ENI. This item was amortised on the basis of the 

progress of work.

3. EQUITY INVESTMENTS 
The value of equity investments totalled € 180,387 thousand, 

down by € 22,889 thousand compared to 31 December 2015: 

Description 31/12/2016  31/12/2015

Equity investments in subsidiaries  31  18 

Equity investments in associates  27,050  45,374 

Equity investments in other companies  153,306  157,884 

Total  180,387  203,276 

Description 31/12/2015 Increases Decreases Measurements 
at equity Other changes 31/12/2016

Equity investments in subsidiaries  18  -  -  -  13  31 

Equity investments in associates  45,374  997  (18,033)  1,498  (2,786)  27,050 

Equity investments in other companies  157,884  691  -  (5,269)  -  153,306 

Total  203,276  1,688  (18,033)  (3,771)  (2,773)  180,387 

Below is the breakdown of changes in equity investments in 

the year:
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ASSOCIATES
The main changes related to investments in associates 

concerned:

• A decrease in Madison 45 Venture LLC’s interest in the project 

concerning the construction of a 65-story residential tower on 

Broad Street in the Financial District (New York), which involved 

the concurrent repayment to the parent company Pizzarotti 45 

Broad Corp. of an amount of € 8.5 million. Following the entry of 

the Chinese Gemdale fund, the Group’s current share of the real 

estate development project is 5%;

• The sale of Gespar S.p.A. to Arpinge S.p.A. for a total of € 8.5 

million, which took place after the partial demerger of the same 

company to the benefit of the beneficiary company Gespar 

Conservatorio S.p.A. in which Parent Company Impresa Pizzarotti 

holds an interest of 47.57%. 

• Inclusion in the consolidation area of the Monegasque 

company Engeco Sam as already described above, which 

entailed an effect of € 3.1 million stated under “Other changes”;

• The valuation according to the equity method entailed 

the recognition of a net revaluation of € 1.5 million, mainly 

attributable to the investments in Gespar Conservatorio S.p.A., 

Pride Saudi Ltd and SAT S.p.A..

The latent capital gains related to the Company’s properties and 

land were taken into account in valuing its real estate companies.

With regard to this item, it is noted that the main changes 

were due to the overall economic effects arising from equity-

accounted investees, additional capital contributions to non-

subsidiary companies and capital repayments following the 

disposal of the investee Gespar S.p.A. and the entry of the 

Chinese Gemdale fund into the Broad Street (New York) project.

The carrying amounts of investments, as in the previous year, 

were stated net of the payments still to be made on the quotas 

and/or shares subscribed.

SUBSIDIARIES 
Equity investments in subsidiaries mainly include quotas in 

consortium companies and consortia in liquidation, whose 

carrying amounts are approximately the same as their equity on 

the reporting date.

Below is the breakdown of equity investments in subsidiaries, 

which were not consolidated on a line-by-line basis as they were 

irrelevant:

Description Registered 
Office

Share 
Capital (*)

Shareholders' 
Equity (*) Result (*) % Share Book Value

Covipar Scrl in liquidation  Parma  46  46  - 64.9%  13 

Europe House Abuja Scrl in liquidation  Rome  10  10  - 61.1%  6 

Fondovalle Scrl in liquidation  Parma  10  10  - 60.6%  6 

Olbia 90 Scrl in liquidation  Parma  10  10  - 51.0%  6 

Total for subsidiaries  31 
     

* Share Capital , Shareholders’ Equity and Result for the year make reference to the information reported in the last approved financial statements 

eventually adjusted in compliance with IAS / IFRS requirements.       .
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Below is the breakdown of equity investments in associates:

Description Registered Office Share Capital (*) Shareholders' 
Equity (*) Result (*) % Share Book Value

Parmense Costruzioni Scrl  Parma  10  10  -            50.0%  5 

Eurosia Srl  Parma  110  790  (167) 50.0%  478 

Parco Farnese Srl in liquidation  Parma  51  (11,930)  (10,806) 50.0%  1 

Consorzio Val d'Enza  Parma  26  26  - 50.0%  13 

Ponte Nord Spa  Parma  1,667  1,561  - 50.0%  458 

Europa Scrl  Parma  10  10  - 50.0%  5 

Metro Leggera Sc p.a. in liquidation  Parma  15,000  15,000  - 50.0%  1,875 

Tiliaventum Scrl  Udine  10,000  10,000  - 50.0%  1,250 

Pride Saudi Ltd  Saudi Arabia  2,529  1,471  218 50.0%  735 

Consorzio J.V. Garboli Tirrena Scavi  Lucca  10  10  - 50.0%  5 

Centro Servizi Salerno Scrl in liquidation  Naples  20  n.d.  n.d. 50.0%  5 

Diana 2 Srl  Parma  24  351  (64) 50.0%  177 

Mod S Sam  Montecarlo  150  150  - 50.0%  75 

Marex Sam  Montecarlo  150  150  - 49.6%  76 

Qatar Engineering  Qatar  126  (628)  (3) 49.0%  - 

GesPar Conservatorio Spa  Parma  1,177  n.d.  n.d. 47.6%  829 

Seresa Scrl  La Spezia  10  10  - 47.5%  4 

Martinella Srl  Parma  100  85  (53) 42.3%  42 

M.P. Scrl  Parma  10  10  - 42.3%  4 

Madison 45 venture LLC  USA  7,115  -  - 40.0%  2,846 

Consorzio Ferroviario Vesuviano  Naples  153  155  - 40.0%  87 

S.G.C. Scrl  Parma  10  10  - 40.0%  4 

Consorzio ATB Tunnel Brennero  Parma  100  100  - 39.0%  39 

Gescos Scpa  Bari  412  n.d.  n.d. 36.4%  150 

Il Tirone Spa  Messina  120  186  2 36.0%  5 

BRF Property Spa  Parma  2,000  2,308  63 34.6%  5,321 
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Description Registered Office Share Capital (*) Shareholders' 
Equity(*) Result (*) % Share Book Value

Villaggio Olimpico MOI Scrl in liquidation  Turin  10  10  - 33.3%  3 

RDIF Investments management-14 LLC  Russia  188  (0)  (189) 33.0%  79 

Autostrada Campogalliano Sassuolo Spa  Trento  70,000  70,000  - 31.3%  5,487 

Consorzio Umbira Sanità in liquidation  Parma  10  10  - 31.0%  3 

Ge.Sat Scrl  Prato  10  10  - 30.0%  3 

Sat Spa  Prato  19,126  18,725  1,648 30.0%  6,276 

Sogefon Sam  Montecarlo  200  305  4 30.0%  500 

Snef Monaco sam  Montecarlo  150  n.d.  n.d. 30.0%  45 

Movefer Scrl  Pisa  52  6  (31) 29.6%  8 

Nuova Movefer Scrl  Pisa  52  52  - 29.6%  15 

Caprara Scrl in liquidation  Parma  10  10  - 29.0%  3 

Tor Vergata Scrl  Rome  31  31  - 28.9%  9 

Consorzio S.Giorgio Volla 2  Naples  71  72  - 28.6%  21 

Consorzio S.Giorgio Volla  Naples  71  72  - 28.6%  21 

Assi Stradali Scrl in liquidation  Vicenza  11  11  - 28.6%  3 

Mod A Sam  Montecarlo  150  150  - 25.0%  38 

N.P.F.  Scrl  Milan  40  40  - 25.0%  10 

Consorzio Cepav Due  Milan  52  52  - 24.0%  12 

Consorzio Costruttori Teem  Milan  10  10  - 23.0%  2 

Uica Scrl in liquidation  Rome  31  31  - 21.7%  3 

Consorzio Umbria Domani  Perugia  100  100  - 21.4%  20 

Total for associates    27.050

* Share Capital , Shareholders’ Equity and Result for the year make reference to the information reported in the last approved financial statements     
eventually adjusted in compliance with IAS / IFRS requirements.      
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OTHER COMPANIES 
Increases in equity investments in other companies mainly 

related to the subscription of capital increases of project 

companies, including in particular ARC - Autostrada Regionale 

Cispadana S.p.A for about € 405 thousand.

In addition, during the year, there was a write-down of the 

equity investment in CIS - Compagnia Investimenti Sviluppo 

S.p.A. for an amount of € 5,268 thousand. The company, in 

which Impresa Pizzarotti holds a stake of 5.13%, is a holding 

company that promotes and implements major projects in the 

Italian real estate sector. Following the recent market crisis, on 

7 March 2017 the Court of Verona approved the agreement for 

Description Registered Office % Share Book Value

ARC - Autostrada Regionale Cispadana Spa  Trento 19.3%  9,052 

BravoSolution Spa  Bergamo 15.8%  10,210 

Infracis Srl  Verona 13.8%  14,873 

TE - Tangenziale esterna Spa  Milan 10.2%  47,297 

Brebemi Spa  Brescia 7.4%  24,620 

Autostrade Lombarde Spa  Brescia 6.4%  30,000 

Others  17,254 

Total for other companies           153,306 

the restructuring of the debt of CIS S.p.A. pursuant to Article 182-

bis of Bankruptcy Law. The Plan filed with the Court provides for 

2020 as the ultimate time limit granted in order to bring the 

repayment schedule of CIS’s debt into line with the prospects 

for development and/or implementation of the projects of 

the companies in the real estate sector in the current market 

environment. The write-down resulted in setting the value of the 

investment to zero based on the expected realisation prospects 

envisaged in the Plan.

Below is the breakdown of equity investments in other 

companies:

Equity investments in other companies

Investments in associates are valued at equity; if necessary, the 

financial statements of associated companies are adjusted to 

make them compliant with the accounting policies of the Group.

The associate Parco Farnese S.r.l. was put into liquidation 

because of the crisis that involved the joint partner Coopsette 

and the related impossibility of supporting the development 

of the real estate project concerning the construction of a new 

handicraft and executive office district in Parma.

At the end of 2016 the Parent Company submitted a proposal for 

the acquisition of the quota held by Coopsette. After obtaining 

a positive assessment from the liquidator, the company is now 

awaiting to be granted the necessary final authorization on the 

part of the Ministry of Economic Development.

The financial statements of Parco Farnese have been prepared 

without applying the going-concern principle and assuming 

the compulsory liquidation of assets. The directors of the 

Parent Company believe that the acquisition of control over 

the company, which is now being completed, and the related 

debt restructuring, which at present has already been defined, 

will allow a full and positive enhancement of the assets held by 

Parco Farnese.
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As regards the investment held in Brebemi S.p.A., at 31 

December 2016 there was a negative difference between the 

relevant portion of Shareholders’ Equity and the entry value of 

the investment that is still affected by the start-up phase of the 

project. The successful and final completion of the procedure 

for the re-balancing of the Economic and Financial Plan, as 

approved by the CIPE resolution no. 60/2015 published in 

the Official Gazette on 29 January 2016, together with the 

successful completion of the authorisation procedure to ensure 

the connection of the BREBEMI motorway towards East with 

the national motorway network through the construction of 

the interconnection between A35 and A4 highways, which is a 

prerequisite for the balance of the EFP, suggest that there are no 

permanent impairment losses arising from the equity investment, 

which, in order to cover its own financial requirements, may rely 

on additional requests for the disbursement of the project loan, 

as well as on the expected receipt of shares of government grants.

The absence of permanent impairment losses is also supported 

by the analysis carried out by the parent company Autostrade 

Lombarde S.p.A., as indicated in the related disclosure in the 

financial statements.

The value of the equity investment held in Tangenziale Esterna 

S.p.A. did not record any change compared to the previous 

year, as the losses reported by the investee at 31 December 2016 

must not be regarded as permanent losses, but as recoverable in 

subsequent years, taking account of the current start-up phase of 

the Company - the entry into service of the entire motorway axis 

took place in May 2015 –, as well as of the regulatory framework 

of the concession agreement with a total term of 50 years, which 

provides for the right to update and rebalance the economic 

and financial plan at the expiry of each five-year period.

4. FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The table below shows the breakdown of current and 

non-current financial assets:

Fixed assets 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Financial receivables  57,028  52,442  4,586 

AFS - Available for sale - securities  1,974  248  1,726 

Service concession arrangements  18,963  19,371  (408)

Total  77,965  72,061  5,904 

Current assets 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Financial receivables  19,850  22,331  (2,481)

HFT - Held For Trading - securities  32,983  35,831  (2,848)

Service concession arrangements  408  367  41 

Total  53,241  58,529  (5,288)

Total financial assets  131,206  130,590  616 
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The table below reports the breakdown of the financial 

receivables from Group companies, including the subordinated 

loans envisaged in the commitments aimed at the capitalisation 

of the SPVs for the financial support to the operational strategy in 

the business of concessions. With respect to such subordinated 

loans, the change compared to the previous year is only 

attributable to the capitalisation of interest accrued and not 

collected in December 2016. Financial receivables are broken 

down by residual maturity.

31/12/2016  31/12/2015

Description Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Mipien Spa  -  15,670  15,670  -  14,942  14,942 

Mona 2011 Two S.C.I.  2,880  -  2,880  7,040  -  7,040 

Gym SA  -  -  -  6,114  -  6,114 

Madison 45 Broad Development LLC  -  -  -  4,593  -  4,593 

Parco Farnese Srl  -  2,082  2,082  -  2,082  2,082 

Consorzio S. Giorgio Volla  -  1,527  1,527  -  1,527  1,527 

Martinella Srl  -  1,327  1,327  -  1,327  1,327 

Aliparma Srl  1,322  -  1,322  1,300  -  1,300 

Nuova Movefer Scrl  -  1,230  1,230  -  1,230  1,230 

Pride Saudi Ltd  4,570  -  4,570  1,196  -  1,196 

Consorzio S. Giorgio Volla Due  259  -  259  730  -  730 

Movefer Scrl  -  290  290  -  290  290 

Other  3,798  477  4,275  1,358  35  1,393 

Total Financial receivables  12,829  22,603  35,432  22,331  21,433  43,764 

Brebemi Spa  -  11,109  11,109  -  10,969  10,969 

Tangenziale Esterna Spa  -  17,240  17,240  -  14,767  14,767 

Sat Spa  -  6,076  6,076  -  5,273  5,273 

Marex Sam  7,021  -  7,021  -  -  - 

Total Subordinated Loans  7,021  34,425  41,446  -  31,009  31,009 

Grand Total  19,850  57,028  76,878  22,331  52,442  74,773 
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The most significant changes that occurred during the year 

included the payment of over € 7 million through the investee 

Marex Sam, to Ansa du Portier that is the promoter of the 

“Estensione a mare” project in Monte Carlo, as required by the 

capitalisation commitments entered into, which will expire in 

2019 and which provide for a total disbursement of € 104 million 

for Marex, which is 49.6% invested in by the Group. 

Specifically, the decreases related to the repayment of the US$ 

5 million loan granted by subsidiary Fine Properties Monte 

Carlo Sam to Madison 45 Broad Development LLC under the 

mezzanine financing for the support to the project involving 

the construction of a tower of about 65 floors on Broad Street in 

the Financial District, whose repayment took place in November 

2016.

Below is the breakdown of liquidity investments by type into 

current financial assets held for trading - HFT – and non-current 

financial assets available for sale - AFS. 

HFT - Held for Trading 31/12/2016  31/12/2015

STOCK FUNDS  4,791  357 

SHARES  21,169  20,620 

MANAGEMENT  6,973  14,804 

BONDS  50  50 

TOTAL HFT  32,983  35,831 

AFS - available for sale 31/12/2016  31/12/2015

SHARES  44  248 

PROFIT SHARING AGREEMENT  1,930  - 

TOTAL AFS  1,974  248 

TOTAL  34,957  36,079 

At the end of the period, current financial assets held for trading 

amounted to € 32,983 thousand (€ 35,831 thousand at 31 

December 2015); owing to the performance of the financial 

markets, a negative fair value change of € 13,421 thousand 

(against a negative change of € 569 thousand at 31 December 

2015).

At the end of the period, non-current financial assets available 

for sale – AFS - amounted to € 1,974 thousand (€ 248 thousand 

at 31 December 2015), up by € 1,726 thousand compared to the 

previous year. This increase was attributable to the negative fair 

value change on AFS shares caused by the trend in the financial 

markets on the reporting date and recognised against an entry 

under equity for € 204 thousand, on one hand, and, on the 

other hand, to the execution of a partnership agreement for the 

production of cinema works for € 1,930 thousand.

The service concession arrangements arise from the application 

of IFRIC 12 in relation to the following concessions:

Grantor Object of the concession Concession term

Edisu Piemonte - Entity for the right to 
university study

Design, construction and operation of Villaggio Villa 
Claretta in the Municipal district of Grugliasco (Turin)   

as students’ residence
Year: 2036

Edisu Piemonte - Entity for the right to 
university study

Design, construction and operation of Villaggio 
Spina due in the Municipal district of Turin as    

students’ residence
Year: 2036
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5. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
This item includes the receivable for deferred tax assets, equal 

to € 15,637 thousand (€ 12,867 thousand at 31 December 

2015) accrued on the temporary differences between the value 

attributed to an asset or liability according to the accounting 

policies used and the value attributed to the same for tax 

purposes. For the breakdown, reference is made to note 25.

6. INVENTORIES AND WORK IN PROGRESS 

INVENTORIES 
Inventories totalled €238.5 million and their breakdown is shown 

in the table below: 

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Raw and secondary materials 
and consumables

 13,624  16,142 

Investment property  178,685  211,802 

Finished products and goods 
for resale

 11,550  9,624 

Advances  34,594  34,917 

Total  238,453  272,485 

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Italy  145,267  139,305  5,962 

Foreign countries  33,418  72,497  (39,079)

Investment property  178,685  211,802  (33,117)

Advances on investment property  17,100  19,213  (2,113)

Total  195,785  231,015  (35,230)

Investment property

The company’s investment property totalled € 196 million (€ 

231 million at 31 December 2015), including the sums paid 

in advance on the value of acquisitions in the foreign market, 

which have not yet been completed.

The value of the projects developed in the Italian market was 

substantially in line with that reported in December 2015 and 

included a plot of land worth more than € 42 million held by 

Sviluppi Immobiliari Parmensi S.p.A., which is wholly owned by 

Impresa Pizzarotti, intended for the forthcoming launch of the 

Parma Urban District project for the construction of a multi-

purpose centre, mainly intended for shops, adjacent to the Fiere 

di Parma exhibition district.

At an international level, the projects are developed with other 

partners through investee companies and cover the long-term 

Petite Afrique project in Monte Carlo and the project named 

West 14th in New York.

The value of advances refers to the amount paid for the purchase 

of the plot of land on which the real estate Jardin Exotique 

project will be developed in Monte Carlo through the investee 

company Plein Sud Sam. The completion of the purchase is 

expected in June 2017 for a total value of approximately € 114 

million. 
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Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Italy  207,658  201,146  6,512 

Europe  61,150  50,711  10,439 

America  11,659  1,440  10,219 

Africa  24,736  20,566  4,170 

Asia  12,551  16,467  (3,916)

Total  317,754  290,330  27,424 

Finished products and goods for resale, Raw materials, 
supplies and consumables
Inventories of finished products and goods for resale mainly 

consist of prefabricated buildings of Impresa Pizzarotti and 

of subsidiary Traversud S.r.l. while inventories of raw materials 

mainly refer to materials and commodities intended for use in 

the international contract of Sebeş-Turda in Romania.

CONTRACT WORK IN PROGRESS
Contract work in progress amounted to € 318 million, showing a 

slight increase compared to € 290 million in 2015.

Below is the breakdown of contract work in progress by 

geographical area:

In Italy contract work in progress include about € 84 million in 

relation to the BREBEMI project, due to higher costs incurred for 

both the execution of changes to the project and unexpected 

finds and the share of costs associated with additional 

expropriations.

Work in progress, net of invoices and progress payments, 

amounted to € 4,865 million (€ 4,545 million at 31 December 

2015).

Liability items – advances – include an amount of € 49,919 

thousand (€ 29,894 thousand at 31 December 2015) with 

respect to contracts on which, on the reporting date, there was 

a negative difference between the considerations calculated on 

the basis of percentage of completion and invoices for advance 

payment instalments, including any losses recognised.

It should be noted that, as regards the project relating to 

the construction of the motorway section of “Bucharest - 

Braşov”, residual legal actions are in progress in order to seek 

compensation for damages as a result of the unlawful unilateral 

withdrawal from the contract by the customer in February 2016. 

The status of the litigation is disclosed in the paragraph on 

“International Sector - Romania” in the Report on Operations.

Explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements

139



7. TRADE RECEIVABLES
The Group’s exposure to customers and third parties both for 

invoices issued and for work progress reports already certified 

but still to be invoiced amounted to a total of € 277 million, 

substantially in line with the corresponding figure for December 

2015, amounting to € 269 million, both in overall terms and in 

terms of distribution Italy and abroad. This exposure, as shown 

in the table below, is broken down by geographical area of 

contracts:

Description 31/12/2016 % 31/12/2015 %

Italy  180,681 65.1%  184,642 68.7%

Algeria  1,674  10,993 

France  19,114  25,385 

Morocco  6,225  3,673 

Romania  4,078  7,186 

Swizterland  8,252  10,217 

Middle East  20,552  11,241 

Kuwait  12,185  3,002 

Poland  54  1,098 

Russia  6,306  4,603 

USA  10,173  6,405 

Montenegro  6,335  - 

Peru'  1,739  - 

Others  111  136 

Foreign countries  96,798 34.9%  83,939 31.3%

Total  277,479 100.0%  268,581 100.0%

Trade receivables are recognised net of a provision for bad debts 

of € 13,112 thousand (€ 12,970 thousand at 31 December 2015). 

The changes in the provision for bad debts, including a provision 

for default interest, are reported below:

Description 2016 2015

1 January  12,970  11,735 

Provisions  528  1,018 

Uses  (388)  (116)

Other movements  2  333 

31 December  13,112  12,970 

8. RECEIVABLES FROM GROUP COMPANIES 
Receivables from non-consolidated Group companies are 

broken down in the table below:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Receivables from subsidiaries  1,848  1,848 

Receivables from associates  65,545  77,444 

Receivables from the Parent 
company  374  688 

Total  67,767  79,980 

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Europe House Abuja Scrl  1,501  1,501 

Covipar Scrl  347  347 

Total  1,848  1,848 

Receivables from subsidiaries
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 These companies were not consolidated as they were irrelevant. 

A provision of € 1,034 thousand was set aside against a receivable 

of the same amount from Olbia 90 Scrl, in order to consider the 

risk of uncollectibility.

Receivables from associates
Trade receivables from associates and consortia are broken 

down as follows:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Ge.Sat Scrl  21,441  16,781 

Consorzio Cepav Due  20,724  35,286 

Consorzio Costruttori Teem  4,376  9,235 

Consorzio Ferroviario S. Giorgio-Volla due  4,313  3,857 

Pride Saudi Arabia Ltd  3,531  2,012 

Parmense Costruzioni Scrl  1,762  1,749 

Consorzio Ferroviario S. Giorgio-Volla  1,623  213 

Consorzio Ferroviario Vesuviano  1,541  1,518 

Tiliaventum Scrl  1,373  485 

Consorzio Val D'enza  1,127  1,127 

Seresa Scrl  732  732 

Pizzarotti Qatar CO. W.W.L.   708  684 

Centro Servizi Salerno Scrl  392  392 

Ponte Nord Spa  386  691 

Nuova Movefer Scrl  302  302 

Parco Farnese  Srl  225  203 

Consorzio ATB Tunnel Brennero  203  203 

BRF Property Spa  159  17 

MP Scrl  141  141 

Martinella Srl  103  103 

Sat Spa  101  686 

JV Pizzarotti Tirrena Scavi  85  154 

Umbria Domani Scrl  54  145 

Eurosia Srl  37  37 

Assi Stradali Scrl  37  37 

Europa Scrl  30  30 

JV Garboli Tirrena Scavi  -  569 

Gespar Spa  -  25 

Other minor companies  39  30 

Total  65,545  77,444 
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The decrease over the corresponding period last year is mainly 

due to a decline in the production operations of the investee 

consortium Cepav Due, which is constructing the Milan-Verona 

railway section.

Receivables from the parent company
Receivables from the parent company Mipien S.p.A. amounted 

to € 374 thousand (€ 688 thousand at 31 December 2015) 

and mainly consist of interest charged on the loan and surety 

charges on the counter-guarantees issued.

9. TAX RECEIVABLES AND TAXES PAYABLE 
At the end of the period tax receivables only included receivables 

from the Tax Office, amounting to € 18,537 thousand (€ 14,583 

thousand at 31 December 2015), mainly VAT credit.

Taxes payable amounted to € 20,457 thousand (€ 28,602 

thousand at 31 December 2015); consisting mainly of current tax 

liabilities, VAT debt and IRPEF (Imposta sul Reddito delle Persone 

Fisiche, Personal Income Tax) tax withheld from employees and 

advisors.

10. OTHER ASSETS
Below is the breakdown of other assets by maturity:

            31/12/2016        31/12/2015

Description short-term 
portion

long-term
 portion

short-term 
portion

long-term 
portion

Sundry receivables from contracting authorities  11,895  15,463  7,029  13,707 

Advance payments for expropriation indemnities  1,489  -  1,590  - 

Insurance and social security institutions  2,442  -  2,243  - 

Receivables for advance fees  12  -  1,882  - 

Receivables from others  38,599  5,632  32,095  4,574 

Total  54,437  21,095  44,839  18,281 

Receivables from others were recognised net of a provision for 

bad debts of € 895 thousand, which considers the risk of some 

credit items not being collectible.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
As at 31 December 2016, cash and cash equivalents, represented 

by the credit balances of bank accounts and cash and cheques 

at the various offices, construction sites and foreign branches, 

amounted to € 315,091 thousand, showing an increase of € 

68,578 thousand compared to the corresponding figure for the 

previous year. The changes compared to the previous year are 

reported in the cash flow statement.  

The table below shows the breakdown by geographical area:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Italy  61,519  129,207  (67,688)

Europe  196,799 99,883 96,916

America 13,358 4,506 8 ,852

Africa 2,478 8,772  (6,294)

Asia  40,938 4,145 36,793

Total  315,091  246,513  68,578 

Cash and cash equivalents in the USA area, amounting to US$ 3 

million, are pledged as security for the loan raised for the purchase 

of the property related to the West 14th project in New York.
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12. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Consolidated shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2016 

amounted to € 489.5 million, showing an increase of € 31.2 

million compared to 31 December 2015.

The changes in equity items that occurred during the period 

are summarised in the statement of changes reported together 

with the accounting statements.  

Share capital 

The share capital amounts to € 250,000,000, divided into 

250,000,000 shares with a par value of € 1 each; the amount 

recognised in the accounts, equal to € 248,555,200, is affected by 

the reclassification of own shares, whose par value of € 1,444,800 

has been entered as a direct reduction in share capital.

A portion of the reserves and provisions transferred to share 

capital over various years, pursuant to Article 105 of Presidential 

Decree 917/1986, totalling € 139.2 million, is liable to 

equalisation tax, in case of distribution, while the credit balances 

from revaluation, included in equity for a total amount of € 5.9 

million, contribute to the formation of taxable income if they are 

distributed to shareholders or used for purposes other than loss 

coverage.

Equity reserves

The table below shows the breakdown of equity reserves: 

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Legal Reserve  7,876  7,821  55 

Reserve required by Articles of Association  43,549  42,516  1,033 

FTA Reserve  2,324  2,324  - 

Other Reserves  137,230  129,115  8,115 

Other comprehensive income  (4,371)  (9,255)  4,884 

Deferred tax from other comprehensive income  1,116  2,465  (1,349)

Total  187,724  174,986  12,738 

The changes in equity items that occurred during the period 

are summarised in the statement of changes reported together 

with the accounting statements. Specifically:

• Legal reserve - it showed an increase of € 55 thousand in 

relation to the regulatory provision provided for in Article 2430 

of the Italian Civil Code.

• Reserve required by articles of association - it showed an 

increase, compared to the previous year, for a total of € 1,033 

thousand as a residual amount of the allocation of profits for the 

year recorded by the Parent Company Impresa Pizzarotti & C. 

S.p.A.

•  First-Time Adoption reserve - this reserve, which was set aside 

at the time of the preparation of the first financial statements 

prepared in accordance with international accounting standards, 

did not report any change compared to the previous year.  

• Other reserves - they showed an increase of € 8,115 thousand, 

attributable to (i) the allocation of the 2015 Group result and (ii) 

to the exit from the consolidation area of Pizzarotti Energia S.r.l., 

which was disposed of on 17 May 2016, after which the Cash 

Flow Hedge reserve was reclassified.

• Other comprehensive income - the breakdown is as follows:

Description Cash flow 
hedge reserve

Reserve 
for AFS 

Securities

Reserve for 
Severance 
Pay IAS 19 

Translation 
Reserve Tax effect Total

Balance as at1 January  2015
Change from subsidiaries and JOs

 (10,499)
 1,630 

 (11)
 54 

 (388)
 125 

 (5)
 20 

 2,998 
 (482)

 (7,905)
 1,347 

Change from associates and JVs  186  -  -  (367)  (51)  (232)

Balance as at 31 December 2015
Change from subsidiaries and JOs

 (8,683)
 5,418 

 43 
 (204)

 (263)
 (55)

  (352)
 335 

 2,465 
 (1,490)

  (6,790)
 4,004 

Change from associates and JVs  (1,004)  -  -  394  141  (469)

Balance as at 31 December 2016  (4,269)  (161)  (318)  377  1,116  (3,255)
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13. BANK AND OTHER LOANS
Below is the breakdown of bank loans by maturity.

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Loans - portion due within 12 months  208,976  199,997 

Loans - portion due from 1 to 5 years  312,413  315,959 

Loans - portion due beyond 5 years  14,560  39,037 

Total  535,949  554,993 

In relation to the real estate projects in Italy, this item includes:

• Mortgage-backed loans with a residual value of € 28,798 

thousand (€ 30,828 thousand at 31 December 2015) whose short-

term portion is € 3,987 thousand and whose portion due beyond 

5 years is € 8,811 thousand; the properties securing the loans are 

those concerned in the “Maddalena”, “Gallarate”, “Studentato di 

Parma”, “Parmaresidenziale” and “Santa Teresa” real estate projects.

• Loans backed by collateral constituted by surface rights over 

the area on which the “Spina Due” real estate project stands, with 

a residual value of € 9,535 thousand (€ 10,224 thousand at 31 

December 2015). The short-term portion is € 725 thousand and 

the portion due beyond 5 years is € 5,519 thousand.

In relation to the real estate projects on the international market, 

subsidiary FPNY raised a loan for the development of the W14th 

real estate complex in New York, the first instalment of which 

was paid at the same time as the acquisition of the area in 

January 2016. At 31 December 2016 the loan, subscribed for a 

total of US$ 23 million, amounted to US$ 11,104 thousand. 

The loans for specific real estate projects also included the loan 

of € 30 million raised by subsidiary Parma Sviluppo S.r.l. with 

Banca Unicredit in connection with the Parma Urban District 

project. This loan was fully classified to short-term loans, since 

that, at the start of construction works scheduled for the second 

half of 2017, the contract will be fully renegotiated, also taking 

Description
Equity at 

31 December 
2016

of which 
December 

2016 result

Equity at 
31 December 

2015

Separate financial statements at 31 December 2016  330,677  (2,525)  333,607 

Different measurement of equity investments as a result of 
consolidation with respect to their book value

 105,404  9,478  97,542 

Effect of measurement at equity  1,378  (5,808)  5,650 

Other minor  15  50  (33)

Consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2016  437,474  1,195  436,766 

Below is the reconciliation between equity and profits 

recognized in the separate financial statements of Impresa 

Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A. at 31 December 2016 and those reported in 

the consolidated financial statements as at the same date:

into account of the new governance of the project. This will 

entail the incorporation of a special-purpose vehicle, which 

will be 50% invested in by the Group, together with a partner 

specialising in the promotion and development of shopping 

malls.

Medium- and long-term loans and mortgages, included under 

payables to banks, due within 12 months, amounted to € 

326,973 thousand (€ 354,996 thousand at 31 December 2015) 

and are broken down as follows:
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Mortgage/Collateral-backed loans on specific projects Amount Initiative

Unicredit - 1.1% interest repayable by 2027  6,111 Impresa Pizzarotti Spa - Spina due students' residence (Turin)

Unicredit - 1.1% interest repayable by 2027  2,699 Impresa Pizzarotti Spa - Spina due students' residence (Turin)

Banco di Sardegna - 3% interest repayable by 2020  1,685 Impresa Pizzarotti Spa - La Maddalena's residence (Guardioli)

Banco Popolare - 0.7% interest repayable by 2020  717 Impresa Pizzarotti Spa - Torre di Ghiaccio (Gallarate)

Cassa di Risparmio di Parma - 3.5% interest repayable by 2020  9,381 Parma S. Teresa Srl - (Parma)

Banca del Monte - 3.25% interest repayable by 2028  13,027 Parmaresidenziale 1 Srl - Parmavera (Parma)

Unicredit - 2,1% interest  - Parma Sviluppo Srl - Parma Urban District (Parma)

Bank of West - 2.75% interest repayable by 2018  10,534 Fine Property New York - West 14th (New York)

Total Mortgage/Collateral-backed loans on specific projects 44,154

Other Loans Amount 

Banca Popolare Emilia - 2.5% interest repayable by 2022  1,083 

Credito Valtellinese - 2.0% interest repayable by 2020  2,314 

Carige - 3.575% interest repayable by 2018  1,336 

Banca Popolare Emilia Romagna - 2.7% interest repayable by 2018  3,423 

Banca Intesa - 2.625% interest repayable by 2020  21,000 

Banca Popolare Emilia - 4.7% interest repayable by 2018  3,750 

UBI - 3.0% interest repayable by 2020  100,000 

Bond - 4.75% interest repayable by 2019  100,000 

UBAE - 2.5% interest repayable by 2018  10,000 

Banca Popolare di Vicenza - 2.5% interest repayable by 2020  11,250 

Europe Arab Bank - 2.5% interest repayable by 2019  5,000 

Banco di Sardegna - 2.15% interest repayable by 2021  6,000 

Banca Popolare Emilia Romagna - 1.875% interest repayable by 2019  6,056 

Banca Stato - other loans  16,260 

Total Other Loans  287,472 

Loan commissions  (4,653)

Grand total  326,973 

Some loans, as well as the bond issue, are backed by covenants 

which, among other things, require the borrower to observe 

certain performance, cash flow and financial position ratios; no 

difficulty in complying with these clauses had emerged as of the 

reporting date.
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14. FINANCE LEASES
Below is the breakdown of financial payables for finance leases 

by maturity.

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Finance leases - portion due 
within 12 months

 1,187  1,373 

Finance leases - portion due 
beyond 12 months

 7,569  8,042 

Total  8,756  9,415 

This item includes the capital quota of future rentals from leases 

outstanding as at 31 December 2016.

These include the contract signed with Unicredit Leasing 

in support of the “Villa Claretta” project expiring in 2023, the 

remaining amount of which amounted to € 6,704 thousand at 

the end of the year. This initiative, concerning the concession 

for the construction and operation of a university residence in 

Turin, in the municipality of Grugliasco, falls within the scope of 

application of IFRIC 12 and is stated under “Financial assets”.

The remaining lease contracts relate to the purchase of plant, 

machinery and equipment and other assets, whose net carrying 

value as at 31 December 2016 amounted to € 2,854 thousand.

The notional value of the interest rate hedges that have been 

executed amount to € 104,469 thousand (€ 80,130 thousand at 

31 December 2015, of which € 30,212 relating to the contracts 

of the investee Pizzarotti Energia, which, as required by IFRS 5, 

had been recognised under liabilities associated with operations 

held for sale in the 2015 financial statements).

The total fair value of the derivatives is negative and amounts to 

€ (600) thousand (€ (6,502) thousand in 2015, of which € (5,805) 

for the derivative contracts of the investee Pizzarotti Energia, 

which was disposed of on 17 May 2016. 

This fair value change is almost entirely recognised against an 

entry under equity, net of related tax effect, since it is related 

to designated hedges according to the definition under IAS 39. 

15. FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES ON 
DERIVATIVES
This item includes the fair value at the reporting date of the 

contracts entered into with the purpose of hedging against the 

interest rate risk.

The table below shows the related breakdown:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Fair Value of outstanding derivatives Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

IRS for trading  -  194  -  680 

IRS for Fair Value Hedge  -  -  -  - 

IRS for Cash Flow Hedge  -  406  -  5,822 

Total  -  600  -  6,502 

16. STAFF SEVERANCE PAY (TFR) 
At 31 December 2016 the Group’s debt to employees, as 

calculated by applying the criteria set out in IAS 19, amounted 

to € 6.0 million.

The value of this item, attributable to the staff severance pay 

regulated by Article 2120 of the Italian Civil Code, as well as the 

changes that occurred during the year, are summarised in the 

table below:
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Description 31/12/2015 Provision Settlements and advance 
payments

Net payment to the INPS(*)  
Treasury Fund and other funds Other changes 31/12/2016

Provision for Staff 
Severance Pay (TFR)  6,336  2,340  (1,099)  (1,619)  69  6,027 

(*) Istituto Nazionale della Previdenza Sociale, National Social 

Security Institute.   

The amount of the severance pay set out in the financial 

statements at 31 December 2016 and at 31 December 2015 

represents the residual portion of the debt as at the date of 

entry into force of the Pension Reform - introduced by Law no. 

296 of 27 December 2006 (“2007 Financial Act”) and subsequent 

Decrees and Regulations issued in the first months of 2007 - net 

of the payments made until the reporting dates.

This provision can be treated as a liability arising from a defined 

benefit plan, and, therefore, it has been subjected to actuarial 

assessment in accordance with IAS 19.

This assessment was carried out by making use of an 

independent professional, using the following parameters: 

Summary of technical and economic bases

• Annual discount rate: 0.78%

• Annual inflation rate 1.5%

• Annual increase rate of severance pay: 2.625%

Annual turnover rates and severance pay advances

• Frequency of advances: 2%

• Frequency of turnover: 13%

The table below shows the potential effects that would have 

been recognised on the defined benefit obligation following 

hypothetical changes in the actuarial assumptions that were 

reasonably possible at the end of the financial year:

17. PROVISION FOR RISKS AND CHARGES AND 
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 
The table below reports the changes in the provisions for risks 

and charges and deferred tax liabilities:

Description 31/12/2015 Increases Decreases Other changes  31/12/2016

Provision for deferred tax liabilities  47,079  3,518  (9,587)  1  41,011 

Subtotal  47,079  3,518  (9,587)  1  41,011 

Provision for obligations from contracts  1,865  9,746  (484)  11,127 

Provision for losses from contracts  1,440  144  (404)  -  1,180 

Provision for risks on equity investments  1,709  -  -  -  1,709 

Provision for pending disputes  20,701  6,142  (25)  22  26,840 

Other minor items  12,269  3,317  (5,488)  244  10,342 

Subtotal  37,984  19,349  (6,401)  266  51,198 

Total  85,063  22,867  (15,988)  267  92,209 

Description  Turnover frequency  Inflation rate     Discounting rate

     +1%    -1%     +0.25%    -0.25%  +0.25% -0.25%

Change in the total amount of the obligation  (14)  15 37  (37)        (58)      59
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The Provision for deferred tax liabilities recognised in the 

financial statements is the liability for deferred tax arising from 

the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities and their value for tax purposes; for details, 

reference should be made to note 25.

Other provisions for risk and charges mainly consist of:

• a provision for disputes and contractual guarantees set aside 

to meet the risk of losing some current lawsuits; 

• a provision for write-down of equity investments set aside to cover 

the losses in excess of cost value on the part of some investees;

• a provision for losses from contracts set aside to cover final 

losses in relation to some contracts for which total costs are 

expected to exceed total revenues;

• a provision for obligations from contracts set aside as a result of 

a prudent assessment of future costs related to works that have 

been completed, while the concluding phase of the contracts 

concerned has not yet ended, as well as to activities related 

to work in progress. It also includes the calculation of future 

charges for non-routine maintenance.

The main changes for the period related to the prudential 

provision set aside for:

• an amount of € 5 million to the provision for pending disputes, 

as a partial reduction in the assets recognised in the accounts 

in relation to the Romanian Bucharest-Braşov contract. This 

provision allowed the recognition, at 31 December 2016, of a net 

asset of approximately € 7 million, in line with the assessments of 

the results expected from the legal counsels to the constructor 

in pending litigation. The status of litigation is set out in the 

Report on Operations in the paragraph on “International sector - 

Romania”.

• an amount of € 9 million for obligations from contracts to cover 

the risks associated with the performance of some contracts in 

the portfolio.

Tax disputes

At present the Parent Company has some tax disputes in progress 

after three reports of findings (Processi Verbali di Constatazione, 

PVC) dated 21 December 2005, 10 June 2011 and 29 July 2013.

Report of findings dated 21 December 2005

A general inspection was conducted by the Emilia Romagna 

Regional Tax Police Unit (Nucleo Regionale di Polizia Tributaria) 

in 2005, ending in December 2005 with a report of findings 

which pointed out certain irregularities. After various instances 

of judgment, the only issue remaining regards alleged problems 

regarding the accrual of costs and revenues of a contract 

completed in 2004.

The matter has been examined both by the Milan Revenue 

Agency, competent for IRES tax (Imposta sul Reddito delle 

Società, Corporate Income Tax) and the Parma Revenue Agency, 

competent for IRAP tax (Imposta Regionale sulle Attività Produttive, 

Regional Tax on Production Activities). The dispute thus followed 

two parallel paths and the Emilia Romagna Regional Tax Board 

(Commissione Tributaria), with jurisdiction to hear the appeals, 

has handed down two contradictory judgments. The Company’s 

case was accepted by the Board called upon to hear the issue 

for IRAP tax purposes, while the judgment concerning the 

same problem for IRES tax purposes was unfavourable to the 

Company.

The dispute is currently pending before the Supreme Court.

Report of findings dated 10 June 2011

In February 2011 the Parma Tax Police Unit (Nucleo di Polizia 

Tributaria) began a general direct taxes and VAT inspection of 

the Parent Company’s books, which actually involved years from 

2004 to 2010.

The inspection ended on 10 June 2011 with a report of 

findings pointing out some irregularities, referring to a different 

classification for tax purposes of a business unit acquisition 

transaction, relations within a consortium company and issues 

connected with the measurement of completed contracts for 

tax purposes; there do not seem to be any grounds for the 

findings in the report and the company took action to safeguard 

its interests immediately. As regards the objection to the orders 

completed, the Regional Revenue Agency head Office did 

not follow up with an assessment, thus letting the term of the 

objection expire.

Up to now the Emilia Romagna Regional Revenue Agency Head 

Office (Direzione Regionale delle Entrate) has served assessments 

for the years 2004 up to (and including ) 2014, except for 2005, 

mainly relating to the objection concerning the acquisition of 

the business unit.

At the hearings before the Bologna Provincial Tax Board 

(Commissione Tributaria Provinciale) the Company was found to 

be completely in the right and the two notices of assessment 

were set aside; the office filed an appeal which was promptly 

followed up by the Company. 

Report of findings dated 29 July 2013

Finally, another tax inspection of the Parent Company (for the year 

2010) was conducted by the Emilia Romagna Regional Revenue 

Agency Head Office (Direzione Regionale dell’Agenzia delle Entrate) 

in March 2013 into direct taxes, IRAP tax, revenue taxes and VAT. 

The inspection ended in July 2013 with a report of findings 

pointing out some irregularities, mainly in connection with two 
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Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Payables to subsidiaries  3,288  3,278 

Payables to associates  55,609  72,673 

Payables to the Parent company  1,243  996 

Total  60,140  76,947 

Payables to subsidiaries

The table below reports payables to subsidiaries:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Europe House Abuja Scrl  2,895  2,895 

Covipar Scrl  219  213 

Other minor companies  174  170 

Total  3,288  3,278 

Payables to associates

Below is the breakdown of the balances of payables, trade 

payables, to associates:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Consorzio Cepav Due  15,358  22,130 

Ge.Sat Scrl  12,073  9,902 

Consorzio Costruttori Teem  6,263  20,210 

Tiliaventum Scrl  4,357  3,486 

Tor Vergata Scrl  3,789  2,299 

Parmense Costruzioni Scrl  3,745  3,544 

Metroleggera Scpa  1,768  1,761 

Consorzio Val D'enza  1,603  1,603 

Nuova Movefer Scrl  1,278  1,270 

Consorzio Ferroviario S. Giorgio-Volla  1,220  1,226 

Consorzio Ferroviario Vesuviano  1,209  815 

Parco Farnese  Srl  812  812 

Seresa Scrl  588  588 

Consorzio Ferroviario S. Giorgio-Volla due  585  383 

Centro Servizi Salerno Scrl  567  567 

Caprara Scrl  100  159 

MP Scrl  75  73 

Assi Stradali Scrl  62  62 

Pride Saudi Arabia Ltd  60  31 

Pedelombarda Scpa  32  34 

Consorzio ATB Tunnel Brennero  29  12 

Europa Scrl  24  20 

Eurosia Srl  10  10 

Engeco Sam  -  1,429 

Other minor companies  2  247 

Total  55,609  72,673 

operating lease transactions. Up to now assessment notices for 

the years 2004 up to (and including) 2014, except for 2005; at the 

hearings on this subject before the Bologna Provincial Tax Board 

(Commissione Tributaria Provinciale) the reasons of the Company 

were not accepted, and, accordingly, the latter filed an appeal. 

No significant charges should arise for the Company from the 

outcome of these disputes

18. PAYABLES TO GROUP COMPANIES
Below is the breakdown:

These companies were not consolidated as they were 
irrelevant.
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Payables to parent companies

The payable to the parent company Mipien S.p.A. amounted 

to € 1,243 thousand (€ 996 thousand at 31 December 2015) 

and was mainly made up of the consideration for sureties and 

financial services rendered and of the IRES tax debt arising from 

the agreement on tax consolidation.

19. Other liabilities 
Below is the breakdown of other liabilities into short- and long-

term portion:

                         31/12/2016                                31/12/2015

Description      short-term portion long-term portion short-term portion long-term portion

Payables to subordinate staff  7,480  -  7,105  - 

Payables for insurance premiums  446  -  122  - 

Payables to directors and statutory auditors  167  -  111  - 

Payables to social security institutions  4,387  -  4,164  - 

Advances on work in progress  186,545  14,923  174,550  28,783 

Trade payables  -  47,165  -  56,000 

Other payables  24,859  2,201  28,663  2,498 

Total  223,884  64,289  214,715  87,281 

Advances on work in progress are the total amounts paid by 

customers in accordance with their contracts, collected on the 

basis of the percentage of completion; they are mainly referable 

to the recently started international projects in Kuwait, Peru, 

Moldavia, Poland and Romania. 

They also include a total amount of € 49,919 thousand (€ 29,894 

thousand at 31 December 2015) for contracts which, on the 

reporting date, were loss-making on the basis of the difference 

between the considerations calculated according to percentage 

of completion and invoices for advance payment instalments, 

including any losses recognised.

Trade payables are the portion due beyond the financial year 

of payments for services rendered and supplies provided, mainly 

consisting of retention money.

Finally, payables to subsidiaries, associates and others for 

portions of share capital subscribed but not yet called in by their 

Corporate Bodies have been reclassified, as in previous periods, 

as a direct reduction in the respective carrying amounts of the 

equity investments.

20. TRADE PAYABLES TO SUPPLIERS 
Payables to suppliers amounted to € 317 million, showing an increase 

compared to the corresponding value posted in December 2015, 

equal to € 255 million.

Payables to suppliers showed an increase of approximately € 62 

million, mainly due to higher production volumes of recently-started 

projects in international markets such as Kuwait, Peru, Montenegro, 

the United States and the Middle East, in addition to the already 

described activities on the domestic market, specifically in relation to 

the Ti.Bre contract, directly developed by Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A. 

and the ENI Towers contract under the responsibility of Buildit S.p.A.
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Income Statement
21. REVENUES 
Revenues at 31 December 2016 amounted to a total of € 780,388 

thousand, showing a decrease of € 39,385 thousand compared 

to the previous year. This item is broken down as follows:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Revenues from sales and services  762,261  835,460  (73,199)

Change in inventories  (34,102)  (64,206)  30,104 

Other revenues  52,229  48,519  3,710 

Total  780,388  819,773  (39,385)

31/12/2016  31/12/2015

Description Italy Foreign 
countries Total Italy Foreign 

countries Total

Infrastructures  127.1  194.0 321.0  390.6 106.6 497.2

Construction  34.1 168.7 202.8 35.0 81.1 116.1

Real estate 19.5 137.2 156.7 5.7 99.3 104.9

Operations 46.3 0.9 47.1 44.5 0.9 45.4

Prefabricated structures 45.0 - 45.0 51.0 - 51.0

Other 7.8 - 7.8 7.0 - 7.0

Total  279.7  500.7  780.4  533.7  287.9  821.6 

percentage 35.8% 64.2% 100.0% 65.0% 35.0% 100.0%

The table below reports the breakdown of revenues by sector:
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The table below reports the breakdown of revenues by Country 

in terms of geographical area:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Italy  279,731  531,852  (252,121)

France and Montecarlo  187,496  136,001  51,495 

Romania  46,109  52,902  (6,793)

Middle East  91,805  25,038  66,767 

Switzerland  16,440  24,084  (7,644)

Russia  4,455  16,820  (12,365)

USA  79,893  15,571  64,322 

Algeria  9,973  6,936  3,037 

Perù  4,377  476  3,901 

Kuwait  26,592  8,549  18,043 

Moldavia  3,825  546  3,279 

Poland  7,828  484  7,344 

Montenegro  20,433  46  20,387 

Others  1,431  468  963 

Sub total foreign countries  500,657  287,921  212,736 

Total  780,388  819,773  (39,385)
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As already mentioned in the Report on Operations, the 

final production volumes recorded by the Group were not 

satisfactory and lower than expected due to the current phase 

of completion of some major infrastructural works, particularly 

on the domestic market, such as BREBEMI, the Milan Outer 

Bypass, Pedemontana Lombarda and the first “Milan-Brescia” 

functional lot of the “Milan-Verona” railway line, which have not 

yet been followed by the start of numerous portfolio projects 

whose significant delays compared to the expected start-up 

times are linked to essentially bureaucratic issues beyond the 

control of the Company.

Below is the breakdown of other revenues:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Charge-backs for seconded staff  5,665  8,613  (2,948)

Revenues for insurance compensation for damage  4,407  8,538  (4,131)

Contingent assets  7,333  11,442  (4,109)

Capital gains from disposals of assets  2,617  698  1,919 

Others  32,207  19,228  12,979 

Total  52,229  48,519  3,710 

Other items includes invoices of various kinds that are not 

directly related to ordinary operations, but in any case related to 

the Company’s production activity; among others: 

• invoices for charge-backs to subcontractors for construction 

site services and for costs incurred for activities carried out on a 

time and materials basis under their competence,

• invoices for charge-backs to tenants and/or managers for 

utilities concerning properties that are owned or held under 

concessions (typically university residences),

• invoices for charge-backs to minority investees for the refund 

of travelling expenses or surety charges,

• invoices for charge-backs between the ATI members aimed at 

rebalancing the costs of participation in the tenders according 

to the respective percentages;

• invoices to the online auction operator for success fees linked 

to the achievement of the profitability targets of the auctions.
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22. COSTS FOR SERVICES AND OTHER OPERATING 
EXPENSES 
Costs for services, equal to a total amount of € 471,158 thousand, 

showed a decrease of € 47,391 thousand compared to 2015, 

in line with the reduction in production volumes. This item is 

broken down as follows:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Costs charged back by consortia and consortium companies  84,232  149,207  (64,975)

Costs from foreign branches  120,768  43,203  77,565 

Third-party manufacturing costs  189,152  130,721  58,431 

Overheads for site and head office operation  77,006  195,418  (118,412)

Total  471,158  518,549  (47,391)

Costs charged back by consortia related to the execution 

of works in partnership with other companies in the sector, 

mainly in the domestic market, showed a decrease of € 64,975 

thousand attributable to the lower contribution from the Milan 

Outer Bypass, Pedemontana Lombarda and the first Milan-

Brescia functional lot of the” Milan-Verona” railway line projects, 

whose overall progress of work has almost been completed.

Costs from foreign branches, which showed an increase of € 

77,565 thousand compared to the previous year, is broken down 

below by geographical area:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Europe  33,164  33,263  (99)

America  4,069  302  3,767 

Africa  254  254  - 

Asia  83,281  9,384  73,897 

Total  120,768  43,203  77,565 
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The change in Third-party manufacturing costs, which 

showed an increase of € 58,431 thousand compared to the 

corresponding figure for the previous year, was due to the 

inclusion of Engeco Sam in the consolidation area, as well 

as to higher volumes related to the works now being carried 

out in the United States and in particular in New York through 

subsidiary Pizzarotti IBC LLC and in Montenegro through 

subsidiary Pizzarotti Montenegro doo.

Finally, Overheads for site and head office operation recorded 

a decrease of more than € 118,412 thousand compared to 

2015, for the different cost structure of the BREBEMI contract 

that, in the previous year, had recognised accrued final costs for 

additional expropriation based on the state of completion.

Head office overheads include costs charged by the Parent 

Company for administrative and management services, 

amounting to € 4,026 thousand; costs for services also include € 

5 thousand paid to non-consolidated subsidiaries and € 67,993 

thousand paid to associates.

Other operating expenses, amounting to € 25,482 thousand 

at 31 December 2016, include rentals and hires, amounting to € 

8,781 thousand (€ 7,075 thousand in December 2015).

23. PERSONNEL COSTS
In 2016 personnel costs amounted to € 88,647 thousand, 

showing an increase of € 11,716 thousand over the same period 

of the previous year. Below is the breakdown:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Wages and salaries  67,320  57,874  9,446 

Social security and welfare contributions  17,485  14,157  3,328 

Accrual to the provision for Staff Severance Pay (TFR)  2,208  2,129  79 

Others  1,634  2,771  (1,137)

Totale  88,647  76,931  11,716 

This increase partly reflects the increase in the average number of 

employees during 2016 as shown in the following table:

                                December 2016           December 2015

Description Parent Company            Total Parent Company Total

Executives  68             87  52                 60 

Office workers  579              842  494                   678 

Manual workers  279              430  309                  505 

Total  926             1,359  855                 1,243 
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At 31 December the Group employed an average number 

of 1,359 staff members, up by 9% compared to the previous 

year’s figure –, thus confirming the prevalence of staff 

seconded abroad as a result of substantial revenues generated 

in international markets, as well as of the presence of a larger 

number of international contracts that required greater use of 

staff for directly executed works. 

24. FINANCIAL INCOME AND COSTS AND FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
The value concerning financial income, financial charges and 

financial assets at fair value, totalled € (33,692) thousand and is 

broken down as follows:

Description

Financial income 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Income from equity investments  318  389  (71)

Interest income on securities  6  184  (178)

Interest income from banks  385  580  (195)

Financial income from parent company  273  287  (14)

Interest income on other receivables  7,127  5,453  1,674 

Foreign exchange gains  5,169  2,831  2,338 

Profit from trading of securities  243  4,206  (3,963)

Others  1,003  384  619 

Total financial income  14,524  14,314  210 

Financial costs 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Capital losses from disposal of equity investments  (78)  -  (78)

Interest expense on derivatives  (660)  (894)  234 

Interest expense on loans and mortgages  (18,181)  (15,560)  (2,621)

Charges on sureties  (7,474)  (5,882)  (1,592)

Financial costs to the parent company  (261)  (296)  35 

Losses from trading of securities  (720)  (136)  (584)

Foreign exchange losses  (4,323)  (7,161)  2,838 

Financial costs for leases  (207)  (207)  - 

Others  (3,376)  (4,753)  1,377 

Total financial costs  (35,280)  (34,889)  (391)

Fair value measurements 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Derivatives  485  69  416 

Securities  (13,421)  (569)  (12,852)

Total fair value measurements  (12,936)  (500)  (12,436)

Total  (33,692)  (21,075)  (12,617) 
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The net result of financial income and costs was essentially in line 

with the value posted in the same period of 2015; specifically:

Financial income

In December 2016, financial income amounted to € 14,524 

thousand and were mainly made up of: (i) € 2,935 thousand 

for interest on subordinated loans disbursed under the 

capitalisation commitments for SPVs BREBEMI, Tangenziale 

Esterna and Sat in support of the operational strategy in the 

business of concessions; (ii) € 3,610 thousand of interest for 

delayed payments paid by individual customers and (iii) € 

5,169 thousand of foreign exchange gains partially offset by 

corresponding losses in the overall currency management.

Financial costs

Total financial costs showed no significant fluctuations compared 

to the corresponding value posted in 2015; instead, there was an 

increase of: (i) € 2,621 thousand relating to interest expense on 

bank accounts and loans, equal to € 18,181 thousand - including 

an amount of € 1,506 thousand for the effects of amortised cost - 

(ii) € 1,592 thousand for surety charge s, concerning in particular 

the international sector.

Both increases were offset by a reduction in foreign exchange 

losses as already referred to in the previous paragraph.

Fair value measurement of financial assets

As regards fair value measurements, the element which mostly 

affected the result was the write-down of approximately € 13.4 

million, which was required to be made in the value of listed 

securities held in the portfolio due to the adverse performance 

of financial markets during 2016.

25. Taxes
The table below shows the breakdown of taxes accrued during 

the period:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

Direct IRES/IRAP taxes  5,182  11,190  (6,008)

Deferred tax assets/liabilities  (8,922)  (14,045)  5,123 

Total  (3,740)  (2,855)  (885)

The tax rate for the year, including the IRAP (Local Production 

Activity) tax effect, was 31.4%.

The tax rate also takes account of the different taxation regimes 

in force in the countries in which the company operates through 

separate legal entities.

The calculation of taxes for the year was carried out, as in the 

previous years, by applying the Foreign Tax Credit system in 

order to avoid double taxation on income generated abroad by 

permanent establishments.

Impresa Pizzarotti has joined the tax consolidation agreement, 

which is prepared by the parent company Mipien S.p.A. and 

which also includes Aliparma S.r.l., Parmaresidenziale S.r.l., Parma 

S. Teresa S.r.l. and Monte delle Vigne S.r.l..
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The tax rate of deferred tax assets and liabilities, including the 

IRAP tax effect, was 27.9%: compared to 2015 (31.4%), the value 

reflects the adjustment to IRES (Corporate Income) tax at 24% 

introduced by the 2016 Stability Law.

26. OPERATIONS HELD FOR SALE
On 17 May 2016, the Pizzarotti Group completed the transfer 

of 100% of the quotas held in Pizzarotti Energia S.r.l. to a major 

operator in the sector, thus obtaining a capital gain of € 7,220 

thousand.

Description Tax

Deferred tax liabilities 31/12/2016

Capital gain instalments  42 

Accelerated amortisation and goodwill  3,504 

Financial income  143 

Temporary differences: contracts and long-term charges  28,015 

Capital property at fair value  9,286 

Other minor items  21 

Total  41,011 

Deferred tax assets 31/12/2016

Amortisation of goodwill  1,107 

Provisions for risks  10,998 

AFS securities at fair value  227 

Interest costs  2,029 

Other minor items  1,276 

Total  15,637 

Below is the breakdown of deferred tax Assets and Liabilities, 

equal to € 15,637 thousand and € 41,011 thousand, respectively:
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Other information
Commitments and guarantees 
The accounts report the risks, commitments and guarantees 

given and received by the Company; below is the breakdown:

Description

Sureties and endorsements 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

in favour of associates  167,156  125,828  41,328 

in favour of the Parent company  8,142  8,142  - 

in favour of others  88,584  87,230  1,354 

collaterals  143,734  121,915  21,819 

Total sureties and endorsements  407,616  343,115  64,501 

Other commitments and risks 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 Change

guarantees given by banks and insurance companies to third parties  1,113,276  843,922  269,354 

Subtotal  1,113,276  843,922  269,354 

guarantees received from the Parent Company  86,984  86,984  - 

guarantees received from other third parties  142,384  160,114  (17,730)

guarantees received from suppliers  172,449  174,084  (1,635)

Subtotal  401,817  421,182  (19,365)

Total other commitments and risks  1,515,093  1,265,104  249,989 

Total  1,922,709  1,608,219  314,490 

Guarantees given by banks and insurance companies to third 

parties - As at the reporting date, some banks and insurance 

companies had issued guarantees, amounting to € 1,113 million 

(€ 844 million at 31 December  2015), on behalf of the company, 

against advances from customers and obligations under current 

contracts. Of these, guarantees amounting to € 229 million had 

been counter-guaranteed by the parent company and third 

parties.

The significant increase in this item compared to the 

corresponding figure for the previous year was attributable to 

guarantees granted for the execution of works in international 

markets, particularly in Kuwait and in the USA. 

Furthermore, at 31 December 2016 the Company had issued 

guarantees in investees’ interests amounting to € 264 million 

(€ 221 million at 31 December 2015) against contractual 

obligations and bank credit facilities and had received 

guarantees amounting to € 172 million.
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DISCLOSURES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The statements below, relating to the current financial year 

and to the previous one, report the disclosures on financial 

instruments and risk management required by IFRS 7 for the 

assessment of the significance of financial instruments to the 

Group’s financial position, profitability and cash flow.

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The table below shows the classes of financial instruments 

held by the Pizzarotti Group and the fair value measurements 

associated with each item:

Financial assets at 31 December 2016 
Values in Euros/000 Notes Financial assets 

at fair value
Financial assets 

held to maturity
Loans and 

receivables
Financial assets 

available for sale Book Value Fair Value

Financial assets 4 75,990 1,975 77,965 77,965

Other assets 10 21,095 21,095 21,095

Total non-current financial assets  -  -  97,085  1,975  99,060  99,060 

Trade receivables 7 277,479 277,479 277,479

Receivables from group companies 8 67,767 67,767 67,767

Financial assets 4 32,983 20,258 53,241 53,241

Cash and cash equivalents 11 315,091 315,091 315,091

Total current financial assets  32,983  -  680,595  -  713,578  713,578 

Total financial assets  32,983  -  777,680  1,975  812,638  812,638 

Financial assets at 31 December 2015  
Values in Euros/000     Notes Financial assets 

at fair value
Financial assets 

held to maturity
Loans and 

receivables
Financial assets 

available for sale Book Value Fair Value

Financial assets 4 111,321 248 111,569 111,569

Other assets 10 18,281 18,281 18,281

Total non-current financial assets  -  -  129,602  248  129,850  129,850 

Trade receivables 7 270,185 270,185 270,185

Receivables from group companies 8 79,980 79,980 79,980

Financial assets 4 35,831 24,107 59,938 59,938

Cash and cash equivalents 11 250,947 250,947 250,947

Total current financial assets  35,831  -  625,219  -  661,050  661,050 

Total financial assets  35,831  -  754,821  248  790,900  790,900 
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Financial liabilities at 31 December 2016 
values in Euros/000 Notes Financial liabilites at 

amortized cost Hedging derivatives Financial liabilities at Fair 
Value through P&L

Non-financial 
liabilites (*) Book Value Fair Value 

Risk Adj (*)

Bank and other loans 13 334,542 334,542 329,906

Other liabilities 19 49,366 14,923 64,289 49,366

Total non-current financial liabilities  383,908  -  -  14,923  398,831  379,272 

Bank overdraft and short-term portion on loans 13 210,163 210,163 210,163

Financial payables on derivatives 15 406 194 600 600

Trade payables to suppliers 20 317,114 317,114 317,114

Payables to the Group companies 18 60,140 60,140 60,140

Total current financial liabilities  587,417  406  194  -  588,017  588,017 

Total financial liabilities  971,325  406  194  14,923  986,848  967,289 

(*) The measurement at Fair Value does not contain the data relating to “non-financial liabilities”       

(*) The measurement at Fair Value does not contain the data relating to “non-financial liabilities”       

Financial liabilities at 31 December 2015 
values in Euros/000 Notes Financial liabilites at 

amortized cost Hedging derivatives Financial liabilities at Fair 
Value through P&L

Non-financial 
liabilites (*) Book Value Fair Value 

Risk Adj (*)

Bank and other loans 13 390,936 390,936 381,188

Other liabilities 19 58,498 28,783 87,281 58,498

Total non-current financial liabilities  449,434  -  -  28,783  478,217  439,686 

Bank overdraft and short-term portion on loans 13 203,161 203,161 203,161

Financial payables on derivatives 15 5,822 680 6,502 6,502

Trade payables to suppliers 20 255,120 255,120 255,120

Payables to the Group companies 18 76,947 76,947 76,947

Total current financial liabilities  535,228  5,822  680  -  541,730  541,730 

Total financial liabilities  984,662  5,822  680  28,783  1,019,947  981,416 
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The notes refer users to the sections in these explanatory notes, 

where the items concerned are described.

The carrying amounts of short-term instruments are 

approximately the same as fair values, which has been measured 

as follows:

• for listed instruments, at the official price in their relevant 

markets on the reporting dates;

• for derivatives, the price provided by the banking counterparty 

calculated considering market benchmarks on the reporting 

date and using measurement models that are widely used in the 

financial sector;  

• for loans received, a cash flow discounting model has been 

used, which takes the EURIBOR/Euro swap rate curve on the 

reporting date into account.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
With reference to financial instruments recognised in the 

Statement of Financial Position at fair value, IFRS 7 requires that 

these values be classified on the basis of a fair value hierarchy 

reflecting the significance of the inputs used in measuring fair 

values. The levels are as follows:

Level 1 - prices quoted on an active market for assets or liabilities 

being measured;

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices referred to in the 

preceding paragraph, which can be observed directly or 

indirectly on the market;

Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data.

Financial assets and liabilities of the Pizzarotti Group are classified 

as follows: 

Fair value hierarchy 
 

Financial assets at 31 December 2016 
Values in Euros/000 Fair Value Prices quoted in active 

markets (Level 1)

Observable
significant inputs

(Level 2)

Non-observable
significant inputs

(Level 3)

Financial assets 77,965 44 77,921

Other assets 21,095 21,095

Total non-current financial assets 99,060 44  - 99,016

Trade receivables 277,479 277,479

Receivables from group companies 67,767 67,767

Financial assets 53,241 21,544 55 31,642

Cash and cash equivalents 315,091 315,091

Total current financial assets 713,578 21,544 55 691,979

Total financial assets 812,638 21,588 55 790,995
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       Fair value hierarchy 
 

Financial liabilities at 31 December 2016 
Values in Euros/000 Fair Value Prices quoted in active markets 

(Level 1)

Observable
significant inputs

(Level 2)

Non-observable
significant inputs

(Level 3
Bank and other loans 329,906 329,906

Other liabilities 49,366 49,366

Total non-current financial liabilities 379,272  -  - 379,272

Bank overdraft and short-term portion on loans 210,163 210,163

Financial payables on derivatives 600 600  - 

Trade payables to suppliers 317,114 317,114

Payables to the Group companies 60,140 60,140

Total current financial liabilities 588,017  - 600 587,417

Total financial liabilities 967,289  - 600 966,689

In compliance with IFRS 13, the fair value of financial instruments 

is measured taking counterparty risk into account.

CREDIT QUALITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
Non-current financial assets available for sale - AFS show 

the following changes:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1 January  248  195 

Net changes (purchases/sales)  1,930 

Interest income

Fair Value Changes through AFS reserve  (204)  53 

Fair Value Changes through P&L

31 December  1,974  248 
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Below is the breakdown of the financial portfolio:

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Shares  44  248 

Profit sharing agreement  1,930 

Total financial assets available for sale  1,974  248 

The Book values at the reporting date corresponded to the 

maximum exposure to credit risk.

The negative fair value difference of AFS securities was 

recognised against an entry under equity to the amount of € 

(204) thousand.

Current financial assets held for trading show the following 

changes: 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1 January  35,831  32,968 

Net changes (purchases/sales)  10,573  3,432 

Fair Value Changes through P&L  (13,421)  (569)

31 December  32,983  35,831 

Description 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Stock funds  4,791  357 

Shares  21,169  20,620 

Bonds  50  50 

Management  6,973  14,804 

Total Held For Trading financial assets  32,983  35,831 

Below is the breakdown of the financial portfolio:

The Book values at the reporting date corresponded to the maximum exposure to credit risk.
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FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES
The Group has executed derivative contracts on interest rates 

in order to reduce changes in cash flows caused by interest 

rate trends. Although these instruments are all related to assets 

and liabilities recognised in the financial statements, on the 

basis of IAS 39 they are partially considered as held-for-trading 

instruments and, therefore, the fair value change is recognised 

through profit or loss.

The notional value of derivatives on interest rates that have been 

executed is € 104,469 thousand (€ 80,130 thousand in 2015).

Notional values 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

IRS for trading  17,802  47,419 

IRS for Fair Value Hedge  -  - 

IRS for Cash Flow Hedge  86,667  32,711 

Total  104,469  80,130 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Fair Value of outstanding 
derivatives Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

IRS for trading  -  194  -  680 

IRS for Fair Value Hedge  -  -  -  - 

IRS for Cash Flow Hedge  -  406  -  5,822 

Total  -  600  -  6,502 

The total fair value of the derivatives amounts to € (600) thousand 

(€ (6,502) thousand in 2015) – this change was almost fully 

recognised against an entry under equity, net of related tax effect, 

since it is related to contracts designated as hedges according to 

IAS39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Pizzarotti Group’s operations are exposed to financial risks, 

i.e. all the risks associated with the Group’s available capital 

funds, affected by credit management and by the liquidity 

and/or the volatility of market variables, such as interest and 

exchange rates. Such risks may be summarised as market risk, 

credit risk and liquidity risk.

These risks are constantly monitored by the Group’s management 

and are mitigated in some cases by recourse to natural hedges 

and derivatives on interest rates.

MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk that the value of assets, liabilities or future 

cash flows may fluctuate as a result of market price variations. 

These variations may affect exchange and interest rate and price 

markets.

INTEREST RATE RISK
The Group is exposed to the risk of changes in interest rates with 

regard to variable-rate loans received, derivatives on interest 

rates and bonds in its portfolio. Although the derivatives are 

designated as hedges from an operational point of view, owing 

to the stringent requirements of IAS 39, from an accounting 

point of view only a part of the derivatives outstanding at 31 

December 2016 have been accounted for according to the cash 

flow hedge method (see note 15); the remainder have been 

considered speculative for the purposes of their presentation in 

the accounts. The management constantly monitors the risk of 

changes in interest rates.

This risk is mitigated by the interest that accrues on short-term 

investments of the cash reserves in consortia and consortium 

companies incorporated under Italian law and in the foreign 

subsidiaries whose role is to support the Group’s operations.

A sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk has been conducted in 

accordance with IFRS 7.

The analysis, which focused on the Parent Company, in 

which nearly all the financial instruments used by the Group 

are concentrated, was carried out assuming a parallel and 

symmetrical shift of +/- 25 basis points on the interest rate 

curve for the entire financial years 2016 and 2015; the carrying 

amount of instruments accounted for at amortised cost was 

redetermined assuming a +/- 25 basis point increase/decrease 

(during the period) in the set interest rate.
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Unlisted instruments accounted for at fair value were measured 

using the EURIBOR/Euro swap curve published on the closing 

dates of the 2016 and 2015 financial statements, as increased/

decreased by 25 base points at each node on the curve. 

2016 +25 bps -25bps

Notional amount / Fair Value Interest Δ Fair Value Interest Δ Fair Value

Total 447,706  (555)  198 555 (198)

The fair value change attributable to derivatives is the fair value 

change, net of interest accrued in the year.

EXCHANGE RATE RISKS
Exchange rate risk is the risk of the fair value of, or the future 

cash flows arising from, a financial instrument fluctuating as a 

result of changes in currency rates. The Company’s policy is to 

try to obtain “natural” hedges of financial inflows and outflows 

without having recourse to derivatives to cover itself against this 

risk. Moreover, no material effects were observed either on the 

previous or on the latest reporting date.

2015 +25 bps -25bps

Notional amount / Fair Value Interest ∆ Fair Value Interest ∆ Fair Value

Total 451,177  (122)  627 122 (627)

PRICE RISKS
Price risk is the risk of the fair value of a listed financial instrument 

varying as a result of a change in its price in the relevant markets. 

The Group is therefore exposed to the price risk attached to 

financial investments in mutual funds and shares. A sensitivity 

analysis of price risk has been conducted as required by IFRS 7. 

The analysis carried out showed that if share prices had risen 

(fallen) by 10% as of 31 December 2016, the effect would have 

been the following:
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CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk of one of the parties to a financial instrument 

involving the other party in a financial loss by not fulfilling an 

obligation. This may come about as a result of strictly technical 

and commercial, administrative and legal or typically financial 

factors, i.e., synthetically, the counterparty’s credit standing.  

The Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly arises from the nature of 

its activities, which leads it to operate with public counterparties 

whose solvency and punctuality in payment are carefully 

monitored and are related to macroeconomic considerations. 

The management strategy of this type of risk is structured 

through a process from the evaluation phase of the offers to be 

submitted, through a careful analysis of the characteristics of the 

countries in which the works are expected to be carried out and 

of the customers that request the submission of an offer which, 

as already indicated, are usually public bodies or entities treated 

as such. It should also be noted that the analysis of the exposure 

to credit risk based on overdue amounts is not very significant, 

as the loans are to be measured together with the other working 

capital items, and in particular those items that represent a net 

exposure to the customers in relation to the aggregate of the 

works being executed.

     Impact through P&L Impact through Equity

Fair value +10% -10% +10%                 -10%

HFT shares                                 21,169  978  (978)  -              -

AFS shares  44  -  -  4                  (4)

Total                                  21,213  978  (978)  4                    (4)

LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk of an entity finding difficulty in fulfilling 

the obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group sets itself 

to maintain the liquidity necessary to manage its operations 

and repaying its debts when they fall due. The Group’s strategy 

is to pursue the financial autonomy of the contracts being 

performed, taking account of the configuration of consortia and 

SPVs, which can link the availability of financial resources to the 

implementation of the relevant projects. Cash management is 

centralised in the Parent Company and liquidity risk is monitored 

so that the measures necessary to reduce impacts can be taken. 

Below is reported a liquidity analysis.
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The table below reports the breakdown and maturity of financial 

liabilities stated according to future cash flows:

31 December 2016 Time Band Total cash flows

< 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years

Payables to banks  219,835  334,385  14,891  569,111 

Payables to suppliers  317,114  47,165  364,279 

Payables to Group companies  60,140  60,140 

Finance leases  1,187  7,569  8,756 

Non-derivative liabilities  598,276  389,119  14,891  1,002,286 

Derivatives held for trading  139  55  -  194 

Hedging derivatives  199  128  -  327 

Total  598,614  389,302  14,891  1,002,807 

31 December 2015 Time Band Total cash flows

< 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years

Payables to banks  220,880  351,511  61,120  633,510 

Payables to suppliers  255,120  56,000  311,120 

Payables to Group companies  76,947  76,947 

Finance leases  1,373  8,042  9,415 

Non-derivative liabilities  554,320  415,553  61,120  1,030,992 

Derivatives held for trading  481  196  -  677 

Hedging derivatives  1,110  3,207  1,602  5,919 

Total  555,911  418,956 62,722 1,037,588  

The financing cash flows analysed have been determined 

estimating future cash flows on the basis of the EURIBOR/Euro 

swap interest rate curve on the reporting date.

The analysis of financial liabilities originating from derivatives 

has only been conducted for derivatives with a negative fair 

value on the reporting date, considering non-discounted cash 

flows for derivatives hedging outstanding variable-rate loans 

and the fair value for derivatives maturing in less than a year, 

since the discounting effect on flows of less than a year is not 

considered material. 

The management considers that liquid assets, expected receipts 

from the collection of its receivables from customers and 

cash currently invested in forms of investment which can be 

liquidated in the short term put the Group in a position to meet 

its financial needs effectively.
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SECONDARY OFFICES
It is noted the presence of a secondary office of Impresa Pizzarotti 

& C. Spa in Paris as better detailed below:

France Avenue des Champs Elysées 66 Paris

FEES DUE TO DIRECTORS AND STATUTORY AUDITORS
Fees due to the Parent Company’s directors and auditors, 

including the performance of their functions in the other 

entities included in the consolidation, amount to € 1,100 and 

€ 117 thousand, respectively. No receivables for advances paid 

under this heading are recorded in the accounts. Fees due 

to the independent auditors for the 2016 financial year, for 

auditing Impresa Pizzarotti’s separate and consolidated financial 

statements, including fees for auditing the financial statements 

of its subsidiaries and associates for the 2016 financial year and 

fees for the limited audit of the half-year consolidated financial 

statements amount to € 240 thousand.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF MIPIEN 
S.P.A. AT 31 DECEMBER 2015
The highlights of Parent Company Mipien S.p.A., which are 

reported in the summary statement attached below, have been 

taken from the related financial statements for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2015. For the proper and complete 

understanding of the financial position of Mipien S.p.A. (the 

Parent Company) at 31 December 2015, as well as of the 

profitability and cash flows achieved by the company in the 

financial year ended on that date, reference should be made to 

the financial statements, which, together with the independent 

auditors’ report, are available in the form and manners prescribed 

by law.

Income Statement 2015 2014

Value of production  4,568,779  9,890,497 

Production costs  3,723,462  3,727,551 

Operating profit  845,317  6,162,946 

Financial income/costs  (120,189)  (5,488,183)

Value adjustments to financial assets  10,698,221  21,578,886 

Non-recurring income and costs  (1)  (1)

Profit before tax  11,423,348  22,253,648 

Income taxes for the year  (175.002)  713,743 

Net profit  11,248,346  22,967,391 

Balance Sheet 2015 2014

ASSETS   

Fixed assets  425,831,584  411,656,309 

Current assets  5,456,186  5,838,643 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses  60,063  76,865 

Total assets  431,347,833  417,571,817 

LIABILITIES   

Shareholders' equity  409,867,307  397,540,922 

Provisions for risks and charges and Staff severance pay (TFR)  3,349,883  3,591,142 

Payables  18,130,393  16,439,753 

Accrued expenses and deferred income  250  - 

Total liabilities  431,347,833  417,571,817 

For the Board of Directors 

The Chairman 

Cav. Lav. Paolo Pizzarotti

Values in Euros
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Mipien S.p.A.

Head office:
via Anna Maria Adorni, 1
43121 Parma - Italy
Tel. +39 0521 2021
Fax +39 0521 207461

Impresa Pizzarotti & C. S.p.A.

Head office:
via Anna Maria Adorni, 1
43121 Parma - Italy
Tel. +39 0521 2021
Fax +39 0521 207461
email: public@pizzarotti.it

Secondary offices

Avenue des Champs Elysées 66
Paris - France

Office in Rome:
Via Parigi, 11
00185 Rome - Italy
Tel. +39 064819371
Fax +39 064880362

Office in Rome:
Via Parigi, 11
00185 Rome - Italy
Tel. +39 064819371
Fax +39 064880362






